Isolation, Characterisation and Preservation of Bacteriophages for Use in Treatment of *Aeromonas hydrophila* Infection in Finfish



Farida Mazumder

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> School of Animal and Veterinary Sciences The University of Adelaide Australia

> > March 2022

Table of Contents

TABLE	OF CONTENTS	I
ABSTR	АСТ	VI
THESIS	S DECLARATION	X
ACKNO)WLEDGEMENTS	XI
LIST O	F FIGURES	XIII
LIST O	F TABLES	XVIII
ABBRE	VIATIONS	XX
СНАРТ	ER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1.	BACKGROUND	2
1.2.	AIMS OF THE CURRENT RESEARCH	
1.3.	STRUCTURE OF THE THESIS	4
СНАРТ	ER 2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	6
2.1.	CONTROL MEASURES FOR BACTERIAL INFECTIONS IN AQUACULTURE SET	FINGS8
2.1	.1. Antibiotics	8
2.1	2.2. Vaccines	9
2.1	.3. Probiotics	
2.2.	USE OF BACTERIOPHAGES AS AN ALTERNATIVE TO CONTROL BACTERIAL	diseases 11
2.3.	WHAT ARE BACTERIOPHAGES?	
2.3	8.1. Historical context	
2.3	8.2. Properties of bacteriophages	
2.3	8.3. Classification	
2.3	8.4. Lifecycle	
2.4.	BACTERIOPHAGE THERAPY	21
2.5.	ADVANTAGES OF BACTERIOPHAGE THERAPY TO CONTROL BACTERIAL PA	THOGENS
2.6.	EXPERIMENTAL DATA AVAILABLE ON PHAGE THERAPY	24
2.7.	BACTERIOPHAGE THERAPY APPLICATION IN AQUACULTURE	
2.8.	AEROMONAS HYDROPHILA INFECTION IN AQUACULTURE AND THEIR BACTH	ERIOPHAGES26
2.9.	Conclusion	

CHAPTER 3. GENERAL MATERIALS AND METHODS		
3.1. BAC	TERIAL INVESTIGATIONS	30
3.1.1.	Bacterial strains	30
3.1.2.	Bacterial culture media	30
3.2. BAC	TERIOPHAGES	30
3.2.1.	Isolation and enrichment of bacteriophages	30
3.2.2.	Bacteriophage plaque assay (spot test)	31
3.2.3.	Bacteriophage amplification in liquid medium	31
3.2.4.	Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)	32
3.3. Fish	I INFECTION TRIALS	32
3.3.1.	Bacterial stock solution preparation for fish infection trials	32
3.3.2. infection	Preparation of fish (sedation and recovery) for the preliminary pilot trial and actuchallenge trial	ıal 32
3.3.3.	Fish organ collection for bacterial counts	33
3.3.4.	Bacterial counts in kidneys and spleens	33
CHADTED 4	ISOLATION DADTIAL CHADACTEDIZATION AND IN VITRO I VTIC ADILIT	ГY
CHAFTER 4.	ISOLATION, FARTIAL CHARACTERIZATION AND IN VITRO LITTC ADILIT	
OF BACTER	OPHAGES TARGETING AEROMONAS HYDROPHILA	34
OF BACTER 4.1. INT	COPHAGES TARGETING AEROMONAS HYDROPHILA	34 35
OF BACTER 4.1. INTI 4.2. MA	COPHAGES TARGETING AEROMONAS HYDROPHILA	34 35 37
4.1. INTI 4.2. MA [*] 4.2.1.	SOLATION, FARTIAL CHARACTERIZATION AND IN VITRO LITTIC ABILIT COPHAGES TARGETING AEROMONAS HYDROPHILA RODUCTION FERIALS AND METHODS Bacterial strains and media used	34 35 37 <i>37</i>
4.1. INTI 4.2. MA 4.2.1. 4.2.2.	COPHAGES TARGETING AEROMONAS HYDROPHILA	34 35 37 <i>37</i> <i>37</i>
4.1. INTI 4.2. MA 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3.	SOLATION, FARTIAL CHARACTERIZATION AND IN VITRO LITTLE ABILITY COPHAGES TARGETING RODUCTION RODUCTION FERIALS AND METHODS Bacterial strains and media used Prophage detection by Mitomycin C (MMC) assay Sample collection	34 35 37 <i>37</i> <i>37</i> <i>38</i>
4.1. INTI 4.2. MA 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4.	SOLATION, FARTIAL CHARACTERIZATION AND IN VITRO LITTIC ABILITY COPHAGES TARGETING AEROMONAS HYDROPHILA RODUCTION RODUCTION FERIALS AND METHODS Bacterial strains and media used Prophage detection by Mitomycin C (MMC) assay Sample collection Bacteriophage isolation and enrichment 	 34 35 37 37 37 38 38
OF BACTER 4.1. INTI 4.2. MA ⁽¹⁾ 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5.	ISOLATION, FARTIAL CHARACTERIZATION AND IN VITRO LITTIC ABILITY COPHAGES TARGETING RODUCTION RODUCTION FERIALS Bacterial strains and media used Prophage detection by Mitomycin C (MMC) assay Sample collection Bacteriophage isolation and enrichment Bacteriophage confirmation by plaque assay and host range determination	34 35 37 37 37 38 38 38 38
 CHAPTER 4. OF BACTERI 4.1. INTI 4.2. MA² 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5. 4.2.6. 	SOLATION, FARTIAL CHARACTERIZATION AND IN VITRO LITIC ABILITY COPHAGES TARGETING RODUCTION RODUCTION FERIALS Bacterial strains and media used Prophage detection by Mitomycin C (MMC) assay Sample collection Bacteriophage isolation and enrichment Bacteriophage confirmation by plaque assay and host range determination Bacteriophage purification and final stock preparation	34 35 37 37 37 37 38 38 38 38 39
 CHAPTER 4. OF BACTERI 4.1. INTI 4.2. MA² 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5. 4.2.6. 4.2.7. 	ISOLATION, FARTIAL CHARACTERIZATION AND IN VITRO LITTIC ABILITY COPHAGES TARGETING AEROMONAS HYDROPHILA RODUCTION RODUCTION FERIALS AND METHODS Bacterial strains and media used Prophage detection by Mitomycin C (MMC) assay. Sample collection Bacteriophage isolation and enrichment. Bacteriophage confirmation by plaque assay and host range determination Bacteriophage purification and final stock preparation Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)	 34 35 37 37 37 37 38 38 39 39 40
 CHAPTER 4. OF BACTERI 4.1. INTI 4.2. MA[*] 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5. 4.2.6. 4.2.7. 4.2.8. 	ISOLATION, FARTIAL CHARACTERIZATION AND IN VITRO ETTIC ABILITY COPHAGES TARGETING AEROMONAS HYDROPHILA RODUCTION RODUCTION FERIALS AND METHODS Bacterial strains and media used Prophage detection by Mitomycin C (MMC) assay. Sample collection Bacteriophage isolation and enrichment. Bacteriophage confirmation by plaque assay and host range determination Bacteriophage purification and final stock preparation Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) Extraction of bacteriophage nucleic acid, enzymatic digestion and gel electrophoresis	34 35 37 37 37 38 38 38 39 39 40 40
 CHAPTER 4. OF BACTERI 4.1. INTI 4.2. MA² 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5. 4.2.6. 4.2.7. 4.2.8. 4.2.9. 	ISOLATION, FARTIAL CHARACTERIZATION AND IN VITRO LITIC ABILIT OPHAGES TARGETING AEROMONAS HYDROPHILA RODUCTION RODUCTION FERIALS AND METHODS Bacterial strains and media used Prophage detection by Mitomycin C (MMC) assay. Sample collection Bacteriophage isolation and enrichment. Bacteriophage confirmation by plaque assay and host range determination Bacteriophage purification and final stock preparation Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) Extraction of bacteriophage nucleic acid, enzymatic digestion and gel electrophoresis Determination of the lytic ability of the isolated bacteriophages	 34 35 37 37 37 38 38 39 39 40 40 40 41
 CHAPTER 4. OF BACTERI 4.1. INTI 4.2. MA 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5. 4.2.6. 4.2.7. 4.2.8. 4.2.9. 4.3. RES 	ISOLATION, FARTIAL CHARACTERIZATION AND IN VITRO LITIC ABILI OPHAGES TARGETING AEROMONAS HYDROPHILA RODUCTION RODUCTION FERIALS AND METHODS Bacterial strains and media used Prophage detection by Mitomycin C (MMC) assay. Sample collection Bacteriophage isolation and enrichment. Bacteriophage confirmation by plaque assay and host range determination Bacteriophage purification and final stock preparation Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) Extraction of bacteriophage nucleic acid, enzymatic digestion and gel electrophoresis Determination of the lytic ability of the isolated bacteriophages.	 34 35 37 37 37 38 38 39 39 40 40 40 41 41
 CHAPTER 4. OF BACTERI 4.1. INTI 4.2. MA 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5. 4.2.6. 4.2.7. 4.2.8. 4.2.9. 4.3. Res 4.3.1. 	ISOLATION, FARTIAL CHARACTERIZATION AND IN VITRO LITIC ABILI OPHAGES TARGETING AEROMONAS HYDROPHILA RODUCTION SODUCTION FERIALS AND METHODS Bacterial strains and media used Prophage detection by Mitomycin C (MMC) assay. Sample collection Bacteriophage isolation and enrichment. Bacteriophage confirmation by plaque assay and host range determination Bacteriophage purification and final stock preparation Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) Extraction of bacteriophage nucleic acid, enzymatic digestion and gel electrophoresis Determination of the lytic ability of the isolated bacteriophages Induction of prophage in bacterial strains	34 35 37 37 37 38 38 38 39 39 40 40 40 41 41 41

4.3	.3.	Identification of bacteriophages	
2	4.3.3.1.	Morphological observation	43
2	4.3.3.2.	Organisation of nucleic acids of the isolated bacteriophages	44
4.3	.4.	Lytic ability of the selected bacteriophages	
4.4.	Disc	CUSSION	
4.5.	Con	CLUSION	
CHAPT	ER 5	. WHOLE GENOME SEQUENCING OF FOUR SELECTED A	EROMONAS
HYDRO	PHIL	A BACTERIOPHAGES	
5.1.	Inte	RODUCTION	
5.2.	MAT	TERIALS AND METHODS	
5.2	.1.	Bacteriophages	
5.2	.2.	Bacteriophage propagation	
5.2	.3.	Bacteriophage genomic DNA extraction and purification	
5.2	.4.	Sequencing	55
5.2	.5.	Bioinformatics analyses	55
5.3.	RES	ULTS	56
5.3	.1.	Short read assembly using Illumina	
5.3	.2.	Ahp1-like bacteriophages	
5.3	.3.	Novel linear bacteriophages	59
5.3	.4.	BLAST results for each CDS of Ah10_Se_L and Ah10_S_L phages	60
4	5.3.4.1.	Pairwise comparison	60
4	5.3.4.2.	Consolidation of CDS BLAST comparisons	63
4	5.3.4.3.	Summary of the two linear phage CDS comparison	66
5.4.	Disc	CUSSION	66
5.5.	CON	CLUSION	
СНАРТ	'ER 6.	EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE AND FREEZE-DRYING ON THE	STORAGE
EFFICA	ACY O	F SELECTED AEROMONAS HYDROPHILA BACTERIOPHAGES	
6.1.	Inte	RODUCTION	74
6.2.	MAT	TERIALS AND METHODS	77
6.2	.1.	Bacteriophage stock solution	77
6.2	.2.	Sugar stock solution	77

6.2.3.	Preparation of bacteriophage-sugar solutions for storing as aqueous solution	
6.2.4.	Bacteriophage spot assay	78
6.2.5.	Preparation of Bacteriophage-sugar solutions for freeze-drying (lyophilisation)	
6.2.6.	Freeze drying (Lyophilisation)	79
6.2.7.	Monitoring of bacteriophage titre	
6.2.8.	Transmission Electron Microscopy	
6.2.9.	Statistical analysis	
6.3. Res	SULTS	81
6.3.1.	Effect of temperature on bacteriophage storage when stored in solution form	
6.3.1.1	. Effect of temperature without cryoprotectants (control) – bacteriophage in solution	
6.3.1.2	. Effect of temperature in the presence of sugars (cryoprotectants) – bacteriophage in solu	ıtion 84
6.3.2.	Effect of freeze-drying on bacteriophage storage	
6.4. Dis	CUSSION	91
6.5. Co	NCLUSION	96
CHAPTER 7	. INVESTIGATION OF BACTERIOPHAGE EFFICACY FOR THE TREA	ATMENT
CHAPTER 7 OF AEROMO	. INVESTIGATION OF BACTERIOPHAGE EFFICACY FOR THE TREA NAS HYDROPHILA INFECTION IN SILVER PERCH (<i>BIDYANUS BIDYAN</i>	ATMENT (US) 97
CHAPTER 7 OF <i>AEROMO</i> 7.1. INT	. INVESTIGATION OF BACTERIOPHAGE EFFICACY FOR THE TREAD NAS HYDROPHILA INFECTION IN SILVER PERCH (<i>BIDYANUS BIDYAN</i> RODUCTION	ATMENT (US)97 98
CHAPTER 7 OF AEROMO 7.1. INT 7.2. MA	. INVESTIGATION OF BACTERIOPHAGE EFFICACY FOR THE TREADNAS HYDROPHILA INFECTION IN SILVER PERCH (<i>BIDYANUS BIDYAN</i> RODUCTION	ATMENT (US)97 98 99
CHAPTER 7 OF AEROMO 7.1. INT 7.2. MA 7.2.1.	. INVESTIGATION OF BACTERIOPHAGE EFFICACY FOR THE TREA DNAS HYDROPHILA INFECTION IN SILVER PERCH (BIDYANUS BIDYAN RODUCTION TERIALS AND METHODS Fish infection trial	ATMENT (US)97 98 99 99
CHAPTER 7 OF AEROMO 7.1. INT 7.2. MA 7.2.1. 7.2.1.1	. INVESTIGATION OF BACTERIOPHAGE EFFICACY FOR THE TREAD . Test fish	ATMENT (US)97 98 99 99 99
CHAPTER 7 OF AEROMO 7.1. INT 7.2. MA 7.2.1. 7.2.1.1 7.2.1.2	. INVESTIGATION OF BACTERIOPHAGE EFFICACY FOR THE TREADNAS HYDROPHILA INFECTION IN SILVER PERCH (BIDYANUS BIDYAN RODUCTION	ATMENT (US)97 98 99 99 99 99 99
CHAPTER 7 OF AEROMO 7.1. INT 7.2. MA 7.2.1. 7.2.1.1 7.2.1.2 7.2.1.3	. INVESTIGATION OF BACTERIOPHAGE EFFICACY FOR THE TREADNAS HYDROPHILA INFECTION IN SILVER PERCH (BIDYANUS BIDYAN RODUCTION . RODUCTION METHODS . Fish infection trial . Controls for infection trials . Bacterial stock solution preparation	ATMENT (US)97 98 99 99 99 99 99 99
CHAPTER 7 OF AEROMO 7.1. INT 7.2. MA 7.2.1. 7.2.1.1 7.2.1.2 7.2.1.3 7.2.2.	INVESTIGATION OF BACTERIOPHAGE EFFICACY FOR THE TREA NAS HYDROPHILA INFECTION IN SILVER PERCH (BIDYANUS BIDYAN RODUCTION	ATMENT (US)97 98 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99
CHAPTER 7 OF AEROMO 7.1. INT 7.2. MA 7.2.1. 7.2.1.1 7.2.1.2 7.2.1.3 7.2.2. 7.2.2.1	 INVESTIGATION OF BACTERIOPHAGE EFFICACY FOR THE TREADNAS HYDROPHILA INFECTION IN SILVER PERCH (BIDYANUS BIDYAN) RODUCTION	ATMENT US)97 98 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 90 9100
CHAPTER 7 OF AEROMO 7.1. INT 7.2. MA 7.2.1. 7.2.1.1 7.2.1.2 7.2.1.3 7.2.2. 7.2.2.1 7.2.2.1	INVESTIGATION OF BACTERIOPHAGE EFFICACY FOR THE TREA DAS HYDROPHILA INFECTION IN SILVER PERCH (<i>BIDYANUS BIDYAN</i> RODUCTION TERIALS AND METHODS <i>Fish infection trial</i> Test fish Controls for infection trials Bacterial stock solution preparation <i>Preliminary pilot trial</i> Experimental system for the preliminary trial Protocol for determining dose to be used in actual challenge trial	ATMENT US)97 98 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 90 90 90 90 90 91 97
CHAPTER 7 OF AEROMO 7.1. INT 7.2. MA 7.2.1. 7.2.1.1 7.2.1.2 7.2.1.3 7.2.2. 7.2.2.1 7.2.2.1 7.2.2.2 7.2.2.3	INVESTIGATION OF BACTERIOPHAGE EFFICACY FOR THE TREA DNAS HYDROPHILA INFECTION IN SILVER PERCH (BIDYANUS BIDYAN RODUCTION	ATMENT US)97 98 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 90
CHAPTER 7 OF AEROMO 7.1. INT 7.2. MA 7.2.1.1 7.2.1.2 7.2.1.3 7.2.2.1 7.2.2.1 7.2.2.1 7.2.2.2 7.2.2.3 7.2.3	INVESTIGATION OF BACTERIOPHAGE EFFICACY FOR THE TREADAS HYDROPHILA INFECTION IN SILVER PERCH (BIDYANUS BIDYAN RODUCTION RODUCTION TERIALS AND METHODS <i>Fish infection trial</i> Test fish Controls for infection trials Bacterial stock solution preparation <i>Preliminary pilot trial</i> Protocol for determining dose to be used in actual challenge trial Fish organ collection and their bacterial counts Actual infection challenge trial	ATMENT (US)97 98 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 90 90 91
CHAPTER 7 OF AEROMO 7.1. INT 7.2. MA 7.2.1. 7.2.1.1 7.2.1.2 7.2.1.3 7.2.2. 7.2.2.1 7.2.2.1 7.2.2.2 7.2.2.3 7.2.3. 7.2.3.	INVESTIGATION OF BACTERIOPHAGE EFFICACY FOR THE TREA PNAS HYDROPHILA INFECTION IN SILVER PERCH (BIDYANUS BIDYAN RODUCTION RODUCTION TERIALS AND METHODS <i>Fish infection trial</i> Test fish Controls for infection trials Bacterial stock solution preparation <i>Preliminary pilot trial</i> Experimental system for the preliminary trial Fish organ collection and their bacterial counts Actual infection challenge trial Experimental system for the actual challenge trial	ATMENT (US)97 98 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 90 90 91
CHAPTER 7 OF AEROMO 7.1. INT 7.2. MA 7.2.1. 7.2.1.1 7.2.1.2 7.2.1.3 7.2.2. 7.2.2.1 7.2.2.2 7.2.2.3 7.2.3. 7.2.3. 7.2.3.1 7.2.3.2	INVESTIGATION OF BACTERIOPHAGE EFFICACY FOR THE TREADUCTION IN SILVER PERCH (BIDYANUS BIDYAN RODUCTION RODUCTION TERIALS AND METHODS Fish infection trial Test fish Controls for infection trials Bacterial stock solution preparation Preliminary pilot trial Protocol for determining dose to be used in actual challenge trial Fish organ collection and their bacterial counts Actual infection challenge trial Bacterial stock solution for actual challenge trial	ATMENT (US)97 98 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 90 90 9100 100 101 101 101 101
CHAPTER 7 OF AEROMO 7.1. INT 7.2. MA 7.2.1. 7.2.1.1 7.2.1.2 7.2.1.3 7.2.2. 7.2.2.1 7.2.2.2 7.2.2.3 7.2.3. 7.2.3.1 7.2.3.2 7.2.3.3	INVESTIGATION OF BACTERIOPHAGE EFFICACY FOR THE TREADINAL INFECTION IN SILVER PERCH (BIDYANUS BIDYAN) RODUCTION RODUCTION TERIALS AND METHODS Fish infection trial Test fish Controls for infection trials Bacterial stock solution preparation Preliminary pilot trial Fish organ collection and their bacterial counts Actual infection challenge trial Experimental system for the actual challenge trial Bacterial stock solution preparation	ATMENT (US)97 98 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 90 90 9100 9100 100 101 101 101 102 102

7.2.3.5.	Challenge trial	
7.2.3	.5.1. Infecting the fish with bacteria	
7.2.3	.5.2. Treatment with bacteriophage	
7.2.3.6.	Fish organ collection	
7.2.3	.6.1. Fish organ (kidney and spleen) collection for bacterial counts	
7.2.3	.6.2. Fish organ collection for histopathology	
7.2.3.7.	Fish blood collection	
7.2.4.	Lysozyme activity assay	
7.2.5.	Blood total protein levels	
7.2.6.	Statistical analysis	
7.2.7.	Ethics approval	
7.3. Res	Л.TS	
7.3.1.	Pilot study	
7.3.2.	Aeromonas sp. counts in kidney and spleen samples from the fish trial	
7.3.3.	Effect of bacteria and bacteriophages on fish lysozyme activity and total	l immunoglobulin
level	108	
7.3.4.	Fish histopathology	
7.3.4.1.	Gill	
7.3.4.2.	Digestive organs (liver, stomach, intestine, pancreas)	
7.3.4.3.	Eyeball	
7.3.4.4.	Brain	
7.3.4.5.	Skin	114
7.3.4.6.	Heart	
7.3.4.7.	Spleen and kidney	
7.4. Disc	USSION	
7.5. Con	CLUSION	
DISCUSSION	AND FUTURE DIRECTION	
APPENDIX		
REFERENCE	S	

Abstract

Problems caused by multidrug resistant bacteria and the limited number of control strategies, highlight the need for alternative control approaches against bacterial infections in the aquaculture sector. Bacteriophages (phages) demonstrated promising results as therapeutic tools, for the effective control of bacterial diseases in aquaculture, as well as in other production animals, companion animals and humans. In the present study, a range of investigations were undertaken to assess suitability of using lytic phages in controlling *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection in fish aquaculture. *A. hydrophila* is a fish pathogen and responsible for economic damages to the aquaculture industry. The main focus of this study was to develop and use a suitable model to test the efficacy of a phage therapy by addressing the concerns associated with the potential limitations of the therapy, such as required doses and delivery methods, characterisation at the genomic level, storage methods, and the phage therapy effect, potential immune response, and effects on fish in response to multiple phage treatments.

For the isolation of suitable *A. hydrophila* phages, wastewater was used as a source and ten different *A. hydrophila* strains were used as hosts to culture and screen potential phages with lytic ability. Before use in isolation, the bacterial strains were confirmed for any prophage induction using Mitomycin C assay. The water samples were filtered to retain only virus particles and enriched with *A. hydrophila* strains, filtered again to remove the bacterial hosts and then subjected to a series of plaque assays to screen potential lytic phages. The morphology of the isolated phages was characterised by Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM); genetic organisation was determined by enzymatic digestions of their nucleic acids and lytic ability was determined by growth pattern while growing with their respective host bacteria.

Four selected phages were subjected to whole genome sequencing using Illumina technologies with a view to determining their phylogeny, adaptive evolution, biodiversity, potential virulence and presence of any toxin genes.

The isolated and selected phages were then subjected to a study to determine their shelf lives under long-term storage conditions as a solution and in a freeze-dried form. To store as a solution, effect of different concentrations of sucrose and trehalose on the bacteriophage titre were compared with no sugar treatments under 4 °C, -20 °C and -80

°C for 56 weeks. To store in a lyophilised form, bacteriophage solutions were prepared with and without sugars (sucrose and trehalose) and then freeze dried and stored at 4 °C and room temperature for 44 weeks. For both trials, bacteriophage titre was monitored weekly for first 8 weeks and then monthly until the end of the experiments. Any changes in phage morphology after lyophilisation was determined by TEM.

The therapeutic potential of isolated phages was assessed in fish trials with a native Australian fish, silver perch (Bidyanus bidyanus) against one strain of A. hydrophila. A cocktail of four selected phages was prepared. Different phage doses were determined based on different phage titres to be tested on live fish models infected with A. hydrophila to understand the effects of environmental conditions and dose response of the therapeutic mode. The fish infection trial was conducted in two different phases - preliminary pilot trial and actual infection challenge trial. The preliminary pilot trial utilised 15 fish intraperitoneal injected with different quantities of A. hydrophila and a control group with phosphate buffered saline (PBS). After 6 days, the infected fish were euthanized and organs were collected for bacterial load determination. In the actual infection challenge trial, 144 fish were employed in three groups - control (no treatment, only PBS); A. hydrophila infected fish treated with different doses of bacteriophage cocktails; and uninfected fish treated with different doses of bacteriophage cocktails. At the end of the trial, bacterial load was counted from spleen and kidney and histopathology conducted on various fish organs. Fish blood was analysed for presence/absence of A. hydrophila and to determine lysozyme activity and IgG levels as indicators of immunological response to bacteria or the bacteriophage.

Screening for potential *A. hydrophila* phages with lytic ability resulted in the selection of four phages, coded as Ah6_G, Ah9_PP, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S. The isolated phages demonstrated complete lysis against their respective hosts and contained non-contractile tails with icosahedral heads belonging to *Siphoviridae* family (Ah6_G, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S), and icosahedral heads with short tail belonging to *Podoviridae* family (Ah9_PP). All the isolated phages contained dsDNA of > 10 Kb as their genetic materials. The whole genome analysis revealed that all these four phages are closely related to Ahp1 podovirus in terms of their genetic similarity.

The whole genome sequencing of the selected phages confirmed that all the isolates contained typical phage protein coding genes, ds DNA and smaller sizes of genomes of Ah6_G (circular), Ah10_Se (linear) and Ah10_S (linear) (47-61 Kb) than other *Siphoviridae* phages, However, size of the genome of Ah9_PP (41 Kb, circular) was similar to other *Podoviridae* phages. Two of the phages (Ah10_Se and Ah10_S) were identified as novel linear dsDNA phages with protein coding sequences having no similarities found in the existing phage databases.

The phage shelf life study revealed that solutions of the four isolated phages could be preserved without any sugar stabilizers for 56 weeks at both 4 °C and -80 °C with no significant reduction in their titre. However, -20 °C was found to be less effective temperature in maintaining shelf lives of phages Ah6_G and Ah9_PP. Interestingly, the shelf life of these two phages at -20 °C were significantly improved when sucrose or trehalose added, sucrose being the better protectant. Nevertheless, the sugars did not have any adverse effects on their shelf lives over the experimental periods. When lyophilised, a small reduction in titre of Ah10_Se and Ah10_S was observed which was improved by adding sucrose and trehalose. Exclusion of sugars during lyophilisation caused disruption of heads and tails of the viruses. In the presence of sucrose or trehalose, the lyophilised phages were more stable when stored at 4 °C compared to room temperature. Nontheless, the presence of sucrose or trehalose provided better stability to the lyophilised phages at either temperatures. However, storing the phages in solution was proved to be better than lyophilisation over the experimental periods.

In the fish trial to assess therapeutic potential of isolated phages, a phage cocktail was used to treat *A. hydrophila* infections in silver perch fish model. Unfortunately, when purchased the fish had already been exposed to *A. hydrophila*. A medium dose of phage cocktail significantly reduced the background *A. hydrophila* count in the kidney and spleen of the fish group that did not receive intraperitoneal bacterial inoculation. When the fish were deliberately infected with exogenous *A. hydrophila* on top of the existing colonisation with *Aeromonas* sp., there were no significant differences in bacterial counts when challenged with any of the doses of phages. No significant immune response was observed during the challenge trial. The comparative histopathology study of different tissues of the experimental fish revealed very few significant changes that are consistently associated with *A. hydrophila* infection in teleost fish.

This thesis provides new information on the properties of phages able to kill *A*. *hydrophila* and that have potential for use as treatments in controlling *A*. *hydrophila*

infection in fish. Further studies are required to conduct larger scale fish trials involving different species of fish to expand, validate and implement the knowledge and approaches generated in this study.

Thesis declaration

I certify that this work contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in my name in any university or other tertiary institution and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text. In addition, I certify that no part of this work will, in the future, be used in a submission in my name for any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution without the prior approval of the University of Adelaide and where applicable, any partner institution responsible for the joint-award of this degree.

I give consent to this copy of my thesis when deposited in the University Library, being made available for loan and photocopying, subject to the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968.

I also give permission for the digital version of my thesis to be made available on the web, via the University's digital research repository, the Library Search and also through web search engines, unless permission has been granted by the University to restrict access for a period of time.

I acknowledge the support I have received for my research through the provision of an Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship.

Farida Mazumder March 2022

Adelaide, Australia.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost I thank the Almighty for His showers of blessings throughout the immense journey of my PhD candidature.

I would like to express my deep and sincere gratitude to my principal supervisor Professor Mary Barton for her conscientious support through this long journey. Her mentoring power kept me motivated in all the ups and downs, especially when I came back to write the thesis after a long break which I took after birth of my daughter Sareena. Mary never stopped keep her faith on me and always encouraged me with her positive words to keep me going. She was my shelter and guardian with whom I could share my concerns in those times when I felt dull and demotivated. Without Professor Barton's support, I wouldn't have completed this thesis.

I am forever grateful to Dr James Munro for trusting me to start this challenging project before he left The University of Adelaide. Thanks James for giving me an opportunity to start my PhD and help design the entire project.

All the fish trials and pathology studies were supported by my co-supervisor Associate Professor Stephen Pyecroft. His positive vibes and laughter made it easy to do the laborious task of fish experiments.

My co-supervisor Associate Professor Farhid Hemmatzadeh trained me with virology and all the molecular biology methods. Despite of his hectic teaching and research involvement, he always welcomed me in his office with a wide smile and gave time as much I needed to learn bioinformatics. When I first started my experiments he allowed me to work in his lab space. His strong passion for research always inspired me.

I am thankful to Dr Timothy Barnes at the University of South Australia for supporting my storage studies and giving me the opportunity to carry out part of my experiments in his lab. He also helped me with his valuable critical comments while writing my storage chapter. I will always be grateful to Dr Susan Semple for letting me use her freeze drying machine and to Amanda Kenyon for supporting and training me to get used to the UNISA PC2 lab environment. I am grateful to Dr Lisa Elliott for providing me with bacterial strains. I was trained with basic microbiology techniques by Ken Lee from the veterinary diagnostic lab. This fun loving guy was always there for me whenever I needed. I would also like to mention Dr Rick Tearle for his outstanding support in the whole genome

analysis despite of his busy schedule. Thanks goes to Dr Michelle Hebart for assisting me with the statistical analysis for the fish trial data. I am grateful to Adelaide Microscopy for helping me take the images of my viruses.

My fish trial studies would not have been completed without hands on support from Ben Jones and Joe.

My PhD bestie Dr Liza Hasan – I want to write pages after pages about you....about your mentorship in my early PhD stages, your friendship since I first met you at Roseworthy... our never ending chats with coffee at feedlot...your yummy Malaysian Rendang! I will cherish our memories forever...

My PhD friends Sri, Dr Janet, Dr Yanhui, Entesar, Dr Jessica, Dr Vanessa, Dr Wei Yee, Dr Hue, Hanh, Hang, Indro, Dr Saad, Dr Sugi, Dr Vivek, Dr Abid, Dr Razi were a pivotal part of this journey and thanks guys for being around me in Tassie, feedlot, PC2 lab, fish lab and in the lunch parties.

I am privileged to have guidance and affection from my family friends Prof Stuart and Meredith who welcomed my family into their family and treated us with delicious foods every now and then! Prof Stuart has read the chapters critically which has helped to enrich the thesis and improve my writing skills.

Last but not the least, my dearest husband Rayhan (Dr Mahbub), whom I will be indebted to for my entire life. He was the only witness of all my PhD hurdles and my sleepless nights. He always would sit beside me and watch me like a hawk while I was writing my thesis even if it was 3 o'clock in the morning! He was the harshest critic of my writing which helped me to build up my knowledge of scientific writing.

My thesis writing took way longer than anticipated, as my sweet lovely baby girl Sareena arrived in this world and made my life even more complete and meaningful. Her every little footstep also inspired me to finish my thesis writing and keep going.

My Journey won't be worth it without them. I dedicate this thesis to my parents – my mother Nelly Mazumder and my father Dr Quamrul Hasan Mazumder who dreamt and kept faith on me that I will pursue my PhD one day. I would like to thank my one and only sister Ainura Mazumder and my brother-in-law Rashidul Hasan for being there always. I thank God for all of your existence without whom I won't be who I am today.

List of Figures

Figure 2-1. A typical bacteriophage. Redrawn from Hanlon (2007), Doss et al. (2017). .14

Figure 4-2. Transmission electron microscope view of four bacteriophages isolated and used in this study. [a] – Ah6_G; [b] – Ah9_PP; [c] – Ah10_Se and [d] – Ah10_S.44

Figure 4-3. Gel image of the nucleic acids of the four isolated bacteriophages after digestion with three different enzymes (S1 Nuclease, RNase A and BamHI). [A] -Enzyme treated nucleic acids from bacteriophages Ah6_G and Ah9_PP. Lane 1 and 13 hyper ladder; lane 2 and 8 - 1 kb molecular marker; lane 7 - 100 bp molecular marker; lane 3 – untreated Ah6_G phage nucleic acid; lane 4 – Ah6_G nucleic acid digested with S1 Nuclease; lane 5 - Ah6_G nucleic acid digested with RNase A; lane 6 - Ah6_G nucleic acid digested with BamHI; lane 9 – untreated Ah9_PP phage nucleic acid; lane 10 - Ah9_PP nucleic acid digested with S1 Nuclease; lane 11 - Ah9_PP nucleic acid digested with RNase A; lane 12 - Ah9_PP nucleic acid digested with BamHI. [B] -Enzyme treated nucleic acids from bacteriophages Ah10_Se and Ah10_S. Lane 1 and 13 - hyper ladder; lane 2 and 8 – 1 kb molecular marker; lane 7 - 100 bp molecular marker; lane 3 – untreated Ah10_Se phage nucleic acid; lane 4 – Ah10_Se nucleic acid digested with S1 Nuclease; lane 5 - Ah10SeG nucleic acid digested with RNase A; lane 6 -Ah10_Se nucleic acid digested with BamHI; lane 9 - untreated Ah10_S phage nucleic acid; lane 10 - Ah10_S nucleic acid digested with S1 Nuclease; lane 11 - Ah10_S nucleic acid digested with RNase A; lane 12 - Ah10_S nucleic acid digested with BamHI......45

Figure 4-4. Bacterial growth curves of cultures infected with bacteriophages compared with the control group. [a] – Ah6 bacterial strain infected with Ah6_G; [b] – Ah9

Figure 5-3. LASTZ alignments of phage Ah10_Se_L vs Ah10_S_L (* marks end of sequences)......60

Figure 6-3. Spot assay of four bacteriophages (Ah6_G, Ah9_PP, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S).

Figure 6-5. Stability of Ah6_G and Ah9_PP bacteriophage solutions at -20 °C with cryoprotectants; [a] – Ah6_G phage titre at -20 °C; [b] – Ah9_PP phage titre at -20 °C. Error bars represent standard error of mean. Some error bars are too small to be visible. 86

 Figure 7-3. Histopathological analyses of gill tissue of silver perch; [a] – gill section showing monogenean infestation (bar – 200 μ m); [b] – gill tissue showing bridging and laminar fusion with monogenean infestation (bar – 200 μ m); [c] – gill section showing Chlamydophila (blue bodies) infection (bar – 50 μ m); [d] – gill section showing bridging and spongiosis of the secondary lamellae (bar – 10 μ m); [e] – gill section showing

epithelial hyperplasia with mild secondary laminar fusion (bar $-100 \ \mu m$); [f] - presence of flukes in the gill (bar $-20 \ \mu m$)......110

List of Tables

Table 2-1. Classification of bacteriophages (Ackermann, 2003, Hanlon, 2007,
Adriaenssens et al., 2020, Mäntynen et al., 2020, Thanh et al., 2020)16
Table 4-1. Description of the samples collected from different places for bacteriophage isolation
Table 4-2. Bacteriophage host specificity against ten experimental A. hydrophila host strains. ($$) indicates positive result (clear plaque formation)
Table 4-3. Titre of the selected bacteriophages and their plaque diameter
Table 4-4. Morphological description of the four bacteriophages as well as the families where they belong to depending on the morphology and their genomic material
Table 5-1. Summary details of assembled bacteriophages 56
Table 5-2. Contigs of the four Ahp1-like phages and their length and coverage
Table 5-3. CDS functions 60
Table 5-4. BLAST results for each CDS* 61
Table 5-5. Top BLAST results for each CDS 62
Table 5-6. BLAST comparisons between the CDSs of Ah10_S_L and Ah10_Se_L64
Table 5-7. Comparison of the 3 matching CDSs of the two linear phages showing less similarity
Table 5-8. CDSs details of the matching pairs (CDS ID 24/75 and 32/76)65
Table 5-9. Analysis of CDS 74 in Ah10_Se_L65
Table 5-10. Analysis of CDS 77 in Ah10_Se_L65
Table 5-11. Aeromonas hydrophila bacteriophages sequenced to date
Table 6-1. Ah6_G and Ah9_PP phage titre trends after 56 weeks when stored at -20 °C 85

ter freeze-
s91
101
h from the
ii iioiii uie
s from the
131

Abbreviations

%	percent
g	relative centrifugal force
°C	degree Celsius
μg	microgram
μl	microliter
μm	micrometre
aa	amino acid
ABR	antibiotic resistance
AH	Aeromonas hydrophila
AMB	Aeromonas medium base
ARGs	antibiotic resistance genes
Bac	bacteria
BLAST	Basic Local Alignment Search Tool
bp	base pair
CDS	coding region
cfu	colony forming unit
cm	centimetre
DEPC	diethyl pyrocarbonate
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
ds	double stranded
EDTA	ethylene diamine tetra acetic acid
FD	freeze dry
G	Glenelg
g	gram
h	hour
H&E	haematoxylin and eosin
HGT	horizontal gene transfer
HP	high dose phage
Ig	immunoglobulin
IP	intraperitoneal
kb	kilo base

kg	kilogram
kV	kilo volt
1	litre
LP	low dose phage
Μ	molar
MAS	motile Aeromonas septicaemia
mbar	millibar
MDR	multidrug resistant
mg	milligram
min	minute
ml	millilitre
mm	millimetre
mM	millimolar
MMC	melanomacrophage centres
MMC	mitomycin C
MP	medium dose phage
NCBI	National Centre for Biotechnology Information
ng	nanogram
nm	nanometre
O/F test	oxidative/fermentation glucose test
OD	optical density
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PEG	polyethylene glycol
Per os	by way of the mouth/oral
pfu	plaque forming unit
PP	primary sedimentation tank
q	query
RNA	ribonucleic acid
rpm	rotation per minute
RT	room temperature
S	screening tank
S	subject
Se	sewage

SE	standard error
sp.	species
SS	single stranded
TBE	tris borate EDTA
TEM	transmission electron microscopy
TMV	tobacco mosaic virus
TSA	tryptic soy agar
TSB	tryptic soy broth
V	volt

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1. Background

Aquaculture is the fastest growing industry within the agriculture sector. With the increasing demand for commercial aquaculture production, which is an important source of nutrition and livelihood of millions of people around the developed and developing countries, there is a need to develop sustainable technology for the control of infectious diseases in the industry. Bacterial infections are considered a significant constraint to aquaculture production as they represent one of the major causes of heavy financial loss and lack of sustainability in this sector. The common method of controlling bacterial infections is the use of antimicrobial therapy. However, the widespread use of feeds supplemented with antibiotics in the aquaculture industry has resulted in the emergence of drug-resistant bacterial strains. The emergence of multidrug resistant bacterial strains limit the use of antibiotics as well as exerting a deleterious effect on the entire ecosystem. Due to international and local legislation in controlling the use of antibiotics and their residual presence in human food, antibiotics are becoming less popular with the producers. Vaccination has been found to be effective in controlling several bacterial diseases. However, there are some limiting factors such as, bacterial heterogeneity and the culture conditions of aquatic organisms, which hinders the widespread use of vaccines as a bacterial control strategy. Therefore, development of alternative, sustainable and ecofriendly infection control strategies is necessary to minimize the mortality in aquaculture, as well as to reduce the emergence of drug-resistant pathogens. The use of bacteriophages to control bacterial infections has been recognised as one of the alternative control approaches.

Based on the published examples of therapeutic and prophylactic applications of bacteriophages, phage therapy seems very promising in the aquaculture sector. However, research is still needed to develop sustainable therapeutic models for the aquaculture industries. It has been reported that bacteriophages can survive for a long period of time in both fresh and marine environments (12 to 91 days) with a moderate impact on the overall bacterial community, thus they have the potential to be used as to control infectious diseases. The majority of phage-based research has focused on *in vitro* phage use to reduce bacterial concentration. As some bacteriophages already gained regulatory acceptance, phage therapy has already become a reality but an effective therapeutic model for aquaculture is yet to be developed. Therefore, more studies need to be undertaken to

fully understand phage-bacterium interactions; and fully prove advantages of phage therapy as a biocontrol agent against bacterial infection in aquaculture.

The present study was therefore undertaken to develop a sustainable bacteriophage therapeutic or prophylactic model to test phage therapy efficacy with a view to controlling bacterial infection in aquaculture, which will enable a better understanding of phage therapy to be used within the aquaculture sector.

1.2. Aims of the current research

Finfish production is one of the major contributors in the aquaculture sector. There is a wealth of information available in the literature on the use of bacteriophages to control bacterial infection in finfish aquaculture. However, research is still underway to know how phages interact with bacteria in the aquatic systems as there are some constraints associated with the use of bacteriophages in organisms living in aquatic systems. Therefore, the aim of the present study was to develop a therapeutic tool using bacteriophages specific for *Aeromonas hydrophila*, a fish pathogen. Silver perch (*Bidyanus bidyanus*), a native Australian finfish was used in the present research as a model animal. The research presented in this thesis has four important aspects –

a) Isolation, identification and characterisation of A. hydrophila bacteriophages.

- Isolation and purification of *A. hydrophila* bacteriophages from different wastewater samples;
- Assessment of their lytic ability against specific A. hydrophila strains;
- Characterisation of phages based on their nucleic acid types (restriction enzyme digestion) and morphological features (TEM).

b) Whole genome sequencing of four experimental bacteriophages.

- Analysis of four isolated bacteriophage samples at a genomic level;
- Assembly and comparison of each of the four phage genomes by *de novo* assembly;
- Comparison of the sequences obtained with all known phage genomes present in the database.
- c) Bacteriophage storage method development.

- Evaluation of the effect of different temperatures (4 °C, -20 °C and -80 °C) on phage storage in the presence or absence of cryoprotectants (sucrose and trehalose) over time;
- Assessment of the impact of lyophilisation (freeze drying) on phages in the presence or absence of cryoprotectants (sucrose and trehalose) kept in two different storage conditions (4 °C and room temperature, RT: 25-27 °C) over time;
- Observation of the changes in phage morphology resulting from lyophilisation.
- d) Bacteriophage efficacy study on silver perch fish model against *A. hydrophila* infection.
 - Evaluation of the potential of an experimental bacteriophage cocktail in controlling *A. hydrophila* counts in kidney and spleen samples of the fish;
 - Comparison of the responses of silver perch to different doses of the phage cocktail;
 - Estimation of the effect of bacteria and bacteriophage on fish (silver perch) lysozyme activity and total immunoglobulin level;
 - Assessment of the histopathological changes of the tissues of infected and treated fish.

1.3. Structure of the thesis

The thesis is composed of eight chapters including introduction, review of literature, general materials and methods, experimental chapters presenting results and discussions, conclusion and future direction.

Chapter 2 presents a critical review of the existing research on bacteriophages, their structure and classification, different modes of lifecycle and application on different farmed animals including aquatic species. This chapter also critically analyses the need for establishing an alternative therapeutic tool using bacteriophages to control bacterial communities in the aquaculture sector. The research gaps are addressed and rationale of the research stated.

Chapter 3 describes general materials and methods used and applied to carry out the experiments. This section is sub divided into three sections to outline the methods used

for – a) bacterial culture investigations; b) bacteriophage isolation and purification and c) fish trial based general investigations.

Chapter 4 reports the preliminary studies conducted for the selection, isolation and identification of appropriate bacteriophages specific for different strains of *A. hydrophila* Classification of four bacteriophages based on their morphology (as observed under TEM) and restriction enzyme digestion patterns was also described here. This chapter further illustrates the *in vitro* lytic ability of the four bacteriophages against their respective host strains.

Chapter 5 describes the whole genome sequencing of the four bacteriophage samples. A comparative analysis of the whole genome of the phages was performed against other known and published phage genomes present in the database.

Chapter 6 describes the experiments conducted to monitor bacteriophage shelf life under different temperature conditions. Two sugar cryoprotectants (sucrose and trehalose) were used and bacteriophage titres were determined after storage at different temperatures over a one year period of time. Part of this chapter also describes bacteriophage lyophilisation and compares their titres before and after lyophilisation and storage at two different temperatures (4 °C and room temperature, RT: 25-27 °C).

Chapter 7 reports the results of an *in vivo* application of four phages in a live fish model. The efficacy of the phage cocktail on the test fish was determined. The appropriate bacterial and bacteriophage dose to be applied were determined through a pilot study. Then the actual fish trial was conducted following the pre-determined doses. The effect of bacteria and bacteriophage on fish lysozyme activity and total immunoglobulin level were also determined. Histopathology was used to evaluate damage to tissues resulting from the infection and bacteriophage application and the results discussed.

Chapter 8 concludes the thesis and summarises the major findings with suggestions for future research in the field.

Chapter 2. Review of literature

2.1. Introduction

Aquaculture is the cultivation of aquatic plants and animals in fresh, brackish or marine environments (Almeida et al., 2009, Bostock et al., 2010). The yield from wild fisheries has plateaued, with production from the wild fisheries appearing to have reached their maximum (Akinbowale et al., 2006). Due to this, the demand for commercial aquaculture has become of prime importance to supply the growing demand for aquatic food products (King, 2001). To secure sustainable development in the food production sector, aquaculture production has to grow to meet the increasing demand for seafood supplies (Bostock et al., 2010, Ozbay et al., 2014). Approximately 43% of the world's seafood supplies comes from the aquaculture industries, which is considered to be one of the world's fastest growing industries within the agricultural sector (Verschuere et al., 2000, Cabello, 2006, Akinbowale et al., 2006, Almeida et al., 2009, Bostock et al., 2010, Silva et al., 2014a). According to the Food and agriculture Organization (FAO) (2018), the average growth rate of the world's aquaculture production was approximately 5.2% in 2011-2016. To meet the growing demand for protein for human food consumption, a total of around 598 different aquatic species items are being cultured worldwide as of 2016 (FAO, 2018). Furthermore, the income and livelihood of approximately 59.6 million people living in developed or developing countries depends on aquaculture. As of 2016, approximately 85% of world's total population involved in aquaculture and fisheries sectors were from Asia (FAO, 2018).

One of the major impeding factors for modern aquaculture farming operations has been the increasing frequency of outbreaks of infectious diseases. This causes substantial loss in the economy as well adversely impacting on aquatic animal health in many different countries (FAO, 2015, Kiron, 2012), with losses estimated globally to be several billion US dollars per annum (Defoirdt et al., 2011). Regardless of worldwide development of the aquaculture sector, diseases caused by microbial pathogens, have led to major financial losses for the aquaculture industries (Almeida et al., 2009, Oliveira et al., 2012).

Many of the infections in farmed fish and shellfish are similar to those that occur in humans and terrestrial animals (Nakai and Park, 2002, Oliveira et al., 2012). Farmed fish tend to have higher incidences of infection compared to the equivalent wild conspecifics because of their high stocking density and lack of adequate hygienic barriers. This contributes to deterioration of their immune system and thus increases the rate of disease

transmission (Almeida et al., 2009, Cabello, 2006, Defoirdt et al., 2011, Milla et al., 2010). Diseases in aquaculture develop because of interactions between pathogen, host and environment (Snieszko, 1974, Toranzo et al., 2005, Austin and Austin, 2007).

The most common pathogens responsible for water-borne diseases in aquaculture are bacteria, viruses, protists, helminths, oomycetes and sometimes fungi (Anderson, 1992, Shao, 2001, Almeida et al., 2009, Oliveira et al., 2012). Of these organisms, diseases of bacterial origin including multidrug resistant ones are the most significant (Meyer, 1991, Oliveira et al., 2012). Almost 34% of all infections are caused by bacteria and more than 150 species of bacteria have already been recognised to infect both wild and farmed fishery (Richards, 2014, Lafferty et al., 2015). These bacteria may be of indigenous or non-indigenous origin and some are multidrug resistant (Almeida et al., 2009, Oliveira et al., 2012, Mateus et al., 2014). The most common bacterial diseases includes vibriosis, furunculosis, enteric redmouth disease, columnaris disease, bacterial gill disease syndrome, bacterial kidney disease, Edwardsiellosis, bacillary necrosis. Clinical manifestations include death, septicaemia, cutaneous lesions and, destruction of the shell (Meyer, 1991). Major bacterial pathogens responsible for these diseases are *Vibrio* spp., Streptococcus spp., Aeromonas spp., Photobacterium spp., Salmonella spp., and Escherichia coli (Almeida et al., 2009). Some virulent bacteria such as some Vibrio spp. may cause up to 100% mortality in infected animals (Silva et al., 2014b). Bacterial diseases in aquatic environment are relatively common as it is easy for the pathogens to infect contact animals particularly under adverse environmental conditions such as overfeeding, high temperature, infrequent water exchange and irregular removal of sick and dead fish from farming sites (Almeida et al., 2009, Mateus et al., 2014).

2.2. Control measures for bacterial infections in aquaculture settings

2.2.1. Antibiotics

Since their discovery in 1940s, antibiotics have played a significant role in controlling bacterial infections in the aquaculture industry (Defoirdt et al., 2011, Oliveira et al., 2012). The "golden age" of antibiotics lasted for more than four decades until concerns related to resistance started to arise (Altamirano and Barr, 2019, Hassan et al., 2021). Antibiotics are normally used to control disease outbreaks and infections as a supplement in the food used in both intensive and semi-intensive environments (Mateus et al., 2014).

There are a number of reasons for the widespread use of antibiotics in aquaculture industry including the following:

- As a therapeutic tool or medication for sick and diseased animals
- Prophylactic use during the time of infection risk
- For the improvement of feed utilization
- Production enhancement and growth promotion (Mathew et al., 2007, Pratt et al., 2003)

However, concerns have arisen over the use of antimicrobial drugs in aquaculture because of the development of the antibiotic resistant strains, resulting in failure of the antibiotic treatment (Verschuere et al., 2000, Oliveira et al., 2012, Martínez-Díaz and Hipólito-Morales, 2013, Mateus et al., 2014, Chen et al., 2020). It is already well proven that approximately 75% of antibiotic drugs applied to animal body cannot be digested properly, thus remaining within the animal body and then passes through the environment (Chee-Sanford et al., 2009, Jassim and Limoges, 2014). Resistance to antibiotics can be transferred during bacterial replication and by horizontal gene transfer from resistant to sensitive bacteria which may then spread in the aquaculture system and possibly ultimately to humans (Verschuere et al., 2000).

The worldwide risk of antibiotic resistance is now very common because of the increasing rate of international trade of food products. As a result, there is an increased opportunity for antibiotic resistant bacteria to emerge in any environment around the world, hence antibiotic use in aquaculture also affects other sectors (Ishida et al., 2010). Moreover, rules and controls on the use of the amount of antibiotics vary widely in different countries and may lead to barriers in trade (Alderman and Hastings, 1998, Defoirdt et al., 2011). As a result of this greater awareness of antibiotic resistant bacteria and antibiotic residues, industry sectors are becoming more aware of the regulation of antibiotic use and the pressure to reduce antibiotic use (Defoirdt et al., 2011).

2.2.2. Vaccines

The use of vaccines to control diseases in aquaculture began in the 1970s (Shao, 2001). Some DNA vaccines have been found to show protective effect against some aquaculture bacterial pathogens such as *Vibrio* spp., *Streptococcus iniae*, *Edwardsiella tarda*, *Flavobacterium psychrophilum*, *Cryptocaryon irritans*, *Cryptobia salmocitica* and *Ichthyophthrius multifiliis* (Hølvold et al., 2014). Vaccination has been found to be an effective and successful preventive measure against some bacterial infections but their availability is still very limited (Hølvold et al., 2014, Adams, 2019, Matsuura et al., 2019, Mohd-Aris et al., 2019, Mzula et al., 2019, Sommerset et al., 2005). Moreover, the costs associated with vaccine production and undesirable side-effects hinders the use of vaccine in aquaculture sector (Cipriano and Austin, 2006). Emergence of different types of infectious diseases over a variety of aquaculture organisms makes the use of vaccine more difficult (Nakai and Park, 2002). Moreover, some bacteria such as *Aeromonas hydrophila* exhibits biochemical and serological heterogeneity which hinders the production of a vaccine for the control of this pathogen (Le et al., 2018). Besides, the effectiveness of vaccination is influenced by factors like water temperature, the size of the fish, and the maintenance of sterility during handling for anaesthesia or intraperitoneal injection (Håstein et al., 2005). Vaccinated fish when exposed to disease were found to have a lower mortality than unvaccinated ones, but the exact mode of action of their immune system is not clear yet (Almeida et al., 2009).

2.2.3. Probiotics

The use of probiotics to combat bacterial diseases has been known since 1974 (Parker, 1974). Probiotics are a microbial means of improving the balance of the microbiota of the host organism (Gatesoupe, 1999, Wang et al., 2008, Tan et al., 2016). Intestinal tract, gills, skin mucus and the environment where the animal resides are all potential sources of probiotics in the aquaculture environment (Hai, 2015). Probiotics not only work to improve growth and health of animals, but also they were reported to improve reproduction and stress tolerance or act as an immunostimulant (Martínez Cruz et al., 2012). Different studies have already demonstrated the successful use of probiotics in controlling bacterial infections. However, despite the beneficiary outcomes, probiotics may cause difficulties if they are used excessively in the aquaculture sector due to the costs associated with their storage and application (Wang et al., 2008). In addition, the route of probiotics administration and adequate guidelines for proper dosage of probiotics can lead to increased microbial virulence through horizontal gene transfer or they can increase pathogenicity to human and other hosts (Pérez-Sánchez et al., 2014).

2.3. Use of bacteriophages as an alternative to control bacterial diseases

Although management practices as control measures have improved in recent times, bacterial infections still cause major losses in hatcheries and grow-out facilities, leading to between 70 to 90% mortality. Hence the use of bacteriophages as an alternative to chemotherapeutics can offer a more effective and sustainable technology to meet this need (Fernández et al., 2019, Sieiro et al., 2020, Kowalska et al., 2020, Ramos-Vivas et al., 2021).

2.4. What are bacteriophages?

The name bacteriophage came from the fusion of two words- "bacteria" and "phagein" (Greek origin) which implies that phages are capable of invading or eating bacteria (Sulakvelidze et al., 2001). Bacteriophages (or phages) are obligate bacterial parasites and have the ability to invade, multiply within the host bacteria and destroy them specifically by disrupting the cell wall, thus killing the bacteria within a few minutes (Hanlon, 2007, Huff et al., 2010, Wittebole et al., 2014, Rao and Lalitha, 2015, Penadés et al., 2015). Because of their bacteriolytic nature with no side effects to the host animal, bacteriophages have gained a great deal of interest to replace the use of antibiotics (Jun et al., 2014). Recently more than 6000 bacteriophages have been discovered and described from natural environments, among them 6196 are bacterial and 88 are archeal viruses (Wittebole et al., 2012). Their bacteriolytic capacity makes them unique and a natural means of suppressing bacterial infections and also shaping the natural bacterial communities (Huff et al., 2010).

Bacteriophages are highly diverse and abundant in the environment and capable of controlling bacterial infections in both humans and animals (Penadés et al., 2015, Podlacha et al., 2021, Secor and Dandekar, 2020, Fernández et al., 2019). There is almost a limitless source of phages in the environment (Altamirano and Barr, 2019). They are extremely diverse and occupy a great variety of natural habitats in the biosphere where their specific hosts are available, but they mainly reside in topsoils, vegetation and aquatic systems (fresh and marine). Bacteriophages also occur within the microbial community of an animal or human body (Skurnik and Strauch, 2006, Ackermann, 2011, Drulis-Kawa et al., 2012, Wittebole et al., 2014). The number of phages is in direct proportion to the number of host bacteria present in their environment, usually higher

than the bacteria by a factor of ten. More than 10^{32} (10^4 to 10^8 virions per ml aquatic systems and 10^9 virions per g in soil) of bacteriophages are present in the environment at any given time, which is almost equivalent to a trillion per gram of sand grains (Furfaro et al., 2018). This estimation makes them the most abundant organism on earth (Weinbauer, 2004, Skurnik and Strauch, 2006, Hanlon, 2007, Ackermann, 2011, Orlova, 2012, Drulis-Kawa et al., 2012, Adesanya et al., 2020, Clokie et al., 2011). Thus bacteriophages play an important role in maintaining the microbial balance in the environment (Wittebole et al., 2014). Since their discovery, the fatal effect of bacteriophages on their host bacteria has been very much well-known (Haq et al., 2012b, Merril et al., 1996). They are useful for the treatment and prevention of bacterial diseases as well as destroying pathogens on food (Huff et al., 2010).

2.4.1. Historical context

The antibacterial properties of bacteriophages were first reported in 1896 by a British bacteriologist, Ernest Hanbury Hankin while working with cholera-inducing bacterial cultures in the waters of the Ganges and Jamuna rivers in India and subsequently it was found that this material can pass through Millipore filters (Sulakvelidze et al., 2001, Wittebole et al., 2014). Within two years of Ernest Hankin's observations, a similar fact was observed by a Russian bacteriologist, Gamaleya, while working with *Bacillus subtilis* (Samsygina and Boni, 1984, Sulakvelidze et al., 2001). Then in 1915, a British microbiologist Frederick Twort noticed some filterable isolates during his experiments on these viruses in cell-free agar media (Carlton, 1999, Sulakvelidze et al., 2001).

Two years after Twort in 1917, a similar finding was reported by a French-Canadian microbiologist Félix d'Herelle while working on the outbreak of severe haemorrhagic bacillary dysentery. He found some antibacterial factors after filtering stool samples from some of his shigellosis patients. This active filtrate was able to lyse Shiga bacillus cultures (Carlton, 1999, Sulakvelidze et al., 2001, Summers, 2001, Wittebole et al., 2014, Rao and Lalitha, 2015).

The findings of Twort and d'Herelle independently are considered to be the official discovery of bacteriophages (Barrow and Soothill, 1997, Carlton, 1999, Sulakvelidze et al., 2001, Huff et al., 2010, Rao and Lalitha, 2015). The name bacteriophage was given by d'Herelle who confirmed that the activities of bacteriophages are due to a live virus (Sulakvelidze et al., 2001, Kutter et al., 2005).

The potential action of bacteriophages against different bacterial infections was widely studied until the 1930s, but after World War II, the research and clinical application of bacteriophages for therapeutic purpose was abandoned by the Western world and became confined only within the Eastern Europe and former Soviet Union.
2.4.2. Properties of bacteriophages

Bacteriophages are very small infectious particles and have a wide range of shapes and forms (Orlova, 2012). The viral nature and structure of phages was confirmed in 1940 by a German doctor, Helmut Ruska, after the invention of the electron microscopy (Ackermann, 2003, Wittebole et al., 2014). Phages are only able to infect and replicate in prokaryotes, that is, bacteria and archaea. For the most part, there are three basic structural forms of phages. Some phages have a head or capsid with a tail (tailed phages) (Figure 2-1); while others consist of a head but no tail (polyhedral or pleomorphic) and some phages have a filamentous form (filamentous phages) (Rao and Lalitha, 2015). The head or capsid is made of proteins and long nucleic acid polymer (either DNA or RNA) which is packaged within this protein shell. The phage nucleic acid carries all the genetic information required and regulates phage properties. Capsids are icosahedral in shape except for filamentous phages and are connected to a tail through a collar or neck (Hag et al., 2012a, Orlova, 2012, Wittebole et al., 2014, Rao and Lalitha, 2015). The tails can be contractile, non-contractile or short in structure (Ackermann, 2003). The distal end of some tails consist of tail fibres, which allows bacteriophages to attach or bind to the receptors which consist of distinctive carbohydrate, protein and lipopolysaccharide molecules present profusely on the bacterial cell surface (Kutter et al., 2005, Haq et al., 2012a, Wittebole et al., 2014). The viral nucleic acid passes or is injected through the tail into the bacterial host body to generate new phage progenies within the bacterial cell. Often phages are able to produce 100 progenies from each host cell body within just half an hour of time (Kutter et al., 2005).



Figure 2-1. A typical bacteriophage. Redrawn from Hanlon (2007), Doss et al. (2017).

2.4.3. Classification

Bacteriophages can be classified according to their genetic material, morphology, their host specificity, habitats or their lifecycle (Ackermann, 2003, Skurnik and Strauch, 2006, Ackermann, 2011, Orlova, 2012, Wittebole et al., 2014, Matsuzaki et al., 2005). The classification of bacteriophages has undergone a number of modifications since phages were first discovered. But the key factors for bacteriophage classification are their nucleic acid or genomic properties and virion morphology (Orlova, 2012, Adriaenssens and Brister, 2017). However, there are generally more than 40 considerable bases to classify phages up to genera and species level (Chandrarathna et al., 2020). There are 24 bacteriophage families have been classified according to the Bacterial and Archaeal Viruses Subcommittee (BAVS) of the International Committee on the Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV) (Table 2-1) (Adriaenssens et al., 2020, Sieiro et al., 2020).

The genomic constituent of bacteriophages is either DNA or RNA and either doublestranded or single-stranded (Ackermann, 2011). The vast majority of bacteriophages have double stranded DNA (dsDNA). However single stranded DNA (ssDNA), double stranded RNA (dsRNA), or single stranded RNA (ssRNA) can also be found in some small groups of phages (Ackermann, 2004, Skurnik and Strauch, 2006, Orlova, 2012).

In regard to their structural morphology, bacteriophages can be tailed, polyhedral (icosahedral or quasi-icosahedral), filamentous or pleomorphic. Out of all bacteriophages observed under transmission electron microscopy, tailed phages were found to constitute about 96.2% of all phages and are considered the most diverse and widespread group of bacterial viruses (Ackermann, 2003, Ackermann, 2011, Hassan et al., 2021). There are 23 genera of tailed phages described by the 9th ICTV. Depending on their tail structure bacteriophages can be assigned to three different families: *Myoviridae* (helical contractile tail), *Siphoviridae* (non-contractile and long tail) and *Podoviridae* (short tail) (Hanlon, 2007, Ackermann, 2011).

The filamentous or helical phages (*Inoviridae, Lipothrixviridae, Rudiviridae, Plectroviridae*) consist of long, rigid or flexible filaments of different lengths (Ackermann, 2003, Orlova, 2012, Hanlon, 2007, Adriaenssens et al., 2020). There are pleomorphic phages belonging to the *Fuselloviridae*, *Plasmaviridae*, *Halspiviridae*, *Ovaliviridae* and *Thaspiviridae* families – all possesses ds DNA (Adriaenssens et al., 2020). Around 3.7%

of total known phages are polyhedral, filamentous and pleomorphic (Ackermann, 2003, Orlova, 2012). Polyhedral, filamentous and pleomorphic phages consist of a total of ten families on the basis of nucleic acid content and morphology difference

Order	Family	Shape	Feature	Genetic material	Example		
Caudovirales	Myoviridae	Tailed	Contractile tail	ds DNA	T4		
Caudovirales	Siphoviridae	Tailed	Long, non- contractile tail	ds DNA	Λ		
Caudovirales	Podoviridae	Tailed	Short, non- contractile tail	ds DNA	Τ7		
Caudovirales	Demerecviridae	Tailed	Icosahedral, non- enveloped capsid		T5		
Caudovirales	Drexlerviridae	Tailed	Non-enveloped capsid	DNA	T1		
Caudovirales	Herelleviridae	Tailed	Icosahedral capsid with long contractile tail	ds DNA	SPO1		
Caudovirales	Autographiviridae	Tailed	Non-enveloped, icosahedral capsid	ds DNA	SP6, K1-5		
Caudovirales	Chaseviridae	Tailed	Isometric heads, long contractile tails	ds DNA	φEcoM- GJ1		
Caudovirales	Ackermannviridae	Tailed	Icosahedral capsid with contractile tail	ds DNA	EspM4VN		
Ligamenvirales	Lipothrixviridae	Filamentous	Enveloped filaments, lipids	ds DNA	TTV1		
Ligamenvirales	Rudiviridae	Filamentous	Helical rods, resembles TMV	ds DNA	SIRV1		
Tubulavirales	Inoviridae	Filamentous	Non-enveloped, long and flexible filaments	ss DNA	M13		
Tubulavirales	Plectroviridae	Filamentous	Non-enveloped, rigid and asymmetric rods	ss DNA	MV-L1		
Petitvirales	Microviridae	Polyhedral	Icosahedral capsid, 12 knoblike capsomeres	ss DNA	φΧ174		
Vinavirales	Corticoviridae	Polyhedral	Complex icosahedral capsid with lipid layer	ds DNA	PM2		

Table 0-1. Classification of bacteriophages (Ackermann, 2003, Hanlon, 2007, Adriaenssens et al., 2020, Mäntynen et al., 2020, Thanh et al., 2020)

Kalamavirales	Tectiviridae	Polyhedral	Icosahedral capsid with inner lipoprotein vesicle, pseudo- tail	ds DNA	PRD1	
Norzivirales	Leviviridae	Polyhedral	Poliovirus-like, quasi-icosahedral capsid	ss RNA	MS2	
Mindivirales	Cystoviridae	Polyhedral	Icosahedral capsid, segmented, lipidic envelope	ds RNA	φ6	
Unclassified	Finnlakeviridae	Polyhedral	ss DNA	FLiP		
Unclassified	<i>Fuselloviridae</i> Pleomorphic Spindle-shap enveloped, li no capsid			ds DNA	SSV1	
Unclassified	Halspiviridae	Pleomorphic	Spindle-shaped	ds DNA	His1	
Unclassified	Ovaliviridae		Ellipsoid, an envelope encases a striated capsid	ds DNA	SEV1	
Unclassified	Plasmaviridae	Pleomorphic	Quasi-spherical, No capsid, lipidic envelope	ds DNA	L2	
Unclassified	Thaspiviridae	Pleomorphic	Spindle-shaped with short fibres at one pole	ds DNA	NSV1	

*ds – double stranded; *ss – single stranded

2.4.4. Lifecycle

Bacteriophages are obligatory intracellular parasites in bacterial cells and to maintain their sustainability in the environment they display different mode of lifecycles described as chronic infection, pseudo-lysogenic, lysogenic and lytic development (Figure 2-2) (Weinbauer, 2004, Drulis-Kawa et al., 2012, Wittebole et al., 2014). Of these the lytic development is the virulent one and therefore, lytic phages are the ones most effective for phage therapy (Almeida et al., 2009, Oliveira et al., 2012, Rao and Lalitha, 2015, Wittebole et al., 2014). The four modes of infection are:

a. Chronic infection

No bacterial lysis occurs in this type of infection. After infecting the bacterial host body, the phage progeny starts to release themselves outside the host body by budding or an

extrusion method without causing any lethality. This type of cycle is not so commonly found in aquatic environment (Weinbauer, 2004, Sime-Ngando, 2014).

b. Pseudo-lysogenic cycle

This state of the lifecycle is also known as the phage-carrier state where a constant state of phage production occurs in the presence of high host cell abundance (Weinbauer, 2004, Wommack and Colwell, 2000). This type of cycle does not result in the total host cell lysis as in lytic cycle, but rather in a state whereby a high number of phages coexist with exponential bacterial host growth (Almeida et al., 2009). Here the phage genome (DNA) usually does not integrate into the bacterial genome (DNA) as in lysogenic cycle, but rather remains in a dormant state inside the host cell and thus no replication and segregation of phage occurs along with bacterial replication into all new daughter cells (Wommack and Colwell, 2000, Almeida et al., 2009, Oliveira et al., 2012). Pseudolysogeny in viruses or phages normally occurs when the viral surrounding is adverse and there is a scarcity of nutrients in the environment and consequently the starved host cell cannot find enough energy to induce viral gene expression (Sime-Ngando, 2014). When the surrounding growth condition improves, phages can either continue with lytic division or may undergo lysogenization following the termination of pseudo-lysogeny. This viral state of division represents an important characteristic of phage-host interaction in the environment (Łoś and Węgrzyn, 2012).

c. Lysogenic cycle

Compared to pseudo-lysogeny, the lysogenic cycle is a more stable association between the phage genome and the bacterial host cell (Wommack and Colwell, 2000). Phages which establish a lysogenic cycle are known as temperate phages (Weinbauer, 2004, Hanlon, 2007, Penadés et al., 2015). Temperate phages are capable of replicating themselves inside the host body without causing death to the bacterial cell. After attaching to a suitable bacterial cell surface receptor, lysogenic bacteriophages create a pore in the bacterial cell wall and integrate their nucleic acid material (DNA or RNA) into the bacterial chromosome and initiate the lysogenic cycle (Oliveira et al., 2012, Rao and Lalitha, 2015, Wittebole et al., 2014, Secor and Dandekar, 2020). The phage capsid remains outside the host body (Wittebole et al., 2014). This creates the prophage state and the viral nucleic acid starts to replicate along with multiplication of their host bacterium (Penadés et al., 2015, Secor and Dandekar, 2020). This technique is known as lysogenization (Richards, 2014). In some cases, prophages may also be found as a plasmid inside the host body without inserting genetic material into the host genome (Hanlon, 2007, Rao and Lalitha, 2015). The prophages may stay in a dormant stage for long periods of time, even for years and continue to replicate within the bacterial cell up to several generations without creating any major metabolic changes in the cell (Rao and Lalitha, 2015, Almeida et al., 2009). Both the prophage and the bacterial host cell gets benefit from the lysogenic cycle. The lysogenic cycle allows the phage to keep going even at the times when there is a scarcity of host cells in the environment (Sime-Ngando, 2014, Paul, 2008). Temperate phages are considered as K-selected viruses which have longer maturity period and survives longer because of their small burst size and longer coexistence with their host body (Suttle, 2007).

The lysogenic state is maintained by a phage repressor gene, but under specific environmental conditions or stressors the repressor and its production are inhibited. This leads the temperate phages to induce the virion productive cycle or lytic cycle (Skurnik and Strauch, 2006, Hanlon, 2007, Rao and Lalitha, 2015, Penadés et al., 2015, Howard-Varona et al., 2017). Several environmental (physical and chemical) and biological stressors can induce the lytic cycle including the host resistance mechanisms, UV irradiation, different pollutants and carcinogens, changes in salinity, differences in temperature or nutrient concentration and use of pesticides, Mitomycin C, and PCBs (Cochran et al., 1998, Hanlon, 2007, Almeida et al., 2009, Richards, 2014, Rao and Lalitha, 2015). Once the lytic cycle is initiated, replication of the phage genome and the manufacture of head and tails leads to the release of new phage progenies from the host bacteria (Rao and Lalitha, 2015).

After the initiation of lytic cycle from the lysogenic state, prophages may occasionally carry host genetic material along with their genome (Rao and Lalitha, 2015, Wittebole et al., 2014, Penadés et al., 2015). This may result in the transference of host cell genes which may confer virulence, antimicrobial resistance, antigenic changes, or changes to metabolism in a newly infected host (Hanlon, 2007, Wittebole et al., 2014). Temperate phages can be used for phage typing, phage display or phage vaccines (Almeida et al., 2009, Haq et al., 2012a). But these phages are not suitable for phage therapy since they do not directly destroy bacterial pathogens and they may transfer undesirable host derived genes into the new host body (Hanlon, 2007, Almeida et al., 2009).

d. Lytic cycle

The lytic cycle of bacteriophages represents a virulent mode of infection (Rao and Lalitha, 2015). Bacteriophages going through the lytic cycle are known as virulent phages as they have the ability to kill the bacterial host by lysis (Sulakvelidze et al., 2001). Lytic bacteriophages follows r-selection strategy since they are highly virulent, have large burst size and grow and replicates rapidly (Suttle, 2007).

The steps of a typical lytic cycle are: adsorption, penetration or injection, latent period, maturation and lysis (Brovko et al., 2012). The lytic phage attaches to a bacterial receptor site and then injects the phage genome into bacterial body (Sime-Ngando, 2014). The phage nucleic acid takes over all the bacterial synthetic machinery and starts to replicate their genetic material to produce a number of daughter phages inside bacterial cell. Finally, upon the lysis of cell wall, a large number of new phage progenies are released into the environment where they are ready to start another cycle by attacking new neighbouring bacterial cells (Almeida et al., 2009, Oliveira et al., 2012, Wittebole et al., 2014, Rao and Lalitha, 2015, Penadés et al., 2015). The total number of new released phage particles per bacteria (the burst size) depends on factors such as, the type of phage, state of the host bacteria, and availability of nutrients for the host bacteria (Wittebole et al., 2014). It may take 20 to 60 minutes to complete the whole lytic cycle and amplification will be continued as long as they can find a suitable host body to infect (Rao and Lalitha, 2015). The rate of replication is higher when the bacterial population is greatest and the rate will decrease gradually as the bacterial population is killed (Almeida et al., 2009). This feature of lytic bacteriophages makes them an attractive option to be used in biological control as well as in phage therapy (Jassim and Limoges, 2014, Kowalska et al., 2020).



Figure 2-2. Diagrammatic representation of different modes of bacteriophage life cycle. Adapted and re-drawn from Weinbauer (2004).

2.5. Bacteriophage therapy

After the initial discovery in 1920s and their identification, bacteriophages were subject to extensive research and were considered a potential therapeutic tool for controlling bacterial infections (Caflisch et al., 2019, Kortright et al., 2019). Several commercial companies and laboratories within the United States of America and parts of Europe started to use different phage products for the treatment and prophylaxis of bacterial infections. But after the Second World War, research and clinical applications related to phages were abandoned in the Western world but continued in Georgia, Russia, Poland and former Soviet Union region for almost 80 years (O'Flynn et al., 2004, Kropinski, 2006, Kutateladze and Adamia, 2010, Matsuzaki et al., 2005). Due to the controversies associated with mixed result of therapeutic success, lack of adequate experimental data and poor knowledge in understanding phage biology and with the advent of antibiotic era in 1940s, the potential of a phage therapeutic approach was not properly realized and eventually phased out of research (O'Flynn et al., 2004, Kropinski, 2006, Kutateladze and

Adamia, 2010, Haq et al., 2012b). Although there was some knowledge of their mode of action, very little data were published showing the use of phages to treat and prevent bacterial infections, until the last four decades (Hermoso et al., 2007, Almeida et al., 2009, Klumpp et al., 2012, Nikolich and Filippov, 2020). Phage therapy has been reevaluated due to the emergence of multidrug resistant (MDR) bacteria (Hermoso et al., 2007, Vincent et al., 2017, Matsuzaki et al., 2005). Advances in the understanding of biology, genetics, immunology and pharmacology of phages stimulated their use as a potential complement or alternative to antibiotics for treating bacterial infections (Altamirano and Barr, 2019). In the 1980s, Smith and Huggins published evidence of using E. coli infections in farm animals and mice as models to demonstrate the possible uses of phages as a therapy, and this was considered to be the rediscovery of the principle of phage therapy (Smith and Huggins, 1983, Smith and Huggins, 1982, Smith et al., 1987, Barrow and Soothill, 1997, Park et al., 2000). In recent times, some countries in the West such as Belgium and France started to accept the therapeutic use of phages. The rediscovery of phage therapy combined with the decline in the efficacy of antibiotics against MDR infections has revitalised the use of phages as a potential bactericidal approach.

2.6. Advantages of bacteriophage therapy to control bacterial pathogens

Bacteriophages possess some distinct characteristics which makes them more suitable for use as a therapeutic tool compared to other biocontrol strategies (Sulakvelidze et al., 2001, Inal, 2003, Haq et al., 2012b, Oliveira et al., 2012, Martínez-Díaz and Hipólito-Morales, 2013, Matsuzaki et al., 2005).

- Abundance There is an abundant supply of bacteriophages in the environment and they can be found wherever their host organism is present (Inal, 2003, Garcia et al., 2008, Abedon, 2009, Kutateladze and Adamia, 2010, Haq et al., 2012a, Haq et al., 2012b, Jun et al., 2014, Wittebole et al., 2014). The prevalence of phages is normally ten times higher than that of bacteria (Ackermann, 2011, Hanlon, 2007, Orlova, 2012, Skurnik and Strauch, 2006)
- Range of activity Bacteriophages are active against all types of Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria, including multidrug resistant bacterial pathogens present in the environment (Wittebole et al., 2014, Matsuzaki et al., 2005).

- 3. Host specificity Bacteriophages are host specific having a relatively narrow antibacterial range. This allows them to infect only a single targeted species and sometimes only a strain or serotype within a species. Because of this specificity no beneficial bacteria will be affected (Sulakvelidze et al., 2001, Inal, 2003, Garcia et al., 2008, Oliveira et al., 2012, Haq et al., 2012b, Martínez-Díaz and Hipólito-Morales, 2013, Wittebole et al., 2014, Matsuzaki et al., 2005). This specificity also helps to minimize secondary infection development as well as resistance development in normal microflora (Oliveira et al., 2012, Sulakvelidze et al., 2001).
- 4. Multiplication rate Bacteriophage populations increase and decline rapidly in the presence of bacterial host. The rate is the highest when the host is in the mid-exponential growth phase and is reduced as the host multiplication rate approaches stationary phase (Inal, 2003, Almeida et al., 2009, Kutateladze and Adamia, 2010, Oliveira et al., 2012, Haq et al., 2012b). Therefore, phage therapy is a flexible and relatively fast approach to controlling bacterial growth.
- 5. No side effects Because of their restricted host range, bacteriophages will not affect the non-targeted bacteria nor do they affect normal eukaryotic or mammalian cells (Sulakvelidze et al., 2001, Garcia et al., 2008, Kutateladze and Adamia, 2010, Wittebole et al., 2014, Matsuzaki et al., 2005). Moreover phages do not have any adverse effects on plants, animals or environment because they only consists of nucleic acid encapsulated by a protein coat (Martínez-Díaz and Hipólito-Morales, 2013).
- Cost effective Considering the efficiency of phage therapy for the control of bacterial infection, the cost is lower compared to that of conventional antibiotic treatment (Wittebole et al., 2014, Matsuzaki et al., 2005).
- 7. Administration route There are many options for the route of administration. Bacteriophages may be administered orally, in impregnated feed, by aerosols, or immersion, or by injection (Oliveira et al., 2012). They can penetrate through the blood brain barrier, hence they are effective against central nervous system infections. Some phages also have been found to be able to disrupt bacterial biofilms (Kutter et al., 2010, Garcia et al., 2008, Wittebole et al., 2014).

2.7. Experimental data available on phage therapy

Since their discovery, there has been active research into bacteriophages in human medicine, the food industry, waste water treatment, and agriculture (D'Herelle, 1929, Skurnik and Strauch, 2006, Almeida et al., 2009, Ormala and Jalasvuori, 2013, Wittebole et al., 2014, Pereira et al., 2016, Fernández et al., 2018, Hassan et al., 2021). Several phage-based bio-engineering methods, such as recombinant phages and phage display have been demonstrated their effectiveness as therapeutic and biological control agents and large scale of application of phage therapy has showed promising results (Oliveira et al., 2012, Chandrarathna et al., 2020). Initially use of phages for therapeutic purposes was confined to the clinical sectors. With the advent of better knowledge on phage biology, phage advantages over antibiotics and their mode of action, phage use has become more popular and started to be applied in many other areas of biotechnology and medical sciences including phage typing (Clark and March, 2004, Clark and March, 2006, Haq et al., 2012a). So far, a number of phage-based therapeutic products have also been accepted by different regulators such as, FDA (Food and Drug Administration), FSANZ (Food Standards Australia and New Zealand) and EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency) to control infections caused by Listeria monocytogenes, E. coli, Pseudomonas putida and Salmonella. In addition, different bacteriophage ecological studies such as their abundance in nature, role in maintaining microbial communities and balancing different environmental mechanisms has gained attention over the last several years (Talledo et al., 2003, El-Araby et al., 2016). Moreover phage particles or their components have also been used as a pathogen detection tool (Pierce et al., 2011, Klumpp et al., 2012).

The therapeutic potential of phages was first tried against *Vibrio cholerae*, where the *in vitro* trial was found to be more effective than the *in vivo* trial (Adams, 1959, Rao and Lalitha, 2015). This was followed by a number of studies of prophylactic treatment of human diseases caused by different bacterial pathogens (Sulakvelidze et al., 2001, Kutter et al., 2010). Most of the investigations of phage producution, formulation and therapy for human treatment were conducted in Eastern Europe and the former Soviet Union (Sulakvelidze et al., 2001, Kutter et al., 2010). Moreover, in the early 1980s phage-based experiments were carried out by Smith and Huggins to control *E. coli* infections in mice, piglets, lambs and calves (Smith and Huggins, 1983, Barrow and Soothill, 1997).

As well as the experiments decribed above, work in chickens carried out by Huff and his colleagues showed that respiratory infections caused by *E. coli* were successfully treated by phage therapy (Huff et al., 2002, Huff et al., 2003a). Several studies have also showed the decrease in *Campylobacter* and *Salmonella* concentrations in chicken using bacteriophage biocontrol strategy (Atterbury et al., 2007, Kittler et al., 2013). In addition to mice and chickens, control of infections by phage therapy has been shown in rats, rabbits, calves, lambs as experimental models (Oliveira et al., 2012, Wittebole et al., 2014). Bacteria used in these studies included *E. coli*, *Chronobacter turicensis*, *Staphylococcus aureus* and some MDR bacteria (Wittebole et al., 2014). Most of these studies showed reductuion in mortality using phage therapy, often better than the results of antibiotic treatment (Wittebole et al., 2014).

2.8. Bacteriophage therapy application in aquaculture

In addition to the attempts to control human and other livestock pathogens, the control of aquaculture diseases as well as to maintain biogeochemical cycles in marine ecosystems, bacteriophage therapy has gained increasing interest over the last few decades (Stenholm et al., 2008, Abedon, 2009, Oliveira et al., 2012, Doss et al., 2017, Kowalska et al., 2020, Żaczek et al., 2020). The therapeutic potential of phages in controlling fish-borne pathogens was first described by Wu et al. (1981) using the Japanese eel *Anguilla japonica*. Other studies on the identification and characterization of phages to use as a therapeutic agent against fish-borne pathogens have also been described (Wu et al., 1981, Stevenson and Airdrie, 1984, Merino et al., 1990a, Munro et al., 2003, Almeida et al., 2009).

The therapeutic use of phage in controlling *Lactococcus garviae* and *Pseudomonas plecoglossicida* infection in cultured ayu fish (*Plecoglossus altivelis*) *in vivo* has been reported by Nakai and Park (2002), Park and Nakai (2003), Skurnik and Strauch (2006), Park et al. (2000). The research demonstrated that a) fish fed with phage-impregnated-food were protected from infection; b) to avoid pathogen transmission in water, phage treatment could be used; c) there was evidence of phage resistance as well as phage-neutralizing antibodies; and d) phage therapy was effective in minimizing infection and reducing the fish mortality rate (Park et al., 2000, Park and Nakai, 2003, Oliveira et al., 2012).

The use of phage combinations to treat furunculosis (caused by *Aeromonas salmonicida* infection) in brook trout (*Oncorhynchus fontinalis*) in a fish farm showed promising results (Imbeault et al., 2006, Almeida et al., 2009, Oliveira et al., 2012, Kim et al., 2015). An *in vitro* study by Kim et al. (2010) also demonstrated the efficacy of bacteriophages in reducing the impact of *Flavobacterium psychrophilum* infection on ayu fish. Another study by Higuera et al. (2013) observed 100% survival rate in Atlantic salmon when phage suspension was added to the *Vibrio anguillarum* infected fish. A pilot study by Khairnar et al. (2013) also showed promising results of phage therapy for the control of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in freshwater catfish *Clarias gariepinus*.

In addition to fish, a number of bacteriophage therapy studies have been conducted on shrimps, lobsters and bivalve molluscs (Oliveira et al., 2012). The use of bacteriophages isolated from the environment were effective in the control of luminous vibriosis caused by *V. harveyi in vitro* as well as in the shrimp hatchery (Karunasagar et al., 2005, Vinod et al., 2006, Karunasagar et al., 2007). Other studies have described the effectiveness of phage therapy in controlling *Vibrio* spp. pathogens from larval cultures of tropical rock lobster, pacific oysters and pearl oysters (Pass et al., 1987, Sugumar et al., 1998, Park and Nakai, 2003, Berthe, 2005, Vinod et al., 2006, Crothers-Stomps et al., 2010).

Most of the bacteriophage therapeutic studies done for aquatic organisms are still in their research stage and require to be more investigated and described. However, the experimental work summarised here provides an optimistic outlook on the fact that phages can be used successfully for treating diseases in aquatic organisms.

2.9. Aeromonas hydrophila infection in aquaculture and their bacteriophages

Aeromonas hydrophila is one of the major causative agents of disease outbreaks and mortality in the aquaculture environment (Janda and Abbott, 2010). This ubiquitous, Gram negative rod is an opportunistic pathogen and responsible for a number of fish diseases including haemorrhagic septicaemia, ulcerative infections and red sore disease resulting in elevated mortality in aquatic organisms (Beaz-Hidalgo and Figueras, 2013). *A. hydrophila* is also capable of producing siderophores, biologically active extracellular products (ECPs) and toxins or enzymes (such as, cytotoxins, haemolysins, and enterotoxins) and also of biofilm formation in various biotic and abiotic environments (Anand et al., 2018, Chenia and Duma, 2017, Casabianca et al., 2015, Igbinosa et al., 2013). Until now the most commonly accepted method of controlling *A. hydrophila* infection in aquatic organisms is the use of antibiotics. However, as a consequence of emergence of MDR bacteria in different aquatic organisms and aquaculture systems, there is an ongoing need for studies targeting the isolation and characterisation of new phages that are specifically pathogenic to *A. hydrophila* and develop a bacteriophage therapeutic tool which will aid in minimising the use of antibiotics in the fish aquaculture operations.

In the past few years, some studies on *A. hydrophila* phages have shown promising results. Hsu et al. (2000) conducted an *in vitro* study where they isolated two *A. hydrophila* phages along with some other phages targeting infections in eels (*Anguilla japonica*). Another successful study by Le et al. (2018) showed promising results where they successfully isolated two phages active against *A. hydrophila* and the phage cocktail was able to treat Motile *Aeromonas* Septicemia (MAS) in striped catfish (*Pangasianodon hypophthalmus*) using intraperitoneal injection. In addition to that, a study conducted by El-Araby et al. (2016) demonstrated the potential of two phages ZH1 and ZH2 to treat infection caused by *A. hydrophila* in Nile tilapia with a survival rate up to 82%. Other studies described by Jun et al. (2013) and Akmal et al. (2020) showed the potential of phages, pAh1-C, pAh6-C and Akh-2 respectively as therapeutic agents against *A. hydrophila* infection in cyprinid loach (*Misgurnus anguillicaudatus*). Furthermore, Easwaran et al. (2016) isolated and characterised an *A. hydrophila* phage, pAh-1 and described its protective effects in experimentally infected zebrafish (*Danio rerio*).

Other than the studies stated here, a handful of studies have been conducted by a number of scientists which primarily focused on isolation of *A. hydrophila* phages from different aquatic environments and their characterisation up to genomic level to enrich phage related data within scientific community.

The present study focused on the isolation and characterisation of phages specific to *A*. *hydrophila* and the evaluation of the safety and effectiveness of these phages with the aim of developing a therapeutic tool as a replacement to antibiotics with a long term view of controlling this pathogen in aquaculture.

2.10. Conclusion

Based on the examples described on therapeutic and prophylactic applications of bacteriophages, phage therapy seems very promising in the aquaculture sector. However,

phage based therapeutic models in aquaculture have not been fully explored yet (Oliveira et al., 2012, Almeida et al., 2009). Moreover there is still a lack of information about phage and bacteria diversity and ecology (Jassim and Limoges, 2014).

Some factors should be considered prior to the selection of phages for effective therapeutic purposes. The most important factors for the selection of phages are the burst size and the host range of bacteriophages. Phages with large burst size have been found to be more effective in lysing host bacteria and their use also reduce the chance of selecting phage- resistant bacteria (Hyman and Abedon, 2010, Mirzaei and Nilsson, 2015). Moreover there are some virulent phages with a wide host range that are active against a wide variety of bacteria, and so more cost effective for therapeutic use (Mirzaei and Nilsson, 2015).

It has been reported that bacteriophages can survive between 12-91 days in marine environments with a moderate impact on bacterial communities leading to a reduction in bacterial diseases (Pereira et al., 2011). The majority of publications have focused on phage isolation and characterisation to reduce bacterial biomass *in vitro* for different aquaculture species. There need to be more *in vivo* studies to validate the use of phage therapy in aquaculture.

Some bacteriophages have already gained regulatory acceptance for phage therapy (Oliveira et al., 2012). However additional studies are required to fully understand phage-bacterium interactions, and demonstrate advantages of phage therapy as a biocontrol agent against bacterial infection in aquaculture.

Chapter 3. General Materials and Methods

3.1. Bacterial investigations

3.1.1. Bacterial strains

Ten different strains of *Aeromonas hydrophila* were used for the isolation of *Aeromonas* phage. Bacterial strains (named as Ah1, Ah2, Ah3, Ah4,) were obtained from the bacterial culture collection (fish-pathogenic clinical isolates) held within the School of Animal and Veterinary Sciences, Roseworthy Campus, The University of Adelaide. The other six bacterial strains (isolated from crayfish and named as Ah5, Ah6, Ah7, Ah8, Ah9, and Ah10) were obtained from AusPhage Pty Ltd, Townsville, Queensland (Hayakijkosol et al., 2017).

3.1.2. Bacterial culture media

All bacterial strains were streaked from the frozen culture stock onto Tryptic Soy Agar (TSA, Edwards Group Pty Ltd, NSW, Australia) (17.0 g pancreatic digest of casein, 3.0 g papaic digest of soybean, 2.5 g dextrose, 5.0 g NaCl, 2.5 g K₂HPO₄, 1.5% Bacto-agar, 1000 ml deionized water) plates and their identity was confirmed following the standard biochemical procedures (Markey, 2013) and by growth in ampicillin supplemented *Aeromonas* selective media (*Aeromonas* Medium Base, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Australia). After identification, the bacterial strains were kept in glycerol broth (20% glycerol in TSB) at -80 °C for long term storage. Frozen cultures were reactivated onto TSA plates at 28 °C for routine use.

3.2. Bacteriophages

3.2.1. Isolation and enrichment of bacteriophages

A total of five sewage/waste water samples were collected from three sampling locations (Table 4-1) for the isolation of bacteriophages. Published methods with minor modifications were used for the isolation, enrichment and purification of bacteriophages from the collected sewage and waste water samples (Merabishvili et al., 2009, Akhtar et al., 2014, Silva et al., 2014b). Following the transportation, water samples were centrifuged at 3000 ×*g* at 4 °C for 10 min (Centrifuge MPW-351R) and the supernatants filtered through 0.45 μ m polycarbonate membrane syringe filters (Millex-HP 33 mm, Adelab Scientific, South Australia). Then 50 ml of filtered water samples were mixed with 50 ml of double strength (2×) TSB and 1 ml of exponentially grown *A. hydrophila* culture which was prepared on the same day. The mixtures of the filtered water samples

and *A. hydrophila* hosts were incubated at 28 °C, shaken at 60 rpm for 18-20 h. Following incubation, the mixed samples were centrifuged at 3000 $\times g$ at 4 °C for 15 min and filtered with 0.45 µm polycarbonate membrane syringe filters. These filtrates potentially contained bacteriophages which were used for further analyses.

3.2.2. Bacteriophage plaque assay (spot test)

Following the filtration, the phage preparations were used to conduct spot tests to determine the growth of the cultured bacteriophages. *Aeromonas hydrophila* bacterial strains were initially grown in TSB media at 28 °C overnight. The next day, bacterial lawns were prepared by spreading 100 μ l of log phase *A. hydrophila* aliquots on to the TSA plates and allowed to dry for 20 min in a biological safety cabinet Class II. Then 10 μ l of each phage preparation was pipetted onto each bacterial lawn. The plates were then incubated overnight in an inverted position at 28 °C for plaque formation.

3.2.3. Bacteriophage amplification in liquid medium

The standard protocol for liquid medium amplification of bacteriophages from was followed from the methods described by (Kutter, 2005, Goodridge et al., 2003), briefly 10 ml of overnight culture of A. hydrophila was inoculated in 500 ml of fresh sterile PBS (8.0 g NaCl, 0.2 g KCl, 1.44 g Na₂HPO₄, 0.24 g KH₂PO₄, 1000 ml deionized water) and then same volume (500 ml) of respective bacteriophage (~10⁹ pfu/ml) solution was added to the bacterium-PBS solution. The culture was then incubated overnight with very mild shaking (65 rpm) at 28 °C to infect bacterial cells with bacteriophages. The next day when bacterial lysis occurred, few drops of chloroform was added to the bacterium-phage suspension and mixed gently to induce and complete lysis of the host cell and release the phage progeny which may still left inside the host. This amplified phage solution was then transferred to chloroform-free Eppendorf tubes and centrifuged at 4000 $\times g$ for 20 min and the supernatant was then filtered with 0.45 µm polycarbonate membrane syringe filters to get rid of the remaining bacterial cell debris. The final phage titre was checked and the phage lysate was stored at 4 °C for further analyses. The amplification was carried out in order to make larger volumes of bacteriophages to facilitate further experiments.

3.2.4. Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)

Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) (Adelaide Microscopy) was used to determine the morphology of the isolated and purified bacteriophages. Bacteriophage solutions were negatively stained using 2% solutions of phosphotungstic acid (PTA) or uranyl acetate (UA) and fixed on a carbon and hydrophilic pioloform-coated 200-mesh copper grid. One drop (10 μ l) of bacteriophage solution was first placed on the copper grid and allowed to settle for 2 min and the excess phage solution fluid was then blotted carefully using a filter paper. Then one drop (10 μ l) of negative stain PTA or UA was placed on the copper grid containing the sample and left for 2 min. Excess stain was then blotted. These copper grids with stained bacteriophage sample were then placed in a FEI Tecnai G2 Spirit Transmission Electron Microscope (TEM) operating at 100 kV to observe their specific morphological features and measure their sizes.

3.3. Fish infection trials

3.3.1. Bacterial stock solution preparation for fish infection trials

A single strain of *Aeromonas hydrophila* (Ah10) was selected for the infection trial. The day before the infection of the fish, bacteria were grown in TSB (Tryptic Soy Broth, Edwards Group Pty Ltd, NSW, Australia) (17.0 g pancreatic digest of casein, 3.0 g papaic digest of soybean, 2.5 g dextrose, 5.0 g NaCl, 2.5 g K₂HPO₄, 1000 ml deionized water) and incubated overnight in a shaker incubator for 12 h with 120 rpm at 28 °C. The next day growth was observed and the bacterial concentration in the broth was adjusted to an approximate final optical density of suspension (OD) of 0.180 at a wavelength of 600 nm. The bacterial broth culture was then centrifuged at 3000 ×*g* for 10 min. The supernatant was discarded and the bacterial suspension became the stock solution and was then serially diluted in PBS solution 1 in 1000 (10⁻³) to give a viable count of approximately 6.7×10^7 cfu/ml. This was the bacterial inoculum used for the fish infection trials.

3.3.2. Preparation of fish (sedation and recovery) for the preliminary pilot trial and actual infection challenge trial

Silver perch (*Bidyanus bidyanus*), a native fish of Australia, was used in this study as a model to test the therapeutic effectiveness of bacteriophages against an *A. hydrophila*

pathogen. Prior to dose inoculation, each fish was anaesthetised by emersion using Aqui-S (active ingredient: Isoeugenol) solution at a dose rate of 20-30 mg/l water in a separate tank and fish were kept there until they showed signs of sedation. Then each individual fish was weighed and the body length was measured to determine the dose/volume for bacteria and PBS (control) for inoculation. Following the inoculation, fish were kept in a separate recovery tank with proper aeration and then returned to their designated tanks. Fish were not fed on the day of their infection.

The dose/volume to be injected (control, bacteria and bacteriophage dose) was determined using a body mass-volume calculation (0.1 ml dose per 10 kg fish) as described by Treves-Brown (2013) in an attempt to deliver a consistent number of bacteria per gram body weight for each of the fish in the separate treatment groups.

3.3.3. Fish organ collection for bacterial counts

A sample of kidney and spleen were dissected out from each fish of every treatment and then suspended in individual sterile tubes containing PBS for homogenisation. Each PBS containing tube was weighed before and after adding the kidney and spleen samples to get actual sample weight. Aseptic conditions were maintained throughout the procedure. The samples were then homogenised and kept in PBS solution for 10-20 min before undertaking serial dilutions of the supernatant to aid in bacterial plate counts (see below).

3.3.4. Bacterial counts in kidneys and spleens

The homogenised samples were serially diluted (10-fold) in PBS and then plated onto TSA and AMB agar plates. All agar plates were incubated overnight at 28 °C. The next day plates were observed for bacterial growth, colonies counted and bacterial cfu/g were calculated to determine bacterial carriage rate in the treated fish.

Chapter 4. Isolation, partial characterization and *in vitro* lytic ability of bacteriophages targeting *Aeromonas hydrophila*

4.1. Introduction

Aeromonas hydrophila is one of the many fish pathogens that is recorded as causing severe economic losses in global aquaculture (Ackermann et al., 1985, Fang et al., 2004, Poobalane et al., 2010). A. hydrophila is a Gram negative, oxidase and catalase positive, rod-shaped, motile and facultative anaerobe (Flint, 1996, Saavedra et al., 2004, Citterio and Biavasco, 2015, Fernández-Bravo and Figueras, 2020). Their occurrence is ubiquitous in the environment and they are known to cause diseases in different animals including fish living in freshwater, marine, or estuarine habitats (Merino et al., 1990a, Flint, 1996, Dong et al., 2018). Disease outbreaks caused by A. hydrophila in freshwater fish has been reported to be more common in the aquaculture industry (Noga, 2011, Yu et al., 2005, El-Araby et al., 2016, Dhanapala et al., 2021). Most common diseases caused by this pathogen includes motile Aeromonas septicaemia (MAS)/haemorrhagic septicaemia, epizootic ulcerative syndrome, ulcerous dermatitis, infectious abdominal dropsy, fin and tail rot in various fish species (Zhang et al., 2016, Noga, 2011, Swift et al., 1999, Ventura and Grizzle, 1988, Harikrishnan and Balasundaram, 2005, Saavedra et al., 2004, Harikrishnan et al., 2010, Zhang et al., 2015). A number of fresh water fish including carp (Labeo rohita, Catla catla, Cyprinus carpio, Cirrhinus cirrhosis, etc), loach (Misgurnus anguillicaudatus) eel (Anguilla japonica), channel catfish (Ictalurus punctatus), striped catfish (Pangasianodon hypophthalmus), tilapia (Tilapia nilotica), ayu (Plecoglossus altivelis), goldfish (Carassius auratus) have been reported to be infected with A. hydrophila and leading to high mortality levels in various aquaculture farming systems worldwide (Harikrishnan and Balasundaram, 2005, Le et al., 2018, Jun et al., 2010). This species exhibits variable pathogenicity and is generally considered to be a secondary or opportunistic pathogen which is able to cause disease in already infected or immunologically compromised fish (Haq et al., 2012b, Harikrishnan et al., 2003). However A. hydrophila can also act as a primary pathogen infecting healthy fish (Lehane and Rawlin, 2000). This bacterium is also responsible for diseases in higher vertebrates, even in humans causing meningitis, septicaemia, or wound infections. Ingestion of infected fish or infection through damaged skin while fish handling can cause diseases associated with A. hydrophila (Noga, 2011, Saavedra et al., 2004, Handfield et al., 1996).

Antibiotics are extensively used in aquaculture industries for the treatment of bacterial infections as well as a growth supplement. Overuse and unregulated administration of these drugs has contributed to the emergence of antibiotic resistance (ABR) in the wider

environment through exchange of antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs) (Defoirdt et al., 2011, Lee and Wendy, 2017). ARGs are commonly found on bacterial mobile genetic elements such as plasmids, transposons and integrons which can interchange between bacterial species through a process called horizontal gene transfer (HGT) (Dzidic and Bedeković, 2003). Selection and co-selection of these ARGs are facilitated by the presence of antibiotics in the polluted environment where aquatic animal and human pathogens can take up new genes that may confer resistance to the respective antibiotics resulting in the failure of antimicrobial therapy (Akinbowale et al., 2006, Mathew et al., 2007, Tenover, 2001, Chang et al., 2015). Aquatic industries serve as reservoirs of ARGs. Therefore, keeping the food safety concerns in mind, research projects are being undertaken to develop alternative control approaches for bacterial infections in aquaculture (Defoirdt et al., 2011, Matsuzaki et al., 2005). Since the discovery of bacteriophages, their ability to kill the respective host bacteria (lytic ability) has been tested to control both human and animal pathogens (Carlton, 1999, Kutateladze and Adamia, 2010, Vinod et al., 2006). Lysogenic viruses undergo a latent stage when they integrate their genome in the bacterial DNA (prophage) and therefore are not useful in phage therapy. Lytic bacteriophages are preferred for controlling bacterial infections as they are capable of destroying bacterial host cell within a short period of time (Breitbart, 2012, Rao and Lalitha, 2015).

Some reports have demonstrated the development of antibiotic resistance in *A. hydrophila* due to their indiscriminate exposure to various antibiotics (Zdanowicz et al., 2020, Scarano et al., 2018, Dahanayake et al., 2019). Compared to other bacteria causing diseases in fish, *Aeromonas* sp. are known to be more resistant to many antibiotics used in treating and controlling infection (Harikrishnan and Balasundaram, 2005).

Bacterial viruses or phages have been found as a suitable tool in controlling antibiotic resistant bacteria as they have a completely different mechanism of killing or lysing specific bacteria than that of the antibiotics (Lin et al 2017). The self-limiting factors of bacteriophages (i.e. present in very low numbers after target hosts have been killed) makes them very attractive to use as a significant means of controlling MDR pathogens (Nakai and Park, 2002). A number of bacteriophage based therapeutic studies against various aquatic animal pathogens have already showed promising results.

Antibiotics are still considered to be the most frequently used therapeutic to treat *Aeromonas* spp. infections in aquaculture, some recent studies however isolated multidrug resistant (MDR) *A. hydrophila* from different aquatic organisms (Chandrarathna et al., 2020). Therefore isolation, characterisation and application of virulent bacteriophages targeting *A. hydrophila* is a promising strategy to reduce economic losses in aquaculture sector.

The present study describes the isolation and characterization of four novel lytic bacteriophages which are active against three different strains of *A. hydrophila* that are pathogenic to fresh water fish with the aim to use them to design an efficient biocontrol method as an alternative treatment strategy for *A. hydrophila*. Additionally, we investigated their lytic property towards the host bacteria under controlled condition in the laboratory. The *in vitro* analyses done in this study demonstrate that the isolated phages have the potential for use in treating *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection in aquaculture.

4.2. Materials and methods

4.2.1. Bacterial strains and media used

The detail of the bacterial strains and their culture condition are described in section 3.1 of chapter 3. Briefly, ten different strains of *Aeromonas hydrophila* namely Ah1, Ah2, Ah3, Ah4, Ah5, Ah6, Ah7, Ah8, Ah9, and Ah10 were used for the isolation of *Aeromonas* phage. A loop full of frozen culture of each bacterial strains were streaked onto Tryptic Soy Agar plates and incubated at 28 °C. The next day a single colony from the agar plates were transferred to 50 ml Eppendorf tubes containing 25 ml of Tryptic Soy Broth (TSB) and grown overnight with 120 rpm shaking at 28 °C.

4.2.2. Prophage detection by Mitomycin C (MMC) assay

Induction of prophage in the ten experimental *Aeromonas* bacterial strains was investigated using Mitomycin C (MMC) (Acros Organics). Bacterial inocula were prepared by growing each strain overnight to an approximate optical density (OD_{600}) of 0.2. A stock solution of 1000 µg/ml MMC was used to prepare three different final concentrations of 100 ng/ml, 200 ng/ml and 400 ng/ml MMC in TSB. The controls did not contain any MMC (TSB only). MMC solutions (from each concentration) of 190 µl were dispensed into the wells of 96-well sterile microtiter plates that were then inoculated

with 10 μ l of individual bacterial strains from overnight grown cultures. Blank wells were filled with 200 μ l TSB broth. The inoculated plates were incubated at 28 °C and growth was monitored for 18 h at 30 min intervals using xMarkTM Microplate Spectrophotometer SW MPM6 (BIO-RAD). Growth curves were generated by plotting OD₆₀₀ vs time (h). Growth of each bacterial strains in the presence of different concentrations of MMC was compared with the controls to determine the presence and induction of prophage. All samples from each concentration were tested in triplicate for each bacterial strain.

4.2.3. Sample collection

For the isolation of *Aeromonas* phages, a total of five sewage/waste water samples were collected from three sampling locations (Table 4-1) – a) raw effluent of sewage water samples collected from the sewage tank located at the Roseworthy campus, The University of Adelaide; b) three different raw effluents of waste water collected from the Bolivar waste water treatment plant, Bolivar, Adelaide, SA; and c) raw effluent samples of waste water collected from the Glenelg waste water treatment plant, Glenelg, Adelaide, SA. One litre of each sewage and waste water sample was collected in sterile glass bottles and kept on ice during transportation to the laboratory. Samples were processed immediately and stored at 4 $^{\circ}$ C.

Collection Location	Sample name	Sample type
Roseworthy campus	Se	Raw sewage sample
Bolivar	PP	Raw water effluent from primary sedimentation
		tank
Bolivar	S	Raw water from screening tank
Bolivar	С	Raw waste water effluent
Glenelg	G	Raw waste water effluent

Table 0-1. Description of the samples collected from different places for bacteriophage isolation

4.2.4. Bacteriophage isolation and enrichment

Published methods with minor modifications were used for the isolation, enrichment and purification of bacteriophages from the collected sewage and waste water samples (Merabishvili et al., 2009, Akhtar et al., 2014, Silva et al., 2014b). Water samples were centrifuged at $3000 \times g$ at 4 °C for 10 min (Centrifuge MPW-351R) and the supernatants filtered through 0.45 µm polycarbonate membrane syringe filters (Millex-HP 33 mm, Adelab Scientific, South Australia). Then 50 ml of filtered water samples were mixed with 50 ml of double strength (2×) TSB and 1 ml of exponentially grown *A. hydrophila* culture which was prepared on the same day. The mixtures of the filtered water samples

and *A. hydrophila* hosts were incubated at 28 °C, shaken at 60 rpm for 18-20 h. Following incubation, the mixed samples were centrifuged at 3000 $\times g$ at 4 °C for 15 min and filtered with 0.45 µm polycarbonate membrane syringe filters. These filtrates potentially contained bacteriophages which were used for further analyses.

4.2.5. Bacteriophage confirmation by plaque assay and host range determination

Following the filtration, the phage preparations were used to conduct spot assays to determine the growth of the cultured bacteriophages. The spot assay was performed following the protocol described in section 3.2.2 of chapter 3.

To determine the host range of the isolated bacteriophages, all samples were subjected to spot testing against all ten bacterial strains. Not all plates showed positive results; plates exhibiting phage plaques only were used for further investigation. The next day, individual plaques from each positive plate were picked off with a sterile pipette tip and suspended in 1 ml SM buffer (5.8 g NaCl, 1.2 g MgSO4, 50 ml 1M Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 0.1 g gelatin, 1000 ml deionized water) and kept for 1 h at room temperature (25-27 °C) to obtain a uniform plaque solution in SM buffer. The phage-buffer solution was then filtered with 0.45 μ m polycarbonate membrane syringe filters before further use.

4.2.6. Bacteriophage purification and final stock preparation

For the purification of the bacteriophages, the filtered phage-SM buffer solution was serially diluted in TSB (10-fold) and plated on to lawn plates as conducted in the spot test. The plates were incubated overnight at 28 °C. Following incubation, a single phage plaque was carefully picked from the plate with a sterile pipette tip and suspended in SM buffer and kept for 1 h at room temperature (25-27 °C) to obtain a uniform plaque solution. This solution was then filtered with 0.45 μ m polycarbonate membrane syringe filters. This whole process of making Phage-SM buffer solution from a purified single plaque and then the filtration was repeated three times to confirm a pure bacteriophage solution.

To make the final phage stock, purified single phage culture was again serially diluted in TSB (10-fold) and 20 μ l aliquots of each dilution were plated onto lawn plates and incubated overnight at 28 °C. The next day, a pure bacteriophage solution was serially

diluted make up a 500 µl solution using the highest dilution of phage that just caused 100% clearing. An equal volume (500 µl) of log phase culture of host bacteria was then added to the phage-SM buffer solution and the mixed solution kept in an inverted position for 5 min. Then 2-3 agar lawn plates were prepared, incubated overnight and the following day 20 ml of SM buffer poured onto the plates exhibiting nearly 100% plaque clearing and held at room temperature for 2 h to infuse the phage preparations with SM buffer. Then using a sterile pipette, the phage-SM buffer solution was removed from the agar plates and poured into sterile 50 ml conical centrifuge tubes. The solution was then centrifuged at 3000 ×*g* for 30 min to remove any cell debris and filtered through 0.45 µm polycarbonate membrane syringe filters to obtain the pure phage stock culture. The purified final bacteriophage in SM buffer stocks were stored at 4 °C for further analyses.

4.2.7. Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)

To determine bacteriophage morphology, Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) (Adelaide Microscopy) was carried out following the methods described in section 3.2.4 of chapter 3.

4.2.8. Extraction of bacteriophage nucleic acid, enzymatic digestion and gel electrophoresis

Extraction of bacteriophage nucleic acid was carried out as described by Vinod et al. (2006) with some minor modifications. For phage precipitation, 20 μ l (2M) sterile zinc chloride (ZnCl₂) was added to 1 ml of phage solution (1:50 ratio) and incubated at 37 °C for 5 min. Then the solution was centrifuged at 4000 ×*g* for 5 min. After discarding the supernatant, the pellet was resuspended in 200 μ l of TENS buffer (50 mM Tris, pH 8.0, 100 mM EDTA, 100 mM NaCl and 0.3% SDS) and 0.5 μ l of 40 μ g/ml Proteinase K added and incubated at 65 °C for 10 min. To remove excess proteins, the same volume (200 μ l) of phenol/chloroform/isoamyl alcohol (Sigma-Aldrich) was added to the TENS buffer solution, vortexed for 1 min and then centrifuged at 10,000 ×*g* for 10-15 min. The clear supernatant was transferred to a new tube. The protein extraction step was repeated twice and then 700 μ l of isopropanol was added to the phage nucleic acid for precipitation and centrifuged at 10,000 ×*g* for 10-15 min. The precipitated pellet was then resuspended in 30-50 μ l of diethyl pyrocarbonate (DEPC) treated

water. The concentration (ng/µl) of nucleic acids of each sample were measured using the NanoDrop® Spectrophotometer, ND-1000, BIOLAB.

After the extraction of nucleic acids, RNase A, S1 Nuclease, and BamHI enzyme treatments were conducted according to the manufacturer's protocols (Thermo Scientific Australia) to confirm the nature of the extracted nucleic acids (Phumkhachorn and Rattanachaikunsopon, 2010, Vinod et al., 2006). Then the digested samples were run on 0.8% agarose gel electrophoresis at 100V for 1 h and the gel was imaged by Molecular Imager® ChemiDocTM XRS+ Imaging System (BIO-RAD).

4.2.9. Determination of the lytic ability of the isolated bacteriophages

To determine if the isolated bacteriophages could produce mortality in target host bacteria, four bacteriophages (Ah6_G, Ah9_PP, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S) were grown with their respective *A. hydrophila* bacterial strains (Ah6, Ah9 and Ah10). An equal volume of exponentially grown bacteria and bacteriophage were mixed together and then triplicate phage-bacteria mixtures were observed for bacterial lysis in a sterile 96-well microtiter plate. Each well of the microplate contained 100 μ l of exponential bacteria + 100 μ l bacteriophage. Control wells contained 100 μ l bacteria + 100 μ l of pure TSB broth. Blank wells were filled with 200 μ l TSB broth. The optical density (OD₆₀₀) of each microplate well was measured using xMarkTM Microplate Spectrophotometer SW MPM6 (BIO-RAD) at 8 min intervals for a total of 13 h. The growth curves for each bacterial strain (with bacteriophage and control) were generated from the spectrophotometer readings.

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Induction of prophage in bacterial strains

Mitomycin C (MMC) is known to induce prophages which are integrated into bacterial genome. Lysogenic viruses are normally induced to undergo some lysis in the presence of MMC resulting in decreased growth of host bacteria compared to the control. After the treatment with MMC, growth curves (Figure 4-1) for each of the bacterial strains showed that 9 out of 10 bacterial strains demonstrated prophage induction, but isolate Ah5 did not show any sign of induction in its growth curve (Figure 4-1 [e]). This observation confirms that the 9 positive bacterial strains contained prophages in their genome, which indicated the presence of lysogenic induction within the bacterial genome. This assay was conducted to test the suitability of the experimental bacterial strains in isolating lytic

bacteriophage. However, more specific tests, such as search for the presence of integrase genes are needed to confirm lysogeny.



Figure 0-1. Growth profile of ten *A. hydrophila* treated with different concentration of MMC compared with the control group. [a] – Ah1; [b] – Ah2; [c] – Ah3; [d] – Ah4; [e] – Ah5; [f] – Ah6; [g] – Ah7; [h] – Ah8; [i] – Ah9 and [j] – Ah10. Growths are mean of triplicate observations of OD_{600} . Error bars represent standard error of mean. Some error bars are too small to be visible.

4.3.2. Host specificity of the isolated bacteriophages

Bacteriophages isolated from five different water samples were subjected to spot tests against all ten *A. hydrophila* bacterial strains (Ah1, Ah2, Ah3, Ah4, Ah5, Ah6, Ah7, Ah8, Ah9, and Ah10) to determine their host range. After incubation, the plates were examined

for complete clearing (lysis) within the applied spot, indicating the presence of a lytic phage that killed the host bacterium. If some turbidity within the plaques occurred, the phage is most likely temperate and therefore unlikely to be as effective for disease control. Samples were found to respond differently with different *A. hydrophila* host strains. The result for clear plaque formation by the bacteriophages on the ten *A. hydrophila* strains are presented in Table 4-2.

Out of 13 positive plaque formations observed, four bacteriophages (Ah6_G, Ah9_PP, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S – nomenclature based on their place of origin and bacterial strain) were selected to proceed with further experiments. These four bacteriophages were chosen to cover the range of phage sources, host susceptibilities and adequate phage titres (pfu/ml). The initial titre of these four bacteriophages is presented in Table 4-3.

Table 0-2. Bacteriophage host specificity against ten experimental *A. hydrophila* host strains. ($\sqrt{}$) indicates positive result (clear plaque formation)

Source of	Strai	ns								
phage	Ah1	Ah2	Ah3	Ah4	Ah5	Ah6	Ah7	Ah8	Ah9	Ah10
Sewage (Se)										
Bolivar (PP)										
Bolivar (S)	\checkmark									
Bolivar (C)										
Glenelg (G)						\checkmark				

Table 0-3. Titre of the selected bacteriophages and their plaque diameter

Bacteriophage	Titre (pfu/ml)	Titre (Log10 pfu/ml)	Phage plaque diameter
Ah6_G	$1.27 imes 10^9$	9.10	0.5 mm
Ah9_PP	2×10^9	9.30	0.1 mm
Ah10_Se	$1.8 imes10^9$	9.26	0.5 mm
Ah10_S	$1.4 imes 10^9$	9.15	0.5 mm

4.3.3. Identification of bacteriophages

4.3.3.1. Morphological observation

Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) was used to characterise and classify (Murphy, 1995, Ackermann, 2007, Fauquet et al., 2005) the selected bacteriophages based on their morphological features. The morphological view of the four bacteriophages in TEM images showed that they are all non-enveloped viruses. Three of four bacteriophages (Ah6_G, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S) were long tailed phages whereas Ah9_PP was short tailed. All four bacteriophages fall into the order *Caudovirales* and the presence of an

icosahedral head and long non-contractile tail would place three bacteriophages (Ah6_G, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S) in the *Siphoviridae* family. Another phage Ah9_PP possesses an icosahedral head and a short tail belongs to the viral family *Podoviridae* (Figure 4-2). Table 4-4 illustrates morphological description of four isolated bacteriophages and their respective families where they belong to.



Figure 0-2. Transmission electron microscope view of four bacteriophages isolated and used in this study. [a] – Ah6_G; [b] – Ah9_PP; [c] – Ah10_Se and [d] – Ah10_S.

4.3.3.2. Organisation of nucleic acids of the isolated bacteriophages

The nucleic acids extracted from each of the four bacteriophages were treated with S1 Nuclease which is capable of cutting single stranded (ss) DNA or RNA. After S1 Nuclease treatment, gel electrophoresis did not reveal any small fragments of nucleic acid indicating the phage genome is double stranded (ds). Treatment of phage nucleic acids with RNase A did not reveal any fragments of nucleic acid, indicating the phage nucleic acid, the four bacteriophages must possess double stranded DNA. Subsequently restriction endonuclease, BamHI digestion was performed on the phage nucleic acid. After BamHI digestion the agarose gels exhibited bands greater than 10 kb in size indicating each of the phages have genomes exceeding 10 kb of ds DNA (Figure 4-3).

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
						11111111 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	11111111111111		-						1	1	1			1010111111111	14 1			3	
						$[\mathbf{A}]$													$[\mathbf{R}]$						

Figure 0-3. Gel image of the nucleic acids of the four isolated bacteriophages after digestion with three different enzymes (S1 Nuclease, RNase A and BamHI). [A] -Enzyme treated nucleic acids from bacteriophages Ah6_G and Ah9_PP. Lane 1 and 13 hyper ladder; lane 2 and 8 - 1 kb molecular marker; lane 7 - 100 bp molecular marker; lane 3 – untreated Ah6_G phage nucleic acid; lane 4 – Ah6_G nucleic acid digested with S1 Nuclease; lane 5 – Ah6_G nucleic acid digested with RNase A; lane 6 – Ah6_G nucleic acid digested with BamHI; lane 9 - untreated Ah9_PP phage nucleic acid; lane 10 - Ah9_PP nucleic acid digested with S1 Nuclease; lane 11 - Ah9_PP nucleic acid digested with RNase A; lane 12 – Ah9_PP nucleic acid digested with BamHI. [B] – Enzyme treated nucleic acids from bacteriophages Ah10_Se and Ah10_S. Lane 1 and 13 - hyper ladder; lane 2 and 8 - 1 kb molecular marker; lane 7 - 100 bp molecular marker; lane 3 – untreated Ah10_Se phage nucleic acid; lane 4 – Ah10_Se nucleic acid digested with S1 Nuclease; lane 5 – Ah10SeG nucleic acid digested with RNase A; lane 6 – Ah10_Se nucleic acid digested with BamHI; lane 9 – untreated Ah10_S phage nucleic acid; lane 10 – Ah10_S nucleic acid digested with S1 Nuclease; lane 11 – Ah10_S nucleic acid digested with RNase A; lane 12 - Ah10_S nucleic acid digested with BamHI.

Racterionhage	St	ructure	Siz	<u>re (nm)</u>	Nucleic	Family
Dacteriophage	50	lucture	51		acid	Family
Ah6_G	a.	Head:	a.	Head diameter:	dsDNA	Siphoviridae
		Icosahedral		60-67 nm		(Head: about
	b.	Tail: Long,	b.	Tail length: 200-		60 nm; tail:
		non-contractile		240 nm		about 150 nm)
		and thin				
Ah9_PP	a.	Head:	a.	Head diameter:	dsDNA	Podoviridae
		Icosahedral		56-66 nm		(Head: About
	b.	Tail: short	b.	Tail length: 17-20		63 nm; tail:
				nm		about 17 nm)
Ah10_Se	a.	Head:	a.	Head diameter:	dsDNA	Siphoviridae
		Icosahedral		73-77 nm		(Head: about
	b.	Tail: Long,	b.	Tail length: 235-		60 nm; tail:
		non-contractile		265 nm		about 150 nm)
		and thin				
Ah10_S	a.	Head:	a.	Head diameter:	dsDNA	Siphoviridae
		Icosahedral		75-86 nm		(Head: about
	b.	Tail: Long,	b.	Tail length: 220-		60 nm; tail:
		non-contractile		260 nm		about 150 nm)
		and thin				

Table 0-4. Morphological description of the four bacteriophages as well as the families where they belong to depending on the morphology and their genomic material

4.3.4. Lytic ability of the selected bacteriophages

When each of the bacterial strains were grown in TSB broths, they demonstrated typical bacterial growth curves (OD_{600} vs time) as observed in the control plots. As soon as the respective bacteriophages were added to the bacterial cultures, limited growth was observed as lysis of the hosts was greater than the rate growth of the bacteria (Figure 4-4). These growth curves confirm the lytic ability of the four selected bacteriophages to grow in their host cells and subsequently kill the host bacteria.



Figure 0-4. Bacterial growth curves of cultures infected with bacteriophages compared with the control group. [a] – Ah6 bacterial strain infected with Ah6_G; [b] – Ah9 bacterial strain infected with Ah9_PP; [c] – Ah10 bacterial strain infected with Ah10_Se; and [d] – Ah10 bacterial strain infected with Ah10_Se; and [d] – Ah10 bacterial strain infected with Ah10_Se; are mean of triplicate observations of OD₆₀₀. Error bars represent standard error of mean. Some error bars are too small to be visible.

4.4. Discussion

Bacteriophage therapy is gaining interest in aquaculture industries as a tool to control bacterial infections in an attempt to limit the widespread use of antibiotics. Studies on bacteriophages against *A. hydrophila* are of interest, with isolation and characterization of these phages as a first step to transition to use it as a therapeutic in aquaculture. In the present study we isolated some lytic *A. hydrophila* bacteriophages from different water sources (sewage and raw waste water effluent) and characterized them with a view to using them in controlling aeromoniasis in teleost fish.

To test that the bacterial hosts used in this study are suitable for isolation of bacteriophages, a prophage induction assay was carried out. Mitomycin C (MMC) is a

known chemical agent which is used for the prophage induction in bacteria. It is used to assess the occurrence of lysogenic integration of the viral genome within the bacterial genome (Silva et al., 2014b, Weinbauer and Suttle, 1999). It has been reported previously that a lysogenized bacterial host body tends to protect itself from infection with another closely related bacteriophage (Seed, 2015). Thus, phages which showed lytic plaques in this study were not the same as the lysogenic phages carried in their host genome. Moreover, it is well known that lytic bacteriophages (capable of producing clear plaque on agar plate) are more suitable to use for therapeutic purpose (Rao and Lalitha, 2015). Therefore, in this study environmentally available bacteriophages producing clear plaques were identified and selected for further study.

Bacteriophages can be isolated from anywhere in the environment where their respective host bacteria are present (Nakai and Park, 2002). A complex microbiota commonly resides in sewage water as it is sourced from different contamination-prone places including hospital drainage water (Piracha et al., 2014). This study also isolated phages from sewage and different waste water samples. Some other studies however utilised both fresh and marine water sources such as river water or sea water for the isolation of *A*. *hydrophila* bacteriophages (Cao et al., 2019, Easwaran et al., 2016, Jun et al., 2013). Another study described the isolation of *A*. *hydrophila* bacteriophage (AHP-1) from a mixture of tissue samples of a Crucian carp fish (Chandrarathna et al., 2020).

The first bacteriophages active against *Aeromonas* sp. were first reported by Bradley (1965). After that, the isolation and characterization of *A. hydrophila* bacteriophages have been described in a number of studies (Wu et al., 1981, Chow and Rouf, 1983, Merino et al., 1990a, Merino et al., 1990b, Cao et al., 2019, Yuan et al., 2018, Kazimierczak et al., 2019, Shen et al., 2012, Wang et al., 2016, Hoang et al., 2019). However, few studies described the protective abilities and *in vivo* application of these bacteriophages in fish (Akmal et al., 2020, Jun et al., 2013, Le et al., 2018, Hsu et al., 2000).

The present study isolated and evaluated the bacteriophage host range against ten different *A. hydrophila* strains. Wu et al. (1981) isolated eight bacteriophages active against one *A. hydrophila* but they provided detailed information on only one of these phages and their study did not include any description of the classification of their bacteriophage. Chow and Rouf (1983) reported two different bacteriophages Aeh1 and Aeh2, which were isolated from two different strains of *A. hydrophila*. In their study

phage Aeh1 was found to be active against eleven different *A. hydrophila* strains; whereas Aeh2 infected only its original host strain. Subsequently in this study Ah6_G, Ah9_PP, Ah10_S were found to infect three different *A. hydrophila* strains and Ah10_Se was found to infect only two. Later in 1990, two more *A. hydrophila* bacteriophages PM2 and PM3 were reported by Merino and co-workers (Merino et al., 1990a, Merino et al., 1990b). They found bacteriophages PM2 and PM3 were active against sixteen and seven different *A. hydrophila* host strains respectively. Another study reported by Jun et al. (2013) also used a wide range of bacterial isolates from different water sources. In contrast to these studies, some more recent studies on *A. hydrophila* isolation performed by Yuan et al. (2018), Cao et al. (2019) and Akmal et al. (2020) described the use of only one *A. hydrophila* strain for phage isolation. Nevertheless, to obtain higher bacteriophage efficacy in therapeutic purpose, it is recommended to use a cocktail/mixture of bacteriophages isolated from a wider range of bacterial isolates (Burrowes et al., 2011, Lu and Koeris, 2011).

The bacteriophages described in this study were lytic as they exhibited clear plaques of 0.1-0.5 mm diameter on TSB agar plates at 28 °C. In contrast to the phages in this study, some *A. hydrophila* bacteriophages have also been reported to be able to exhibit plaques at a higher temperature (37 °C) (Merino et al., 1990a, Merino et al., 1990b). However, it would be of interest to investigate further about the thermal stability of the isolated bacteriophages as it could be useful for bacteriophage application in different environments as well as to determine phage shelf life.

Endonuclease digestion with RNase A, S1 Nuclease and BamHI was conducted in this study to classify the bacteriophages based on their molecular characteristics and to determine their molecular size. Some previous studies (Phumkhachorn and Rattanachaikunsopon, 2010, Vinod et al., 2006) reported that *Siphoviridae* bacteriophages possess double stranded DNA and are larger than 10 kb. The enzyme digestion in this study also revealed similar results which confirms their family as *Siphoviridae*. The genome size of the podovirus described in the present study is consistent with the studies done by Wang et al. (2016), Cao et al. (2019) and Kazimierczak et al. (2019).

Transmission electron microscope (TEM) was used in this study to classify the bacteriophages based on their morphological analysis. The phage Ah6_G, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S morphologies described in this study are consistent with the morphology of
Siphoviridae phages described by Yuan et al. (2018) and Akmal et al. (2020). The TEM images of phage Ah9_PP revealed that this phage possesses an icosahedral head with a short tail (more like T7 phage). The head morphology and diameter (56-66 nm) and tail length of this phage is consistent with the phages belonging to the *Podoviridae* family (Murphy, 1995). A recent study by Kazimierczak et al. (2019) described five new *Podoviridae* phages specific for *A. hydrophila*. Other two *A. hydrophila* podoviruses were reported by Wang et al. (2016) and Cao et al. (2019). However, the isolated *A. hydrophila* bacteriophages of the present study require further genomic analyses to confirm their position as novel bacteriophage in the bacteriophage group.

4.5. Conclusion

This study reports the characteristics of bacteriophages that can kill a fish pathogen (*Aeromonas hydrophila*). The findings from this study provide a preliminary data for use in developing a bacterial control strategy for *Aeromonas* sp. infection using bacteriophages. However, more detailed characteristics at genomic level of the isolated bacteriophages are still required in order to understand phage-host interactions as well as for the assessment of the protective effect of lytic bacteriophages in designing future therapeutic models. The isolated bacteriophages in this study showed strong lytic potential against different strains of *A. hydrophila*, thus providing a sound basis for investigating their therapeutic potential for the control of *A. hydrophila* infection in fish.

Chapter 5. Whole genome sequencing of four selected *Aeromonas hydrophila* bacteriophages

5.1. Introduction

Aeromonas hydrophila, an opportunistic, Gram negative, ubiquitous, rod shaped, nonspore forming, facultative anaerobic bacterium is known to cause various diseases in different aquatic organisms and can be readily isolated from a number of fresh and saline aquatic habitats, human foods and from drinking water (Alavandi et al., 1998, Pablos et al., 2010, Wang et al., 2016, Anand et al., 2016). The most common diseases caused by this pathogen are: motile Aeromonas septicaemia (MAS), haemorrhagic septicaemia, red sore disease, tissue swelling, scale protrusion and different ulcerative diseases which result in high mortality rates in aquatic organisms within aquaculture industries worldwide (Wang et al., 2016, Jun et al., 2015, Easwaran et al., 2016). A. hydrophila have also been reported to exhibit a number of virulence factors e.g. cytotoxin production in the environment and in humans (Easwaran et al., 2016, Roges et al., 2020, Wu et al., 2019). To combat A. hydrophila infection in aquaculture, commercial antibiotics have been used extensively which has caused the emergence of multidrug resistance within this species (Jun et al., 2010, Cao et al., 2012). The emergence of multidrug resistance has driven the search for alternative strategies to control bacterial infections in aquaculture. Among these strategies, bacteriophage (or phage) therapy is considered a promising technology (Abedon et al., 2011).

Phages are unique amongst the alternative antimicrobial agents as they are environment friendly and host specific, eventually killing the host pathogen with minimal impact on other non-target bacteria or the host animal. They replicate only with the presence of their host bacterium (Li et al., 2012, Petrovski et al., 2012). They have already become well accepted worldwide and reported as a potential antimicrobial agent against a number of bacterial pathogens (Zhu et al., 2010). Phages can be a tool for the detection of different food and animal borne bacterial pathogens from the environment (Easwaran et al., 2016). Recently research on phage therapy against *A. hydrophila* has become a focus (Le et al., 2018). Some successful applications of *A. hydrophila* phages for therapeutic purposes against virulent strains in experimental fish models have been reported (Jun et al., 2013).

Other than therapeutic potential, phages play a key role in various ecological processes by structuring and balancing natural bacterial community, by maintaining genetic diversity of the bacteria (Wang et al., 2004, Mann, 2005, Weinbauer and Rassoulzadegan, 2004).

With the advancement of understanding phage genomics, some questions have arisen regarding the co-existence of phages, their hosts and their evolution. Some potential drawbacks associated with the use of phages has also come into focus. Due to lysogenic conversion, phages have been reported to transfer resistance and virulence genes between bacterial pathogens (Modi et al., 2013, Vincent et al., 2017). Hence, phage genomic investigations would aid to fully understand the mechanism of how phages interact with bacteria, the properties and functions of the phage genomes and their potential in expressing targeted virulent genes. However, despite the abundance and diversity of phages within the biosphere, only a small fraction of phage genomes are available in public sequence databases (Vincent et al., 2017). Therefore, research is still being carried out to better understand phage-bacteria interaction and the potential of phages to control bacterial infection in aquatic organisms.

Recently whole genome sequencing of phages has become a pivotal tool in analysing and understanding phage biology. Whole genome sequencing serves as a reliable platform to understand and compare the genes responsible for both beneficial and detrimental characteristics (Blattner et al., 1997). Phage genome analysis can help select the appropriate phage to use for prophylactic and therapeutic purpose (Carrias et al., 2011). The small size and relatively simple structure of phage genomes makes it simpler to carry out genome analysis and genetic alterations (Zhu et al., 2010, Hatfull, 2008). Before the work described herein, 29 complete genomic sequences of phages specific for *A. hydrophila* had been reported and deposited in GenBank (Yuan et al., 2018, Akmal et al., 2020, Bai et al., 2019, Kazimierczak et al., 2019, Wang et al., 2021, Cheng et al., 2021, Jin et al., 2020).

For developing a therapeutic tool using bacteriophages to combat *A. hydrophila* infection in fish (with silver perch as a model), four phages were isolated from different waste water treatment plants and sewage tanks and differentiated based on their nucleic acid digestion with restriction enzymes; transmission electron microscopic images and host susceptibility. Their original nomenclature, based on place of origin and bacterial strain, was Ah6_G, Ah9_PP, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S. Of the four phages, Ah6_G, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S were initially classified within the *Siphoviridae* family because of their long noncontractile tail and capsid diameter, while Ah9_PP was classified as belonging to *Podoviridae* family based on TEM images. In order to fully understand the genetic basis and phylogenetic affiliation of these bacteriophages, a full genome sequence analysis is helpful. Therefore, whole genome sequencing was conducted to understand their relationships, adaptive evolution, biodiversity, potential virulence and presence of any toxin genes. The results presented here demonstrate that we have isolated two types of phages, one completely novel.

5.2. Materials and methods

5.2.1. Bacteriophages

The DNA of the four isolated bacteriophage samples (Ah6_G, Ah9_PP, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S) described in the Chapter 4 were used for the present study. The details of the phage isolation, purification and preparation are described in the section 3.2.1 of chapter 3.

5.2.2. Bacteriophage propagation

The propagation or enrichment of four phages using PEG precipitation was followed by the methods described by Castro-Mejía et al. (2015) and Dong et al. (2013) with some modifications. Initially 10 ml of each phage stock solution was mixed with their respective overnight grown A. hydrophila strain (OD₆₀₀ 0.2) and then incubated at 28 °C for 30-60 min at 110 rpm. The cultures were then centrifuged at $3200 \times g$ for 10 min at 4 °C in 50 ml Falcon tubes. The supernatants were discarded and the pellets resuspended in 300 ml fresh TSB medium. The cultures were then grown in a shaker incubator for 16-20 h at 28 °C and 150 – 180 rpm. Following incubation the cultures were centrifuged at 17,700 $\times g$ in a Beckman centrifuge at 4 °C for 10 min. The supernatants (300 ml) were filtered through 0.45 µm syringe filters, precipitated by adding 75 ml (1:4) of PEG solution and incubated overnight at 4 °C. The next day, the phage mixtures were centrifuged at 17,700 $\times g$ in a Beckman centrifuge at 4 °C for 10 min. Supernatants were discarded, the pellets resuspended in 100 ml PBS, and precipitated by adding 25 ml (1:4) of PEG solution. The mixtures were incubated for 2 h at 4 °C. After incubation the phage mixtures were centrifuged at 17,700 $\times g$ in a Beckman centrifuge at 4 °C for 10 min and the supernatants discarded. The pellets were resuspended in a total of 20 ml PBS and precipitated by adding 5 ml (1:4) of PEG solution. After 1 h of incubation at 4 °C, the cultures were centrifuged at $3200 \times g$ for 10 min at 4 °C and the pellets resuspended with same volume (or less) of PBS to obtain the final precipitated phage solution. The phage titre was estimated by serially diluting the phage preparations 10-fold in PBS.

5.2.3. Bacteriophage genomic DNA extraction and purification

The intact bacteriophage genome was extracted for whole genome sequencing. The DNA was extracted and purified using QIAamp® DNA Mini Kit (QIAGEN) to obtain high yield DNA concentration. The DNA was separated by agarose gel electrophoresis using a 0.8% agarose gel in Tris Borate EDTA (TBE) buffer at 90 V. DNA concentration was checked using a NanoDrop® Spectrophotometer (ND-1000) and Agilent Technologies 2200 TapeStation. Phage DNA was further purified using GeneRead Size Selection Kit (QIAGEN) to obtain the specific DNA length.

5.2.4. Sequencing

Illumina Nextera libraries were made from each DNA samples and sequenced on an Illumina MiSeq.

5.2.5. Bioinformatics analyses

The 2x 100nt Illumina short reads were *de novo* assembled with Unicycler (Wick et al., 2017), which uses Spades for assembly (Bankevich et al., 2012) and Pilon for polishing (Chen et al., 2021). Genomes (scaffolds) were visualized and separated using Bandage (Wick et al., 2015). The genomes were compared to all known sequences using BLAST, looking for short regions of similarity. Genomes showing a high and extensive level of similarity to phage Ahp1 (KT949345) were compared to each other and to Ahp1 using LASTZ, to identify extended regions in common. Genomes showing very little similarity to any other known sequence were compared to each other using LASTZ.

All genomes were annotated using tools on the PATRIC website (Wattam et al., 2014). To identify protein coding sequences (CDSs) missed by the PATRIC tools and to compare CDSs from similar phage, in-house R scripts (R-3.3.3) were used.

The genomes were uploaded to NCBI database and contain the BioProject accession number PRJNA803069.

5.3. Results

5.3.1. Short read assembly using Illumina

When genomes were assembled from each sample using Unicycler and compared to all known sequences, it became apparent that two different types of phage were present. All four samples contained an Ahp1-like circular phage, but two samples, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S, also contained a novel linear phage. The Ahp1-like genomes ranged in length from 41.4 to 47.4 kb, and the novel phage from 61.2 to 61.3 kb (Table 5-1).

Sample	Bacteriophage	Category	Length	No. of	Identity
			(bp)	contigs	with Ahp1
Ah6_G	Ah6_G_C	Ahp1-like circular phage	47,360	9	85.6 %
Ah9_PP	Ah9_PP_C	Ahp1-like circular phage	41,428	1	85.3 %
Ah10_Se	Ah10_Se_C	Ahp1-like circular phage	41,859	13	85.8 %
Ah10_S	Ah10_S_C	Ahp1-like circular phage	44,947	12	85.4 %
Ah10_Se	Ah10_Se_L	Novel linear phage	61,173	1	
Ah10_S	Ah10_S_L	Novel linear phage	61,337	1	

Table 5-1. Summary details of assembled bacteriophages

5.3.2. Ahp1-like bacteriophages

The four circular Ahp1-like phages were found to be similar to each other and to Ahp1 over most of their genomes. Their identity (%) with Ahp1 is shown in Table 5-1. Alignments of each phage against Ahp1 are presented in Figure 5-1. And the details of the four Ahp1-like phage contigs and their coverage are presented in Table 5-2.



Figure 5-1. Sequence plots showing the alignments of phage Ah6_G and Ah9_PP against phage Ahp1 ([a] & [b] respectively).



Figure 5-2. Sequence plots showing the alignments of phage Ah10_Se and Ah10_S against phage Ahp1 ([c] & [d] respectively).

Sample	Bacteriophage	Contig	Length	Coverage
Ah6_G	Ah6_G_C	NODE1+	24,240	1.00
	Ah6_G_C	NODE2+	9,850	1.80
	Ah6_G_C	NODE3+	5,304	0.24
	Ah6_G_C	NODE4+	5,287	0.77
	Ah6_G_C	NODE5+	716	0.90
	Ah6_G_C	NODE6+	716	0.39
	Ah6_G_C	NODE7+	551	0.91
	Ah6_G_C	NODE8+	551	0.48
	Ah6_G_C	NODE9+	145	1.36
Ah9_PP	Ah9_PP_C	NODE1+	41,428	1.00
Ah10_Se	Ah10_Se_C	NODE2+	29,157	14.46
	Ah10_Se_C	NODE3+	10,055	26.42
	Ah10_Se_C	NODE4+	355	10.08
	Ah10_Se_C	NODE5+	355	9.29
	Ah10_Se_C	NODE6+	308	7.37
	Ah10_Se_C	NODE7+	308	9.65
	Ah10_Se_C	NODE8+	283	8.51
	Ah10_Se_C	NODE9+	267	15.01
	Ah10_Se_C	NODE10+	241	4.05
	Ah10_Se_C	NODE11+	166	8.33
	Ah10_Se_C	NODE12+	166	10.29
	Ah10_Se_C	NODE13+	145	17.90
	Ah10_Se_C	NODE14+	53	18.75
Ah10_S	Ah10_S_C	NODE2+	20,891	40.13
	Ah10_S_C	NODE3+	12,167	39.68
	Ah10_S_C	NODE4+	2,988	36.52
	Ah10_S_C	NODE5+	1,901	10.53
	Ah10_S_C	NODE6+	1,900	38.95
	Ah10_S_C	NODE7+	1,580	38.03
	Ah10_S_C	NODE8+	890	28.33
	Ah10_S_C	NODE9+	890	13.36
	Ah10_S_C	NODE10+	609	21.45
	Ah10_S_C	NODE11+	609	17.82
	Ah10_S_C	NODE12+	261	21.19
	Ah10_S_C	NODE13+	261	20.32

Table 5-2. Contigs of the four Ahp1-like phages and their length and coverage

5.3.3. Novel linear bacteriophages

The two novel phages were found to be similar – $Ah10_Se_L$ is 97.1% identical to $Ah10_S_L$ and $Ah10_S_L$ is 96.8% identical to $Ah10_Se_L$.

The CDS analysis of the two novel phages revealed that the coding sequence (CDS) counts were 75 and 73 for Ah10_Se_L and Ah10_S_L phages respectively. The functions of these CDSs are largely unknown (hypothetical proteins) with a few encoding proteins responsible for different phage structures (Table 5-3).



Figure 5-3. LASTZ alignments of phage Ah10_Se_L vs Ah10_S_L (* marks end of sequences).

Function	Count
Hypothetical protein	67
Phage protein	2
ABC-type Fe3+-hydroxamate transport system, periplasmic component	1
DNA polymerase I	1
Magnesium and cobalt efflux protein CorC	1
Phage capsid and scaffold	1
Phage head, head-tail preconnector protease C / Phage head, scaffolding domain	1
Nu3	
Phage head, terminase DNA packaging protein A	1
Phage tail, component Z	1
putative DNA adenine methylase	1

5.3.4. BLAST results for each CDS of Ah10_Se_L and Ah10_S_L phages

5.3.4.1. Pairwise comparison

Matching CDSs across the novel genomes using protein function as a unique identifier was not possible because very few had an assigned protein function. Therefore, to find matching CDSs between the genomes, all CDSs for one phage were compared to all CDSs for the other by using BLAST, a total of 5475 comparisons. Examples of these BLAST results are given in Table 5-4.

For each CDS, there is usually only one comparison that shows high similarity across the majority of their sequence. For example for Ah10_S_L CDS 426.peg.1, only Ah10_Se_L CDS 427.peg.2 shows homology over more than a few percent of its length. This approach allowed the identification of the CDSs of two novel phages that are homologous to each other. Further examples of highly similar comparisons are given in Table 5-5.

Query	Subject	Query	Subject	Identity	Length	Mismatch	Gaps	Query	Query	Subject	Subject
genome	genome	sequence ID	sequence ID					start	end	start	end
Ah10_S_L	Ah10_Se_L	426.peg.1	427.peg.2	88.6%	656	75	0	1	656	1	656
Ah10_S_L	Ah10_Se_L	426.peg.1	427.peg.48	94.4%	18	1	0	515	532	1196	1179
Ah10_S_L	Ah10_Se_L	426.peg.1	427.peg.48	93.3%	15	1	0	75	89	458	472
Ah10_S_L	Ah10_Se_L	426.peg.1	427.peg.48	100.0%	12	0	0	149	160	905	916
Ah10_S_L	Ah10_Se_L	426.peg.1	427.peg.3	100.0%	15	0	0	359	373	700	686
Ah10_S_L	Ah10_Se_L	426.peg.1	427.peg.3	77.4%	31	7	0	528	558	843	873
Ah10_S_L	Ah10_Se_L	426.peg.1	427.peg.3	90.0%	20	1	1	277	295	1285	1266

Table 5-4. BLAST results for each CDS*

Query function	Subject	Query	Subject	Query	Subject	Query	Subject	Fraction
	iunction	length	length	length	iuli length	Iraction	Iraction	product
ABC-type Fe3+-hydroxamate	Hypothetical	656	656	657	657	0.998	0.998	0.997
ABC type Eo3 hydroxemate	Uupothatical	19	19	657	1422	0.027	0.013	0.000
transport system	Typothetical	10	10	037	1422	0.027	0.015	0.000
ABC-type Fe3+-hydroxamate	Hypothetical	15	15	657	1422	0.023	0.011	0.000
transport system								
ABC-type Fe3+-hydroxamate	Hypothetical	12	12	657	1422	0.018	0.008	0.000
transport system								
ABC-type Fe3+-hydroxamate	Hypothetical	15	15	657	1428	0.023	0.011	0.000
transport system								
ABC-type Fe3+-hydroxamate	Hypothetical	31	31	657	1428	0.047	0.022	0.001
transport system								
ABC-type Fe3+-hydroxamate	Hypothetical	19	20	657	1428	0.029	0.014	0.000
transport system								

* Not all columns shown, some truncated, some removed

Query	Subject	Query	Subject	Identity	Length	Mismatch	Gaps	Query	Query	Subject	Subject
genome	genome	sequence ID	sequence ID					start	end	start	end
Ah10_S_L	Ah10_Se_L	426.peg.1	427.peg.2	88.6%	656	75	0	1.0	656	1	656
Ah10_S_L	Ah10_Se_L	426.peg.2	427.peg.3	70.4%	1443	359	32	1.0	1409	1196	1179
Ah10_S_L	Ah10_Se_L	426.peg.3	427.peg.4	90.1%	496	47	2	1.0	495	458	472
Ah10_S_L	Ah10_Se_L	426.peg.4	427.peg.5	90.6%	438	41	0	1.0	438	905	916
Ah10_S_L	Ah10_Se_L	426.peg.5	427.peg.6	87.0%	679	86	2	1.0	678	700	686
Ah10_S_L	Ah10_Se_L	426.peg.6	427.peg.7	91.5%	199	17	0	1.0	199	843	873
Ah10_S_L	Ah10_Se_L	426.peg.7	427.peg.8	99.3%	1062	7	0	1.0	1062	1285	1266

Table 5-5. Top BLAST results for each CDS

Query function	Subject function	Query length	Subject length	Query full length	Subject full length	Query fraction	Subject fraction	Fraction product
ABC-type Fe3+-hydroxamate	Hypothetical	656	656	657	657	0.998	0.998	0.997
transport system								
Hypothetical	Hypothetical	1409	1409	1998	1428	0.705	0.987	0.696
Hypothetical	Hypothetical	495	495	495	495	1.000	1.000	1.000
Hypothetical	Hypothetical	438	438	438	438	1.000	1.000	1.000
Hypothetical	Hypothetical	678	678	678	678	1.000	1.000	1.000
Hypothetical	Hypothetical	199	199	201	201	0.990	0.990	0.980
Hypothetical	Hypothetical	1062	1062	1062	1062	1.000	1.000	1.000

5.3.4.2. Consolidation of CDS BLAST comparisons

There are 77 unique CDSs across the two linear phages. Table 5-6 shows a simplified comparison between the linearly arranged CDSs of two phages, highlighting differences. Out of 71 shared CDSs, 68 CDSs have > 80% identity over > 98% of their lengths while the remaining 3 CDSs are less similar over a shorter length. These remaining 3 CDSs, not only the sequences are substantially different lengthwise but also they do not have much protein matching at all (Table 5-7), given the fact that they are effectively the same protein but they may have been diverged from their ancestral protein coding sequences.

Two pairs of CDSs (CDS 24/75 and 32/76) are similar in position but show little sequence similarity. However, CDSs 24/75 do share 12 identical amino acids at their 5' ends and CDSs 32/76 share 5 of the last 6 amino acids at their 3' ends (Table 5-8).

Ah10_Se_L CDS 74 is the most 5' CDS in this genome and appears truncated, suggesting the assembly may not be complete. It did not have a cognate in Ah10_S_L. Examination of the Ah10_S_L sequence revealed 38 bp of homology to the 3' end of Ah10_Se_L CDS 74, 13 bp from the 5' end of the genome. This suggests that either the CDS in Ah10_S_L has been truncated or like Ah10_Se_L, the assembly is not complete (Table 5-9).

Ah10_Se_L CDS 77 comprises 126 bp and located at about 1/3 position along the genome. This CDS did not have a cognate in Ah10_S_L, but comparison of DNA sequences revealed a perfect match in the appropriate position in Ah10_S_L (Table 5-10). It is unclear why the PATRIC tools failed to report this CDS. This increases the number of matching CDSs to 72.

CDS ID	Function	Ah10_S_L	Ah10_Se_L	Ah10_S_L	Ah10_Se_L
		ID	ID	Length*	Length*
CDSID 1	Hypothetical	426.peg.1	427.peg.2	218	218
			•••	•••	
CDSID 23	Hypothetical	426.peg.23	427.peg.24	111	111
CDSID 24	Hypothetical	426.peg.24		169	
CDSID 75	Hypothetical	10	427.peg.25		225
CDSID 25	Hypothetical	426.peg.25	427.peg.26	77	77
•••	•••	•••	•••	•••	•••
CDSID 31	Hypothetical	426.peg.31	427.peg.32	118	118
CDSID 32	Hypothetical	426.peg.32		98	
CDSID 76	Hypothetical	1 0	427.peg.33		101
CDS ID	Hypothetical	426.peg.33	427.peg.34	226	226
33	11) p =		,.p.8.e		
CDSID 73	Hypothetical	426.peg.73	427.peg.75	61	61
		10	10		
 CDSID 74	 Hypothetical	 Truncated	 642 427 peg	•••	51
CDSID /4	Typothetical	Tuncated	.1		51
CDSID 77	Hypothetical	Present	642.427 peg		41
	1.jpoinerieu	1 resent	43		11
*Protein					lengt

Table 5-6. BLAST comparisons between the CDSs of Ah10_S_L and Ah10_Se_L

*Protein

length

Query functi	ion Subj	ect function	Qu	ery	Subjec	et	Query full	Subject full	Query	Subject	Fraction
			len	gth	length		length	length	fraction	fraction	product
Hypothetical	Нуро	othetical	140)9	1409		1998	1428	0.705	0.987	0.696
Hypothetical	Нуро	othetical	987	7	987		1389	1461	0.711	0.676	0.480
Hypothetical	Нуро	othetical	114	ŀ	114		114	222	1.000	0.514	0.514
Table 5-8. CI	OSs details	of the match	ing pairs	(CDS II	D 24/75 a	nd 32/76)					
Genome	CDS ID	PEG	Start	Stop	Strand	Length	Protein				
Ah10_S_L	24	426.peg.24	13658	14167	+	510	MSTNAV	IALTPEALNV	LFPEGSEA	ARVELQ	
Ah10_Se_L	75	427.peg.25	13184	13861	+	678	MSTNAV	IALTPESVGH	TLKGMYR	RSFQQCG	
Ah10_S_L	32	426.peg.32	18314	18610	+	297	VAINA	AIKDVIDKEC	θL		
Ah10_Se_L	76	427.peg.33	18008	18313	+	306	DRAWA	AAVRTAIDEE	EGL		

Table 5-7. Comparison of the 3 matching CDSs of the two linear phages showing less similarity

Table 5-9. Analysis of CDS 74 in Ah10_Se_L

Genome	CDS ID	PEG	Start	Stop	Strand	l Length]	Protein	
Ah10_Se_L	74	427.peg.1	1	156	+	156	ALAY	EKAAWNTSE	FVRSCYFFF	KQKTAYE
Query	Query ID	Subject	Ide	ntity	Length	Mismatch	Gaps	Subject start	Subject end	Subject strand
Ah10_Se_L	427.peg.1	Ah10_S_	L 92	.1%	38	3	0	13	50	+

Table 5-10. Analysis of CDS 77 in Ah10_Se_L

Genome	CDS ID	PEG	Start	Stop	Strand	Length	Protein
Ah10_Se_L	77	427.peg.43	24392	24517	+	126	MPSGKGPGLRKAVPPTTTDTKKDKKKDKQRKDEK
							VSPDSKG

Query	Query ID	Subject	Identity	Length	Mismatch	Gaps	Subject start	Subject end	Subject strand
Ah10_Se_L	427.peg.43	Ah10_S_L	100%	126	0	0	24617	24742	+

5.3.4.3. Summary of the two linear phage CDS comparison

Overall these results can be summarized as:

- 72 CDSs are matched in the two linear phages
 - DNA identity and length of matches vary in some cases but are substantial
- 1 CDS was missed in Ah10_S_L because it is at the genome 5' end
 - 5' prime end of CDS appears to be truncated in Ah10_S_L
 - 38 bp match with 100% DNA identity
- 4 CDSs occupy approximately the same position but do not match
 - CDS 24/75 share 12 amino acids at their 5' prime ends
 - CDS 32/76 share 5-6 amino acids at their 3' prime ends.

5.4. Discussion

The present study examined complete genome sequencing of phages from four bacteriophage samples to investigate their genomic characteristics and similarity to known phages.

The assembly results showed that all four bacteriophages are similar to the genome sequence of Ahp1, but unexpectedly two bacteriophage samples, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S, also carried a novel linear phage. The complete genome sequencing of these four phages confirmed the fact that they possess dsDNA which was consistent with the results obtained from restriction enzymes digestion carried out earlier (Chapter 4).

From the restriction enzyme digestion and Transmission Electron Microscopy conducted in the preliminary experiments (Chapter 4), it was found that all phage samples Ah6_G, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S belong to the *Siphoviridae* family, whereas the feature phage Ah9_PP matches with *Podoviridae* family. The complete genome sequence of these four phages confirmed that the DNA sizes are consistent with the measurements of TEM and restriction enzyme digestion (Chapter 4).

A summary of the genomic features of *A. hydrophila* phage sequenced till date is collated in Table 5-11. Researchers have mainly used different Illumina platforms for sequencing and assembled the reads using various assembly tools (Table 5-11). Illumina sequencing is widely used despite its limitation of producing short reads that result in piecemeal genome assembly. Long read technologies such as those of Pacific Bioscience and Oxford Nanopore may offer an alternative approach for sequencing phage genome as this technology can read the full length of these phage genomes, obviating the issues with short read assembly. However, Oxford Nanopore sequencing has a much higher error rate than Illumina that appears to contain systematic errors, so hybrid assembly of both ONT and Illumina reads using a tool like Unicyler may provide the best quality genomes at a reasonable cost. Alternatively, Pacific Biosciences reads are somewhat more accurate but are more expensive (Wick et al., 2017).

In the previous reports, the genome size range of *A. hydrophila* phages of *Siphoviridae* family were observed to be approximately 112-115 Kb (Table 5-11). In contrast, the present study reports the genome size of phages Ah6_G, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S to be 47.36 Kb, 61.17 Kb and 61.34 Kb respectively. Hence, the sizes of *Siphoviridae* phage genomes observed in the present study are smaller than the other similar phages found in the literature. However, the genome size of *Podoviridae* phage Ah9_PP was found to be 41.43 Kb which is similar to the most of the *Podoviridae* phage genomes reported to date (Table 5-11).

All *A. hydrophila* phages belonging to *Siphoviridae* family reported so far contain linear dsDNA (Akmal et al., 2020, Bai et al., 2019, Yuan et al., 2018). However, in the present study, it was observed that the phage Ah6_G, which is a member of *Siphoviridae* possesses circular dsDNA. The *Podoviridae* phage Ah9_PP analysed in this study is a circular dsDNA phage in contrast to other *Podoviridae* which are mostly linear dsDNA phages, except MJG which has a circular genome (Cao et al., 2019) (Table 5-11).

For the two novel linear phage most of the encoded protein products have never been described before and their CDSs are listed as hypothetical, with only a few sufficiently similar to those present in databases to identify them (Table 5-3). Therefore, it was not possible to determine which CDSs are shared by the two novel phages, based on function. Therefore, a pairwise comparison was conducted using DNA BLAST to compare all the CDSs between the genomes of Ah10_Se_L and Ah10_S_L. The comparison revealed that most of the CDSs are homologous, but there are also substantial differences between them. These two phages were isolated from waste water samples from two different places. The fact that some CDSs are missing and/or do not match suggests the two phages may have originated from the same ancestor but that they have diverged substantially.

The ONT analysis revealed that the long read lengths were consistent with that of the Illumina short reads. When further attempt to partition the long reads were made to compare between the short read genomes, not enough reads were found to be partitioned. Therefore, no further work was carried out using ONT in the present study.

Name	Family	Туре	Size	Lytic/	DNA type	Sequencing and assembly	Accession	Reference
			(bp)	lysogenic		methods	no.	
Aeh1	Myoviridae	T4-like	233234	Lytic	ds, Linear	Sanger sequencing.	NC005260	(Petrov et al., 2006)
CC2	Myoviridae	T4-like	231743	Not reported	ds, Linear	454 GS-FLX Titanium Sequencing System (Roche).	JX123262	(Shen et al., 2012)
pAh6-C	Myoviridae		53744	Lytic	ds, Circular	Sanger sequencing and Next Generation Sequencing System (NGS: Ion PGM 314 sequencer.	KJ858521	(Jun et al., 2015)
AH1	Myoviridae		221116	Lytic	ds, Linear	IonTorrent Sequencing, GS <i>de novo</i> assembler version 2.6.	MG250483	Unpublished
50AhydR13PP	Myoviridae		164983	Lytic	ds, Linear	Illumina MiSeq sequencing, <i>de</i> <i>novo</i> assembly using CLC Genomic Workbench 7.5.	MH179476	(Kazimierczak et al., 2019)
60AhydR15PP	Myoviridae		165795	Lytic	ds, Linear	Illumina MiSeq sequencing, <i>de</i> <i>novo</i> assembly using CLC Genomic Workbench 7.5.	MH179477	(Kazimierczak et al., 2019)
85AhydR10PP	Myoviridae		47194	lysogenic	ds, Linear	Illumina MiSeq sequencing, <i>de</i> <i>novo</i> assembly using CLC Genomic Workbench 7.5.	MH179479	(Kazimierczak et al., 2019)
13AhydR10PP	Myoviridae		47828	lysogenic	ds, Linear	Illumina MiSeq sequencing, <i>de</i> <i>novo</i> assembly using CLC Genomic Workbench 7.5.	MH179470	(Kazimierczak et al., 2019)
14AhydR10PP	Myoviridae		48335	lysogenic	ds, Linear	Illumina MiSeq sequencing, <i>de</i> <i>novo</i> assembly using CLC Genomic Workbench 7.5.	MH179471	(Kazimierczak et al., 2019)
CF8	Myoviridae		238150	Lytic	ds, Linear	Illumina MiSeq sequencing, <i>de</i> <i>novo</i> assembly using SPAdes version 3.7.1.	MK774614	(Rai et al., 2020)
PS1	Myoviridae		237367	Lytic	ds, Linear	Illumina MiSeq sequencing, <i>de</i> <i>novo</i> assembly using SPAdes version 3.7.1.	MN032614	(Rai et al., 2020)
PS2	Myoviridae		240447	Lytic	ds, Linear	Illumina MiSeq sequencing, <i>de</i> <i>novo</i> assembly using SPAdes version 3.7.1.	MN453779	(Rai et al., 2020)
Ahp2	Myoviridae		47331	Lytic	ds, Linear	Illumina sequencing assembled with ABySS version 1.3.7.	KX455876	(Wang et al., 2021)

Table 5-11. Aeromonas hydrophila bacteriophages sequenced to date

Name	Family	Туре	Size (bn)	Lytic/ lysogenic	DNA type	Sequencing and assembly methods	Accession	Reference
AhyVDH1	Myoviridae		<u>39175</u>	Lytic	Linear	Illumina Hiseq assembled with	MT276994	(Cheng et al.,
AhSzq-1	Siphoviridae	T5virus	112558	Not reported	ds, Linear	SPAdes version 3.5.0. Illumina HiSeq1500 sequencer, <i>de</i> <i>novo</i> assembly using SOAP- denove	MG676224	2021) (Yuan et al., 2018)
AhSzw-1	Siphoviridae	T5virus	115739	Not reported	ds, Linear	Illumina HiSeq1500 sequencer, <i>de</i> <i>novo</i> assembly using SOAP- denove.	MG676225	(Yuan et al., 2018)
Akh-2	Siphoviridae		114901	Lytic	ds, Linear	Illumina HiSeq1500 sequencer, <i>de</i> <i>novo</i> assembly using Platanus version 1.2.2.	MK318083	(Akmal et al., 2020)
MJG	Podoviridae	Sp6virus	45057	Lytic	ds, Circular	Illumina MiSeq platform, assembled with SPAdes version 3.9.0.	MK455769	(Cao et al., 2019)
Ahp1	Podoviridae	phiKMV-like	42167	Lytic	ds, Linear	Illumina Solexa technology.	KT949345	(Wang et al., 2016)
22PfluR64PP	Podoviridae	T7virus	40822	Lytic	ds, Linear	Illumina MiSeq sequencing, <i>de</i> <i>novo</i> assembly using CLC Genomic Workbench 7.5.	MH179472	(Kazimierczak et al., 2019)
25AhydR2PP	Podoviridae		42696	Lytic	ds, Linear	Illumina MiSeq sequencing, <i>de</i> <i>novo</i> assembly using CLC Genomic Workbench 7.5.	MH179473	(Kazimierczak et al., 2019)
71PfluR64PP	Podoviridae	T7virus	40582	Lytic	ds, Linear	Illumina MiSeq sequencing, <i>de</i> <i>novo</i> assembly using CLC Genomic Workbench 7.5.	MH179475	(Kazimierczak et al., 2019)
67PfluR64PP	Podoviridae	T7virus	40748	Lytic	ds, Linear	Illumina MiSeq sequencing, <i>de</i> <i>novo</i> assembly using CLC Genomic Workbench 7.5.	MH179478	(Kazimierczak et al., 2019)
98PfluR60PP	Podoviridae		74361	Not classified	ds, Linear	Illumina MiSeq sequencing, <i>de</i> <i>novo</i> assembly using CLC Genomic Workbench 7.5	MH179480	(Kazimierczak et al., 2019)
CF7	Podoviridae		42439	Not	ds, Linear	Illumina sequencing assembled	MF683623	Unpublished
ZPAH7	Autographiviridae		30791	Not reported	ds, Linear	with SrAdes version 5.7.1. Illumina sequencing assembled with MicrobeTrakr plus version 0.9.1.	MH992513	Unpublished
Name	Family	Туре	Size	Lytic/	DNA type	Sequencing and assembly	Accession	Reference

		(bp)	lysogenic		methods	no.	
ZPAH7B	Autographiviridae	30791	Not reported	ds, Linear	Illumina sequencing assembled with MicrobeTrakr plus version 0.9.1.	MK330684	Unpublished
62AhydR11PP	Unclassified	43755	Probably lysogenic	Unclassified	Illumina MiSeq sequencing, <i>de</i> <i>novo</i> assembly using CLC Genomic Workbench 7.5.	MH179474	(Kazimierczak et al., 2019)
HX-3		4941513	Lytic	Circular	Illumina Hiseq combined with third-generation sequencing.	CP046954	(Jin et al., 2020)
Ah6_G	Siphoviridae	47360	Lytic	ds, Circular	Illumina short reads and Oxford Nanopore long reads were assembled with Unicycler and Canu respectively.		This study
Ah9_PP	Podoviridae	41428	Lytic	ds, Circular	Illumina short reads and Oxford Nanopore long reads were assembled with Unicycler and Canu respectively.		This study
Ah10_Se	Siphoviridae	61173	Lytic	ds, Linear	Illumina short reads and Oxford Nanopore long reads were assembled with Unicycler and Canu respectively.		This study
Ah10_Se	Siphoviridae	41859	Lytic	ds, Circular	Illumina short reads and Oxford Nanopore long reads were assembled with Unicycler and Canu respectively.		This study
Ah10_S	Siphoviridae	61337	Lytic	ds, Linear	Illumina short reads and Oxford Nanopore long reads were assembled with Unicycler and Canu respectively.		This study
Ah10_S	Siphoviridae	44947	Lytic	ds, Circular	Illumina short reads and Oxford Nanopore long reads were assembled with Unicycler and Canu respectively.		This study

5.5. Conclusion

The present study reports the analysis of the genome sequences of six new *A. hydrophila* bacteriophages and a preliminary study of their genomic structure. The phages form two groups: each sample carried an Ahp1-like phage but two samples carried a novel linear phage. This preliminary study will serve as a basis on which to study their diversity, evolutionary relationship and adaptation within their respective environment as well as with their hosts. Additionally, the lytic ability of these four phages along with the genomic information presented here may also facilitate the diagnostic and therapeutic applications of phages in the aquaculture sector.

Further research is required to understand the functions of the genes and compare them with both related pathogens as well as with other microbial genomes to discover and explore evolutionary relationship.

Chapter 6. Effect of temperature and freeze-drying on the storage efficacy of selected *Aeromonas hydrophila* bacteriophages

6.1. Introduction

Bacteriophages (or phages) are a group of naturally occurring prokaryotic viruses which can infect specific target bacteria, subsequently either, replicating within the host body and killing the host bacteria (lytic bacteriophages), or, by replicating themselves as prophages within their host bacterial genome (lysogenic bacteriophages) (Colom et al., 2015, Golshahi et al., 2008, Clark and March, 2006, Monk et al., 2010). Bacteriophages are natural predators of bacteria and cannot harm human or animal cells. These organisms are highly host specific and metabolically inactive without the presence of their specific host bacteria (Jepson and March, 2004). Bacteriophages are one of the most abundant living entities in the biosphere and can be found wherever their respective host body is present. They are approximately ten times higher in number than the bacteria and can cause mortality in 10 - 80% of the bacterial community in a habitat (Hanlon, 2007, Jończyk et al., 2011, Edwards and Rohwer, 2005, Lin et al., 2010).

A phage particle consists of nucleic acid (DNA or RNA) encapsulated within a protein coat, called a capsid and in some cases a tail fibre which helps the phage to attach to bacterial cell surface receptors (Clark and March, 2006, Hawkins et al., 2010, Haq et al., 2012a). Over the past few decades, the therapeutic potential of bacteriophages has gained immense public and scientific attention due to concerns about the deleterious effects of antibiotic resistance. Some attributes of bacteriophages such as, relatively less complex structure, host specificity without harming the commensal microbiota, rapid replication rate and well-defined organizational skills in terms of combating bacterial infection make them a potential candidate for treating bacterial infections (Alfadhel et al., 2011, Hawkins et al., 2010, Storms et al., 2012, Merabishvili et al., 2013, Puapermpoonsiri et al., 2010, Nilsson, 2014, Nieth et al., 2015). The application of bacteriophages has been reported to be useful in a number of fields including molecular biology, human vaccine production, food packaging and agricultural industries, combating diseases in both humans and animals, diagnostic applications, as well as in recombinant protein biotechnology (Kakasis and Panitsa, 2019, Caflisch et al., 2019, Moghadam et al., 2020, Nikolich and Filippov, 2020).

So far a number of bacteriophage therapy trials have been performed using various animal models to determine their potential as an alternative to antibiotic treatment for combating bacterial infections (Furfaro et al., 2018, Hawkins et al., 2010). However, the

use of bacteriophages for therapeutic purpose has a number of challenges. For example, phages can be physically unstable and can also undergo conformational denaturation because of certain physical and chemical stresses such as pH, temperature, salinity and ions (Rosner and Clark, 2021). These factors can affect phage stability, viability or shelf life by altering their structural or genomic material (Vandenheuvel et al., 2015, Malik et al., 2017, Tovkach et al., 2012). Therefore, there is a need to better understand and characterize phage stability in a variety of environments in order to develop robust phage storage and delivery systems for use in a variety of applications.

Bacteriophages act as living organisms in the presence of their suitable host and therefore, they have inherent variability. It can be difficult to deal with living entities as various factors can cause deterioration or death as while handling them prior or during storage or after retrieval (Clark, 1962). Phages can be stabilized in various types of aqueous solutions containing buffers, sugars (e.g. sucrose and mannitol), peptides, salt and/or protein. Stabilizers help to maintain structural integrity of bacteriophages for longer periods of time (Ahiwale et al., 2013). Moreover, low temperature is also another key factor to secure long term bacteriophage storage (Ackermann et al., 2004, Ahiwale et al., 2013, Jepson and March, 2004, Jończyk et al., 2011, Olson et al., 2004). This study focused on the effect of different temperature on the long term storage of experimental phages because temperature is one of the important key factors that determines the survival of viruses in the environment (Leung et al., 2017, Vinner et al., 2017, Richards and Malik, 2021).

Another well-established method of securing long term bacteriophage shelf life is freeze drying or lyophilisation. Freeze-drying removes water from the environment (surrounding a biological molecule) under vacuum conditions by means of sublimation and desorption (Abdelwahed et al., 2006) and thus provides stability from denaturation during long term storage (Andya et al., 2003), because biomolecules are more stable in solid state compared to the aqueous form (Amorij et al., 2008). It is one of the most common methods to extend phage storage life and phage formulations for therapeutic and clinical purposes (Alfadhel et al., 2011, Puapermpoonsiri et al., 2010, Manohar and Ramesh, 2019, Ly et al., 2019, Merabishvili et al., 2013). However, knowledge about survival rates and structural integrity of bacteriophages resulting from freeze drying is limited (Amorij et al., 2008, Ma et al., 2008). For this reason, there is much interest in the effectiveness of

cryoprotectants (freezing stabilizers) such as polyethylene glycol (PEG), hydroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC), different sugars (for example trehalose, mannitol and sucrose) during freeze drying (Alfadhel et al., 2011, Puapermpoonsiri et al., 2010, Marton et al., 2021). Among the sugars, disaccharides such as trehalose and sucrose have been found to be the most commonly used cryoprotectants and shown to be the most effective stabilizers to protect phages from desiccation and thermal stress during the freezing and subsequent lyophilisation process (Schwegman et al., 2005, Wang, 2000, Merabishvili et al., 2013, Malik et al., 2017, Vandenheuvel et al., 2014). The advantages of sucrose are, less hygroscopic, does not have internal hydrogen bonds (Figure 5-1) allowing for flexible formation of hydrogen bonds with the capsid proteins, very low chemical reactivity, and, a higher glass transition temperature (Tg) (Abdelwahed et al., 2006). By comparison, trehalose forms a more homogenous amorphous matrix (Figure 6-1) than sucrose which forms a highly heterogeneous crystalline matrix during the freeze-drying process (Malferrari et al., 2014). The present study investigated the use of only higher concentrations (0.5 M) of sugars to test bacteriophage stability after freeze drying. The study performed by Puapermpoonsiri et al. (2010) showed that the activity of lyophilised bacteriophage depends on the moisture content of the freeze-dried cakes. Cakes containing high concentrations of cryoprotectants have low amounts of residual moisture content and therefore are more efficient in terms of the drying process which takes place during lyophilisation.



Figure 0-1. Molecular structure of sucrose and trehalose adapted from Malferrari et al. (2014).

The bacteriophage plaque assay described in this study is a quantitative analysis to enumerate the lytic ability of the individual bacteriophages. In a lytic cycle, each single phage adsorbs onto a host cell, replicates inside the cell and after cell lysis, the daughter phages are released and each then adsorbs onto a new bacterium, thus producing the plaque (clear zone) on the plate. Each plaque represents a single bacteriophage host cell infection resulting from the co-incubation of these phages with their respective viable bacterial host cells. Serial dilution of each bacteriophage sample was performed to enable accurate counting of plaques following the initial overnight co-incubation. This may sometime result in the loss of bacteriophage activity over time (Puapermpoonsiri et al., 2009). Nevertheless, the spot plaque assay provides relatively quick and simple titration results. This type of assay is suitable for estimating phage titre in studies which require a number of complex experiments, as it does not require the use of an excessive number of plates (Kutter, 2005).

This study investigates the stability and shelf life of four fresh *Aeromonas hydrophila* bacteriophage suspensions compared to freeze dried phage preparations stabilised with a number of cryoprotectants under different temperature conditions. These investigations were performed to determine the method which would secure the longest shelf life for the four experimental bacteriophages. Therefore, the main focus of this study was i) to compare the efficacy of bacteriophage solutions after storing them in different temperature in the presence of cryoprotectants; and ii) to compare freeze-dried phage efficacy with cryoprotectants with a view to securing their long term storage life.

6.2. Materials and methods

6.2.1. Bacteriophage stock solution

Four isolated *Aeromonas hydrophila* bacteriophages Ah6_G, Ah9_PP, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S were used in this study to determine their long-term storage ability in the presence of cryoprotectants and after freeze drying (lyophilisation). The bacteriophage stock solution contained a mixture of equal volume (1:1) of PBS and SM buffer prepared as described in section 3.2.3 of chapter 3.

6.2.2. Sugar stock solution

The sugar stock solutions were prepared using the two cryoprotectant sugar stabilizers trehalose dihydrate and sucrose (Sigma) at concentrations of 1 M and 5 M for both of the sugars. The sugars were dissolved in equal volume (1:1) of sterile PBS and SM buffer mixture then stored at room temperature (25-27 °C) for further use.

6.2.3. Preparation of bacteriophage-sugar solutions for storing as aqueous solution

One ml of each bacteriophage-sugar solution was prepared with 100 µl of sugar stock solution (final sugar concentrations of 0.1 M and 0.5 M), 300 µl of bacteriophage stock solution and 600 µl of PBS and SM (1:1) buffer solution. These aliquots were prepared in 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tubes (Adelab Scientific). Five different solutions were made for each of the four bacteriophages – 0.1 M and 0.5 M trehalose and sucrose solutions respectively and a control solution that contained no cryoprotectant (just additional buffer). Three batches of separate triplicate samples were prepared for all the different types of bacteriophage-sugar solutions to store at three different temperatures. Each of the five different solutions were immediately stored in freezer boxes at 4 °C, -20 °C and -80 °C for further stability testing. The stability of the samples was monitored by determining the lytic activity in pfu/ml (titre) of the bacteriophages using the plaque spot assay at weekly intervals starting from the day the samples were prepared for first 8 weeks and then monthly until the end of the experiments. The spot assay technique used for monitoring phage stability is described in section 3.2.2 of chapter 3. Spot assays were executed separately for all of the triplicate samples.

6.2.4. Bacteriophage spot assay

A. hydrophila bacterial strains (described in section 3.1.1 of chapter 3.), specific to the four different bacteriophages, were initially grown in TSB media at 28 °C overnight, which were then used to make bacterial lawns on TSB agar plates. To determine the bacteriophage titre (pfu/ml), each bacteriophage-sugar sample was serially diluted in TSB (10-fold) and then 10 μ l aliquots of each dilution were plated onto the respective bacterial lawn of the TSB agar plate. The plates were incubated overnight in an inverted position at 28 °C. The following day, bacteriophage titre (pfu/ml) was determined by counting the plaques formed.

6.2.5. Preparation of Bacteriophage-sugar solutions for freeze-drying (lyophilisation)

Bacteriophage-sugar solutions for lyophilisation were prepared using bacteriophages and the two sugar stabilizers sucrose and trehalose (Sigma) at a final concentration of 0.1 M and 0.5 M. The sugars were dissolved in equal volume (1:1) of PBS and SM buffer mixture. These stock solutions were stored at room temperature for further use. For

lyophilisation bacteriophage-sugar solutions were dispensed in 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tubes (Adelab Scientific). Each tube for lyophilisation contained 500 μ l of bacteriophage-sugar stock solution (150 μ l bacteriophage stock diluted in 300 μ l PBS-SM buffer solution and 50 μ l sucrose or trehalose solution). Two batches of separate triplicate samples were prepared and stored at 4 °C and room temperature (25-27 °C).

6.2.6. Freeze drying (Lyophilisation)

The lyophilisation protocol using the Christ Alpha 2-4 LD freeze dryer (John Morris Scientific) involved firstly sealing each sample tube with Parafilm[™] that was then punctured with a 200 µl plastic pipette tip to form 6-7 holes. This puncturing was done to aid in the sublimation of the bacteriophage-sugar solution. All samples were then placed inside 20 ml scintillation glass vials and cooled to and maintained at -20 °C for 30 min. In the meantime, 5 dry ice cakes were prepared and mixed with 20 ml of 95% ethanol in a thermal box to make a dry-ice slurry. The amount of dry ice used depended on the number of sample tubes being lyophilised. The sample tubes were then placed in the dry-ice slurry for 15 min. In the meantime, the freeze-drier chamber was pre-cooled to -89 °C. The frozen sample tubes in the dry-ice slurry were then loaded into the freeze-drier chamber (Figure 6-2). The frozen bacteriophage samples were dried for 12 h at -89 °C with a chamber pressure of 60 mbar. Following the completion of lyophilisation, the Parafilm[™] was removed from the sample tubes; the lids were closed and stored in airtight containers at 4 °C and at room temperature (25-27 °C) for 12 months.



Figure 0-2. Freeze dryer with loaded samples.

6.2.7. Monitoring of bacteriophage titre

The titre of the samples was monitored by testing the lytic activity of the bacteriophages at weekly intervals starting from the day the samples were prepared, using the spot assay (section 3.2.2 of chapter 3). At each point of time, the samples were reconstituted in 500 μ l of equal volume (1:1) PBS and SM buffer solution. Spot assays were executed separately for all of the triplicate samples.

6.2.8. Transmission Electron Microscopy

The freeze-dried bacteriophage solutions were reconstituted with 500 μ l of PBS and SM buffer (1:1) and used to examine the morphology of the freeze-dried bacteriophages using transmission electron microscopy (TEM). Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) (Adelaide Microscopy) was carried out following the methods described in section 3.2.4 of chapter 3.

6.2.9. Statistical analysis

 Log_{10} values of bacteriophage titres were assessed by the two-way ANOVA test and Bonferroni Post hoc to estimate any statistical differences of the sample means whilst looking at three independent variables (time, temperature and concentration) at a time using IBM SPSS Statistics 25 program. Statistical significance was defined as p<0.05.

6.3. Results

6.3.1. Effect of temperature on bacteriophage storage when stored in solution form

The spot assay was conducted to determine the bacteriophage titre, which gives an estimation of the number of plaque forming units (pfu) present in each sample (Figure 6-3). This assay gives an indication of the lytic activity of the bacteriophages and whether they are still active against the target bacteria.

The titres (pfu/ml) of four bacteriophages (Ah6_G, Ah9_PP, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S) in three different storage temperatures, 4 °C, -20 °C -80 °C were compared in the presence and absence (control) of cryoprotectants to determine the effect of temperature on the shelf life of the four bacteriophages. The results presented in this study are the value of mean and standard error calculated from three individually prepared samples. The bacteriophage titre values were presented as log_{10} (pfu/ml) values for practical purposes.



Figure 0-3. Spot assay of four bacteriophages (Ah6_G, Ah9_PP, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S).

6.3.1.1. Effect of temperature without cryoprotectants (control) – bacteriophage in solution

The titres of four bacteriophages Ah6_G, Ah9_PP, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S were compared when stored at three different temperatures for up to 56 weeks without sugar stabilizers (cryoprotectants) (Figure 6-4). For bacteriophage Ah6 G, Ah9 PP, Ah10 Se and Ah10_S, no statistically significant change (p>0.05) in phage titre were observed over 56 weeks at 4 °C and -80 °C. However, there was an approximate 0.4 log₁₀ pfu/ml decrease for phage Ah6 G at both temperatures; 0.2 log₁₀ pfu/ml increase and 0.3 log₁₀ pfu/ml decrease for phage Ah9_PP stored at 4 °C and -80 °C respectively; 0.1 log₁₀ pfu/ml and 0.2 log₁₀ pfu/ml decrease for phage Ah10_Se at 4 °C and -80 °C respectively and 0.5 log₁₀ pfu/ml and 1.2 log₁₀ pfu/ml increase for phage Ah10_S at 4 °C and -80 °C respectively. On the other hand, for phage Ah6_G and Ah9_PP, there was a statistically significant reduction (p<0.05) in mean phage \log_{10} titre at -20 °C; whereas phage Ah10_Se and Ah10_S did not show any statistically significant reduction in their mean log₁₀ titre at -20 °C. For phage Ah6 G and Ah9 PP, the reduction in their mean log₁₀ titre was from 9.3 to 0 and 9.02 to 0 respectively. For phage Ah10_Se and Ah10_S, the reduction in their mean log₁₀ titre was from approximately 9.5 to 7.9 and 8.5 to 7.8 respectively. However, these results were not statistically significant (p>0.05).



Figure 0-4. Stability of four bacteriophage solutions at three different temperatures without cryoprotectants; [a] bacteriophage Ah6_G; [b] bacteriophage Ah9_PP; [c] bacteriophage Ah10_Se and [d] bacteriophage Ah10_S. Error bars represent standard error of mean. Some error bars are too small to be visible.

6.3.1.2. Effect of temperature in the presence of sugars (cryoprotectants) – bacteriophage in solution

Subsequently, the protective effects of two sugars (sucrose and trehalose) and their two final concentrations (0.1 M vs 0.5 M) were investigated on phage stability (mean log₁₀ pfu/ml) when stored at 4 °C, -20 °C and -80 °C. At 4 °C and -80 °C bacteriophages Ah6_G and Ah9_PP were stable without cryoprotectants (controls). In the presence of 0.1 M and 0.5 M trehalose or sucrose at these same temperatures there was no demonstrable change with the inclusion of the cryoprotectants, therefore, the data is not presented here (see Appendix figures 9-1 and 9-2). This was not the case at -20 °C and the effect of cryoprotectants is shown in Figure 6-5.

For phage Ah6_G, in the presence of 0.5 M sucrose, there was no significant reduction in its titre but when 0.1 M sucrose was used the titre declined from 9.18 \log_{10} pfu/ml to 6.63 \log_{10} pfu/ml indicating 0.5 M sucrose provides greater stability at -20 °C (Figure 6-5). When trehalose was added as a cryoprotectant at 0.5 M concentration, the phage titre declined from 9.03 \log_{10} pfu/ml to 6.47 \log_{10} pfu/ml which is significantly different from what was recorded with 0.5 M sucrose. In addition, the phage stability in 0.1 M trehalose was not as good as that achieved with 0.1 M sucrose but the difference was not significant.

In case of phage Ah9_PP, the inclusion of either sucrose or trehalose provided better phage protection compared to the control. For both sucrose and trehalose, 0.5 M concentrations were better than 0.1 M, but there were no significant differences between the 0.5 M sugars, or between the 0.1 M sugar solutions. Neither solute was better than the other.

The percentage loss in phage viability shown in Table 6-1 supports the storage results of Ah6_G and Ah9_PP phage when stored at -20 °C.

Bacteriophage	Sugar	Titre (Log ₁₀ pfu/ml)						
		Initial (0 week)	After 56 weeks	Percentage loss of viability				
Ah6_G	Control	9.38	0	100 %				
	0.1 M Sucrose	9.18	6.63	27.8 %				
	0.5 M Sucrose	9.32	8.49	8.9 %				
	0.1 M Trehalose	8.34	5.09	39.1 %				
	0.5 M Trehalose	9.03	6.47	28.3 %				
Ah9_PP	Control	9.03	0	100 %				
	0.1 M Sucrose	9.38	5.26	43.9 %				
	0.5 M Sucrose	9.32	7.10	23.8 %				
	0.1 M Trehalose	8.91	5.10	42.8 %				
	0.5 M Trehalose	9.07	4.59	49.4 %				

Table 6-1. Ah6_G and Ah9_PP phage titre trends after 56 weeks when stored at -20 °C

Furthermore, for both Ah10_Se and Ah10_S phages, no changes were observed (p>0.05) in their mean titres over 56 weeks while stored at 4 °C, -20 °C and -80 °C, regardless of sugar type (sucrose and trehalose) or concentration (0.1 M and 0.5 M) (see Appendix figures 9-3 and 9-4).

From the above data it is apparent that Ah6_G and Ah9_PP phages are significantly more stable while stored at -20 °C in the presence of sucrose or trehalose compared to the control (without cryoprotectants). The results also demonstrated that Ah6_G with the addition of sucrose (both 0.1 M and 0.5 M) were more stable compared to that of the trehalose when stored at -20 °C. For phage Ah9_PP, higher concentrations of both sucrose and trehalose have been found to be more effective over 56 weeks. Conversely, the addition of sucrose and trehalose did not produce any noticeable titre changes for phages Ah10_Se and Ah10_S while stored at 4 °C, -20 °C and -80 °C.


Control * 0.1 M Sucrose * 0.5 M Sucrose * 0.1 M Trehalose * 0.5 M Trehalose

Figure 0-5. Stability of Ah6_G and Ah9_PP bacteriophage solutions at -20 °C with cryoprotectants; [a] – Ah6_G phage titre at -20 °C; [b] – Ah9_PP phage titre at -20 °C. Error bars represent standard error of mean. Some error bars are too small to be visible.

6.3.2. Effect of freeze-drying on bacteriophage storage

Titre (pfu/ml) of four freeze dried bacteriophages (Ah6_G, Ah9_PP, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S) were compared in the presence and absence (control) of cryoprotectants/stabilizers while stored at two different temperatures: 4 °C and room temperature (RT: 25-27 °C), to determine the stability of the bacteriophages.

Bacteriophage	Sugar	Titre (Log ₁₀ pfu/ml)							
	-	Initial (before FD)	After FD	Percentage loss of viability					
Ah6_G	Control	9.38	8.48	9.6 %					
	0.5 M Sucrose	9.32	8.05	13.6 %					
	0.5 M Trehalose	9.03	8.26	8.5 %					
Ah9_PP	Control	9.03	7.80	13.6 %					
	0.5 M Sucrose	9.32	7.57	18.8 %					
	0.5 M Trehalose	9.07	7.50	17.3 %					
Ah10_Se	Control	9.53	8.11	14.9 %					
	0.5 M Sucrose	8.68	8.78	0 %					
	0.5 M Trehalose	8.63	8.40	2.7 %					
Ah10_S	Control	8.58	8.06	6.1 %					
	0.5 M Sucrose	9.05	8.70	3.9 %					
	0.5 M Trehalose	8.54	8.78	0 %					

Table 6-2. Freeze dried bacteriophage titre trend before and immediately after freezedrying

Table 6-2 shows the decreases in mean phage titre immediately after freeze drying. The results for freeze dried phage stored at 4 °C are shown but the results are the same when immediately stored at room temperature, as might be expected. Without cryoprotectant (control) the percentage loss in phage viability varied from 6.1% - 14.9% for the four phages. Compared to the control, addition of 0.5 M sucrose and 0.5 M trehalose reduced the rapid titre decline immediately after freeze drying, however it was only for Ah10_Se and Ah10_S that any significant protection was noted with sucrose and trehalose. For the other two phages the sugars did not significantly improve the survival during the freezing drying process.

The TEM imaging of four bacteriophages is represented in Figure 6-6. The figure illustrates the morphology of four bacteriophages immediately after freeze drying and showed that for all four tailed bacteriophages without cryoprotectant, the tails became separated from the head due to the freeze-drying stress.

Subsequent to the freeze-drying process the stability of the phages was monitored over 44 weeks at both 4 °C and RT: 25-27 °C (Figures 6-7 and 6-8). Lines of best fit were determined and the slopes calculated which varied between 0.07 and -0.0174 as summarised in Table 6-3.

By comparing the slopes it is apparent that in the presence of sucrose or trehalose, the phages are more stable when stored at 4 °C compared to room temperature. Furthermore,

the presence of sucrose or trehalose provides better stability than the control at either temperature.



Figure 0-6. Transmission electron microscope (TEM) view of four bacteriophages before [a] and after [b] freeze drying. [1a & 1b] – Ah6_G; [2a &2b] – Ah9_PP; [3a & 3b] – Ah10_Se and [4a & 4b] – Ah10_S.



Figure 0-7. Freeze dried Ah6_G, Ah9_PP, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S bacteriophage titres when stored at 4 °C with cyoprotectants. Error bars represent standard error of mean. Some error bars are too small to be visible.



Figure 0-8. Freeze dried Ah6_G, Ah9_PP, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S bacteriophage titres when stored at room temperature (RT: 25-27 °C) with cyoprotectants. Error bars represent standard error of mean. Some error bars are too small to be visible.

Bacteriophage	Sugar	Die off rates (Die off rates (slopes of lines of best fit)				
		4 °C	RT: 25-27 °C				
Ah6_G	Control	-0.0708	-0.0643				
	0.5 M Sucrose	-0.0248	-0.0614				
	0.5 M Trehalose	-0.0548	-0.0523				
Ah9_PP	Control	0.0055	-0.0508				
	0.5 M Sucrose	0.0123	-0.0387				
	0.5 M Trehalose	-0.0262	-0.0622				
Ah10_Se	Control	-0.0677	-0.0544				
	0.5 M Sucrose	-0.014	-0.0744				
	0.5 M Trehalose	-0.0096	-0.0796				
Ah10_S	Control	-0.0581	-0.0407				
	0.5 M Sucrose	-0.0189	-0.066				
	0.5 M Trehalose	-0.0298	-0.0736				

Table 6-3. Die off rates of four freeze dried bacteriophages with cryoprotectants

6.4. Discussion

To determine the shelf life of the four *Aeromonas* phages, suspensions of phage were stored at 4 °C, -20 °C and -80 °C. These studies have demonstrated that over a 56-week period storage at 4 °C or -80 °C, insignificant loss of viability occurred for each of the four phages tested. However, at -20 °C, Ah6_G and Ah9_PP, both showed significant loss of viability without a cryoprotectant. The inclusion of sucrose (0.1 M or 0.5 M) or trehalose (0.1 M or 0.5 M) provided better stability than control (without cryoprotectant) but with the exception of Ah6_G in the presence of 0.5 M sucrose at -20 °C none of these conditions were as good as storage at 4 °C or -80 °C. Studies by Yan et al. (2021) and Tabare et al. (2021) also showed the presence of cryoprotectants (trehalose, mannitol and L-leucine) provided better stability of the spray-dried phages while stored at different temperature conditions.

The observation in this present study is consistent with the statement given by Ackermann (2004) and Puapermpoonsiri et al. (2010) for all four phages stored at both 4 °C and -80 °C as the phages did not show any significant decrease in their titre stability. Three of the phages (Ah6_G, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S) are long tailed but there were no differences in stability with the short tailed phage Ah9_PP, although previous studies have indicated tailed phages are generally more stable (Ackermann, 2004, Puapermpoonsiri et al., 2010).

When phages were stored at -20 °C, Ah10_Se and Ah10_S, both tailed phages, were stable for 56 weeks even without cryoprotectants. However, Ah6_G and Ah9_PP (which

is short tailed) were both unstable at -20 °C with or without cryoprotectants. This is not surprising as previous research has indicated that slow cooling to -20 °C leads to the breakdown of macromolecular structures due to the formation and growth of ice crystals. As the cooling continues, the ice crystals grow at the expense of pulling water from within the phage cell and as a result the phage struggles to maintain its macromolecular structure (Gould, 1999). The addition of cryoprotectants such as sucrose or trehalose is designed to minimize the damage to the phages during freezing and extended cold storage (Moraes de Souza et al., 2021, Gonzalez-Menendez et al., 2018). In the present study, sucrose was marginally better than trehalose, but neither were able to stabilize Ah9_PP for the 56-week trial. A similar result was reported by Olson et al. (2004), where they looked at the effect of different temperatures on the storage viability of MS2 virus and found that the titre of MS2 showed a significant decay when stored at -20 °C.

The present study has demonstrated all four phages were stable at -80 °C for up to 56 weeks which is similar to (Golec et al., 2011) studies on tailed phage. Furthermore, Ackermann (2004) indicated that the *Aeromonas* phage they studied were stable for up to 5 years at -80 °C. Another study (Jepson and March, 2004), demonstrated similar results to the present findings and stated that phage when stored as stock solution, was more stable at 4 °C.

The four *Aeromonas* phages were freeze dried in buffer solution (control), 0.5 M sucrose and 0.5 M trehalose and stored at 4 °C or room temperature (RT: 25-27 °C). The initial process of freezing the phage suspended in buffer (control) using dry ice and alcohol, then drying under vacuum led to an immediate decrease in phage viability varying between 6-15% of the original titre (approx. $log_{10}9$). When sucrose or trehalose were incorporated there was little cryoprotection detected, probably because the phages were snap frozen in the mixture of dry ice and alcohol.

The effectiveness of sucrose or trehalose to stabilise the freeze-dried suspensions over 44 weeks at either 4 °C or room temperature has shown some degree of protection compared to the control, as measured by the die off rates, with 0.5 M sucrose the most effective treatment. These studies with 0.5 M sucrose and 0.5 M trehalose are similar to those reported by Merabishvili et al. (2013), who showed that sucrose and trehalose at a concentration of 0.5 M works more effectively as cryostabilizer during freeze-drying and no more than 1 log₁₀ decrease was observed after 27 months at 4 °C in their study. The

loss of phage stability without cryoprotectants observed in this study has also been shown by Jepson and March (2004), Puapermpoonsiri et al. (2010). Freeze drying data obtained in the present study demonstrated that both freezing and drying had a negative impact on the phage titre. Freeze drying stresses such as, solute concentration, ice crystal formation, changes in pH, etc. can weaken the stability of a biological entities (Merabishvili et al., 2013, Wang, 2000). Another study showed titre reduction of the phages during atmospheric sprayed freeze-drying in the presence of different concentrations of trahalose and mannitol (Ly et al., 2019). The effectiveness of cryoprotectants to overcome the problem described here has also been observed by Abdelwahed et al. (2006), Merabishvili et al. (2013), Manohar and Ramesh (2019) where the inclusion of cryoprotectants increased storage stability. In general, the die off rates are smaller when the freeze-dried preparations are stored at 4 °C rather than room temperature.

The research so far is not consistent with respect to the impact "stabilizers" have on phage surviving freeze drying and then storage. The role of sucrose or trehalose is to reduce free water and hence speed up the rate of drying to protect the phages as shown by Puapermpoonsiri et al. (2010) and also demonstrated in this study. Only 0.5 M sucrose and 0.5 M trehalose were investigated but other studies have demonstrated different optimal concentrations for different phage types (Merabishvili et al., 2013, Puapermpoonsiri et al., 2009, Carne and Greaves, 1974, Cox et al., 1974, Davies and Kelly, 1969).

Therefore, for the purpose of this study freeze drying in 0.5 M sucrose and storage at 4 °C is most likely to provide the best storage conditions.

From the observation and when the lines of best fit are compared for each of the phages in buffer (control) at 4 $^{\circ}$ C or -80 $^{\circ}$ C and freeze-dried phages in the presence of 0.5 M sucrose stored at 4 $^{\circ}$ C (Figure 6-9), there is not a lot to be gained by any one process.



Figure 0-9. Normalized plots of [a] – Ah6_G, [b] – Ah9_PP, [c] – Ah10_Se and [d] – Ah10_S bacteriophages based on phage data stored at 4 °C (control); at -80 °C (control) and when freeze dried in 0.5 M sucrose and stored at 4 °C.

However, for short term storage of these *Aeromonas* phage, storage of phage in solution at 4 °C has been shown to be adequate. For preservation and long-term storage frozen storage at -80 °C is most likely to offer the best recovery of infective phage as recommended by (Gould, 1999). But for the purpose of preparing phage for therapeutic studies where phage may need to be transported to aquaculture farms or similar, freeze dried phages will be beneficial since non-refrigerated transport may be required. Furthermore, freeze dried phage are more suitable for applications such as use in pharmaceuticals where novel formulations for oral administration or injection into humans or animals are required, or use for bath exposures in therapeutic applications.

Freeze drying procedures vary depending on the equipment design and phages from different families, even different phages witin a family show varying stability to physical or chemical stresses (Malik et al., 2017). Although the stability of the freeze dried bacteriophages is quite good, this may be enhanced by the introduction of a secondary drying cycle at elevated temperature (25 °C) as reported by Puapermpoonsiri et al. (2010). Therefore, the lysophilisation protocol should be adjusted, optimized and standardized for each different phage in order to obtain the best lyophilisation result for individual phages. On the other hand, according to Merabishvili et al. (2013), different authors noted the novelty of lyophilized bactriophages in terms of formulation but their shelf-life was scarcely considered and if considered then only for a couple of months of storage.

Regardless the above mentioned facts, previous published literature showed that both freezing and thawing of phages has a negative impact on their stability (Arakawa et al., 2001). Therefore, triplicates of all the individually prepared bacteriophage samples were kept at their respective storage tempeatures until the samples were needed for a spot assay. Hence, only one spot assay was performed from each stored vial/tube. Additionally, the same master stock solutions for each of the phages were used throughout the study. They were also stored at the same temperature to minimize discrepancies. All spot assays were performed under identical conditions to avoid any variability. Gould (1999) suggested that use of high titre phages are more feasible for the long term storage; therefore, present study also followed this approach and used high titres of bacteriophages for the stock to obtain more accurate results. Nevertheless, the type of assay employed in the present study and the condition of plating may create

differences in phage titre. Sometimes as an artifact the phage titre may rise markedly rather than falling according to the result expectations.

6.5. Conclusion

From the observation of the present study (Figures 6-6 and 6-7), it is evident that freeze drying of the four bacteriophages was not as efficient as storing them in solution at different temperatures with or without cryoprotectants as freeze drying resulted in a decrease in the mean titre for all four bacteriophages (Table 6-2).

Furthermore, the experimental bacteriophages were found to be more stable over 56 weeks while stored in solution at three temperatures (4 °C, -20 °C and -80 °C) in the presence of cryoprotectants (either sucrose or trehalose) compared to the control (without cryoprotectant).

Therefore, bacteriophages stored in solution at 4 °C were used in the fish trials described in the next chapter (Chapter 7).

Chapter 7. Investigation of bacteriophage efficacy for the treatment of *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection in Silver Perch (*Bidyanus bidyanus*)

7.1. Introduction

Aquaculture makes up a significant source of seafood worldwide contributing to approximately 46.8% of the world's seafood demand (FAO, 2018). Finfish are one of the major contributors to the aquaculture farming sector globally. As a vital constituent of the animal kingdom, fish reside in diverse environments and are prone to a number of bacterial pathogens. Compared to wild populations, there is a greater risk of developing infectious disease in farmed fish and factors contributing to this risk are the high stocking densities at which the animals are maintained for production, improper handling and hypoxia. Suboptimal conditions can reduce the immune defence response in fish against infectious diseases (Silva et al., 2016, Milla et al., 2010). For the maintenance of fish health and for the sustainability of the aquaculture industry, many management and control strategies to eradicate bacterial infection have been utilized (Kiron, 2012, Kreutz et al., 2014, Soliman et al., 2019, Sieiro et al., 2020). Nonetheless, pathogens are still responsible for the major losses in the fish farming sector (Verner–Jeffreys et al., 2007, Opiyo et al., 2018, Pepi and Focardi, 2021).

Since the 1980s, the therapeutic potential of bacteriophages to control bacterial infection has gained attention among the scientific community (Defoirdt et al., 2011, Phumkhachorn and Rattanachaikunsopon, 2010, Soliman et al., 2019). For more than six decades, bacteriophages have been the subject of studies and have been used extensively in Eastern Europe and in the former Soviet Union in different fields of human and animal medicine (Rao and Lalitha, 2015, Lu and Koeris, 2011). However, only a few studies have used bacteriophages for the control and prophylaxis of bacterial infection in the aquaculture sector (Colavecchio and Goodridge, 2018, Kowalska et al., 2020, Doss et al., 2017, Ramos-Vivas et al., 2021). The unique characteristics of phages to replicate exponentially within the bacterial host and their specificity to the target bacteria, without causing any harm to other microflora, have made them an attractive and potential candidate for therapeutic purposes in controlling pathogenic bacterial infections (Kutateladze and Adamia, 2010). Furthermore, the mode of action of bacteriophages is different from that of antibiotics, which makes them useful for the treatment of multidrug resistant bacteria as well (Nakai and Park, 2002). Recent studies of bacteriophage applications have proven the therapeutic value of bacteriophages in aquaculture (Karunasagar et al., 2007, Nakai and Park, 2002, Nakai et al., 1999, Park et al., 2000, Vinod et al., 2006, Park and Nakai, 2003, Shivu et al., 2007, Higuera et al., 2013). Many studies have focused on the isolation and identification of *Aeromonas* sp. bacteriophages, but few have been done on the therapeutic application of bacteriophages against infection with an *Aeromonas* sp. pathogen (Imbeault et al., 2006, Verner–Jeffreys et al., 2007, Akmal et al., 2020).

This chapter describes results obtained from experiments to assess the potential of using the bacteriophages described earlier in this thesis to eliminate *Aeromonas hydrophila* infections in silver perch. Silver perch (*Bidyanus bidyanus*), a native fish of Australia, was used in this study as a model to test the therapeutic approach of bacteriophages against an *A. hydrophila* pathogen. The data from this fish trial could be used as a ground work for future studies using modified models and conditions to optimise the application of bacteriophages for the control of bacterial infections in aquaculture.

7.2. Materials and methods

7.2.1. Fish infection trial

7.2.1.1. Test fish

One hundred and fifty-nine fish (15-20 cm body length) were used in the fish infection trials. Fish were obtained from a local commercial aquaponics supplier (Aquaculture Advantage) in Adelaide, South Australia and transported to the aquaculture laboratory facility, Roseworthy Campus, The University of Adelaide for acclimatisation.

7.2.1.2. Controls for infection trials

Each fish from the control groups was injected intraperitoneally (IP) with of 0.1 ml per 10 kg fish volume of sterile Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) (8.0 g NaCl, 0.2 g KCl, 1.44 g Na₂HPO₄, 0.24 g KH₂PO₄, 1000 ml deionized water).

7.2.1.3. Bacterial stock solution preparation

A single strain of *A. hydrophila* (Ah10) was selected for the infection trial. The preparation of the bacterial stock is described in section 3.3.1 of chapter 3. The bacterial inoculum in the concentration of approximately 6.7×10^7 cfu/ml was used for the fish infection trials.

The fish infection trial was conducted in two different phases:

1. Preliminary pilot trial

2. Actual infection challenge trial

7.2.2. Preliminary pilot trial

A preliminary pilot study was conducted to investigate the pathogenicity of the bacterial isolate selected for study post injection into the experimental fish and to determine a suitable dose rate to be applied to the fish during the actual infection trial. The morbidity and mortality of fish were also observed during the trial.

7.2.2.1. Experimental system for the preliminary trial

Following the acclimatisation, 15 fish from the original 159 were randomly selected and then randomly assigned to 5 glass aquarium tanks (capacity – volume 65 l; dimension – $60 \text{ cm} \times 30 \text{ cm} \times 36 \text{ cm}$) (3 fish in each tank) and kept for one week to acclimatise to the laboratory conditions before starting the preliminary trial. Fish tanks were maintained with continuous aeration and flow through filters. Fish were fed on a regular basis with a commercial fish feed supplied by Aquaculture Advantage and tank water cleaned and changed regularly to maintain optimum water conditions. The optimum water quality parameters were maintained at: temperature: 22-23 °C; pH: 7.7- 7.9; dissolved O₂: 6 mg/l.

7.2.2.2. Protocol for determining dose to be used in actual challenge trial

For the pilot study each tank represented a treatment group (i.e. one control and four infection groups). The four infection groups were administered with serially diluted stock suspensions of *A. hydrophila* and the control was PBS (see below).

Fish preparation and sedation for the preliminary trial was undertaken utilising the same method described in the section 3.3.2 of chapter 3.

To prepare the treatment suspension, a bacterial stock suspension of *A. hydrophila* (Ah10) $(6.7 \times 10^7 \text{ cfu/ml})$ was serially diluted in PBS solution to four different dilutions $(10^{-3}, 10^{-6}, 10^{-9}, \text{ and } 10^{-12})$. Fish from four infection groups were injected intraperitoneally (IP) with one of the four concentrations of bacteria and fish of control group were IP injected with PBS. Fish were maintained for six days to develop infection. On day seven post injection, all fish were euthanized humanely by emersion using Aqui-S overdose (approximately 175 mg/l) in tank water.

7.2.2.3. Fish organ collection and their bacterial counts

Fish organ collection and the assessment of bacterial loads was conducted following the same method as set out in the sections 3.3.3 and 3.3.4 of chapter 3 respectively.

7.2.3. Actual infection challenge trial

Following the preliminary pilot trial, a larger fish challenge trial was conducted to determine the efficacy of bacteriophage on the experimental fish model (silver perch).

7.2.3.1. Experimental system for the actual challenge trial

The remaining post acclimatised fish (144 fish) were randomly assigned to 21 different glass aquarium tanks (capacity – volume 65 l; dimension – 60 cm \times 30 cm \times 36 cm) (7 fish in each tank) and kept for one week to acclimatise to the laboratory conditions before starting the infection trial. Fish tanks were maintained with continuous aeration and flow through filters. Fish were fed on a regular basis with a commercial fish feed supplied by Aquaculture Advantage and tank water cleaned and changed regularly to maintain optimum water conditions. The optimum water quality parameters were maintained at: temperature: 22-23 °C; pH: 7.7-7.9; dissolved O₂: 6 mg/l.

The large infection trial consisted of 7 treatment groups as showed in Table 7-1.

Groups	Treatments	No. of	No. of fish
		tanks	
1. Control	1a. Triplicate	3	18 (6 in each
			tank)
2. Infected fish	2a. Bacteria + high phage dose:	3	21 (7 in each
inoculated with 3	triplicate		tank)
different doses of	2b. Bacteria + medium phage	3	21 (7 in each
phage	dose: triplicate		tank)
	2c. Bacteria + low phage dose:	3	21 (7 in each
	triplicate		tank)
3. Non-infected fish	3a. High phage dose: triplicate	3	21 (7 in each
inoculated with 3			tank)
different doses of	3b. Medium phage dose:	3	21 (7 in each
phage	triplicate		tank)
	3c. low phage dose: triplicate	3	21 (7 in each
	_		tank)

 Table 7-1. Distribution of treatment groups among tanks

Tank selection of fish and the selection of treatment for each tank was randomised.

7.2.3.2. Bacterial stock solution for actual challenge trial

The concentration of the bacterial suspension to be used for the actual trial was determined from the preliminary pilot trial as 6.7×10^7 cfu/ml.

7.2.3.3. Bacteriophage stock solution preparation

The isolation, purification and preparation of bacteriophage stock has been previously described (section 3.2.1 of chapter 3). A mixture of four different bacteriophages (bacteriophage cocktail) was used for this trial. Equal volumes of four different phage stocks were mixed to make the bacteriophage cocktail. The phage cocktail titre was determined as 1.5×10^9 pfu/ml.

Three different concentrations of the bacteriophage cocktail were used to inoculate the fish. The bacteriophage cocktail was serially diluted (10-fold) in equal volume (1:1) of PBS and SM buffer solution up to 1:100000 (10⁻⁵) dilution. High (approximately 10⁹ pfu/ml), medium (approximately 10⁶ pfu/ml) and low (approximately 10⁴ pfu/ml) were injected into the fish corresponding respectively to treatment groups 2a, 2b, 2c and again for 3a, 3b, 3c.

7.2.3.4. Preparing the fish for challenge trial

Fish preparation and sedation for challenge trial were undertaken utilising the same method described in the section 3.3.2 of chapter 3.

7.2.3.5. Challenge trial

7.2.3.5.1. Infecting the fish with bacteria

The fish to be inoculated with *A. hydrophila* (Ah10) and then treated with bacteriophage (treatment groups 2a, 2b and 2c) were injected intraperitoneally (IP) with the predetermined dose rate (0.1 ml per 10 kg fish of a suspension of 6.7×10^7 organisms per ml) of *A. hydrophila* bacteria. Fish were kept for six days to develop infection.

7.2.3.5.2. Treatment with bacteriophage

Six days after the bacterial infection initiation, each infected fish from treatment groups 2a, 2b and 2c (63 fish in total) were injected with the high, medium and low doses of bacteriophage cocktail solution respectively. Fish were injected intraperitoneally (IP) with the same volume rate (0.1 ml per 10 kg fish) used to infect with *A. hydrophila* bacteria.

The same day, the remaining 63 "non-infected" fish from 3a, 3b and 3c treatment groups were injected with high, medium and low doses of the bacteriophage cocktail solution respectively following the same techniques.

Three days after the bacteriophage inoculation, all fish from all treatment groups were euthanized humanely as described previously.

7.2.3.6. Fish organ collection

7.2.3.6.1. Fish organ (kidney and spleen) collection for bacterial counts

Fish organ collection and the assessment of bacterial loads was conducted following the same method as set out in the preliminary pilot trial section.

7.2.3.6.2. Fish organ collection for histopathology

The remaining kidney and spleen mass, other intestinal organs, gill, brain, muscle, eye from each fish were removed and fixed in 10% neutral buffered saline (formalin) for histopathological analyses. The formalin fixed organ tissues were then decalcified and processed using standard histological procedures and tissue sections were stained with haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) for microscopy and microphotography. One of each organs from each replicate of the treatments was examined microscopically for presence of pathogens and histopathology.

7.2.3.7. Fish blood collection

Blood samples were collected from the caudal vein of each fish with 25-gauge needles and 1 ml syringes (Adelab Scientific, South Australia) and placed in 1 ml heparinised tubes to avoid blood clotting. The blood tubes were then centrifuged at 20000 $\times g$ for 10 min at 4 °C and the blood plasma was removed and transferred to a new 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube (Adelab Scientific) and stored at -80 °C for future analysis. One drop (10 µl) of blood from each fish was also used to streak onto TSA (Tryptic Soy Agar) and AMB (*Aeromonas* Medium Base, Edwards Group Pty Ltd, NSW, Australia) agar plates to detect bacterial growth. All agar plates were streaked in the same manner for consistency and incubated overnight at 28 °C. The next day all agar plates were checked for growth and colonies counted.

7.2.4. Lysozyme activity assay

To determine the effect of infection of silver perch with *A. hydrophila* and subsequent inoculation with bacteriophage on the immune system of the fish, blood samples were analysed to estimate lysozyme activity. Blood plasma of all 7 fish from each tank were pooled together to make one aliquot. The lysozyme activities were measured from triplicate pooled aliquots of each treatment group. An increase in lysozyme activity would normally suggest an increase in immune activity.

The lysozyme assay was carried out using a turbidimetric assay described by Milla et al. (2010) and Kreutz et al. (2011) with some minor modifications. This assay measures the lysis rate of Micrococcus lysodeikticus (M. luteus) (Sigma Life Science) bacteria with blood plasma lysozyme. Initially 96-well flat bottom microplates were loaded with fish blood plasma and phosphate buffer (Na₂HPO₄), pH = 6.2 (10 μ l + 10 μ l) and 180 μ l *M*. luteus solution (0.6 mg/ml: 30 mg of *M. luteus* mixed with 50 ml phosphate buffer) at 25 $^{\circ}$ C. The difference in absorbance (optical density, OD = 450) was then measured with a Benchmark PlusTM Microplate Spectrophotometer (BIO-RAD) after 0 time, 5 min, 10 min and 15 min intervals immediately after adding M. luteus into each microplate well. The differences were then used to calculate lysozyme activity expressed in units/ml of plasma. Each unit is defined as a reduction in the OD of 0.001 per min. The lysozyme assay is based on absorbance being a linear function of *M. luteus* concentration. The result was compared with the function of a standard. The standard was made of lysozyme extracted from chicken egg white (CEWL) (Sigma Life Science), with a specified activity of 40,000 units/mg. From the plate reading, the rate of change in absorbance at 450 nm $(\Delta A_{450} / \text{min})$ during the linear stage of reaction was calculated, giving the following standard equation:

y = mx + b (where $y = \Delta A_{450}$ /min; x = units of activity, equivalent to CEWL).

7.2.5. Blood total protein levels

Total protein in the blood samples was measured to determine total immunoglobulin (Ig) levels following the standard procedure for a Beckman Coulter AU480 Analyzer. Briefly 200 μ l of each blood plasma sample contained in 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tubes (Adelab Scientific) was tested and the analyser automatically computed each determination

(results g/L) at the same time interval. The results were then analysed statistically to determine the differences between each treatment groups.

7.2.6. Statistical analysis

The blood lysozyme activity and immunoglobulin (Ig) levels were assessed by the oneway ANOVA test and Post hoc Tukey Test, at p<0.05 to estimate any statistical differences of the sample mean results whilst looking at one independent variable (dose) using IBM SPSS Statistics 25 program. Statistical significance was defined as p<0.05. Values given are mean \pm SE from three replicates each.

For the evaluation of fish bioassay, bacterial counts (cfu/g) across the experimental tanks were subjected to Generalized Linear Model (Negative Binomial) Analysis (P<0.10) using SPSS Statistics 25 program. The percent coefficient of variation (%CV) between technical replicates of cfu/g counts were maintained <20%. The results from biological replicates were presented in box plots.

7.2.7. Ethics approval

All fish trial experiments were carried out following the animal ethics guidelines proposed by Animal Ethics Committee (AEC) and the ethics approval (AEC Project No. S-2015-201A) was obtained from the Animal Ethics Committee (AEC) of The University of Adelaide.

7.3. Results

7.3.1. Pilot study

During the acclimatisation period, one death was observed. A diagnostic investigation was undertaken including diagnostic microbiology. Identification and bacterial counts (cfu/g) in kidney and spleen samples were carried out. *Aeromonas* sp. was detected in samples from the fish which indicated either a latent infection or pathogenicity of the *Aeromonas* sp. given the fish were acclimatising prior to any experimentation.

During this pilot trial there were no clinical signs of morbidity or mortality in the experimental fish after the inoculation with the test *A. hydrophila* strain. This indicated that this specific strain of *A. hydrophila* was not significantly virulent for the experimental fish. Therefore, bacterial counts (cfu/g) from the kidney, spleen and blood

samples were used to determine the potential dose to use for the actual infection challenge trial. Bacterial counts from TSB and AMB agar plates showed only few bacterial colonies (<30) at the higher dilutions $(10^{-6}, 10^{-9}, \text{ and } 10^{-12})$ and only the (10^{-3}) dilution resulted in adequate growth that could provide an accurate titre calculation. As a result of this finding, to obtain significant bacterial cell counts after the challenge trial, the higher dose (10^{-3}) was chosen to use for further fish infection trials.

7.3.2. Aeromonas sp. counts in kidney and spleen samples from the fish trial

From Figure 7-1, it can be seen that for the control group (treatment 1) 10^6 cfu/g *Aeromonas* sp. was present in both kidney and spleen tissues, indicating that the fish purchased from the supplier were already contaminated with *Aeromonas* sp. This compromised the study and interfered with assessing the effectiveness of the phage to control infection. The appearance of the colonies (in pure cultures) on TSA and AMB in all cases was consistent with *Aeromonas* sp.

From Figures 7-1 [a] and 7-1 [b], it can be seen that the bacterial counts were significantly reduced compared to the control, especially with the medium dose of phage. Furthermore, the reduction in bacterial count achieved with the medium dose (3b) was significantly greater than that achieved with the high or low doses, which also produced reductions in counts compared to the control and were significantly different (p<0.10).

A similar trend was also observed for the counts from the spleen tissues (Figures 7-1 [c] and 7-1 [d])

In the case of fish which were deliberately infected with *A. hydrophila* on top of the existing colonisation with *Aeromonas* sp. (treatments 2a, 2b and 2c), there were no significant differences in counts when challenged with any of the doses of phage, compared to the controls.

In addition to culturing kidney and spleen biopsies, blood cultures were also examined for bacterial counts on TSB and AMB. *Aeromonas* sp. was isolated from most fish in all treatments as seen in Table 7-2, but since this was done qualitatively, it is not possible to determine if the phage used in treatments 3a, 3b and 3c achieved any significant reductions in bacterial counts in the blood of the fish.



Figure 0-1. Effect of different doses (high, medium and low) of bacteriophage cocktail on silver perch infected with and controls without *A. hydrophila*. [a] and [b] – bacterial count per g of kidney when grown in TSA and AMB respectively; [c] and [d] bacterial count per g of spleen when grown in TSA and AMB respectively. The cfu/g counts were log normalized, box plots were prepared from the results of all biological replicates. The abbreviations on X axes are: 1 (Control) – no bacteria/no phage, 2a (Bac+HP) – *A. hydrophila* infected fish and treated with high dose of phage, 2b (Bac+MP) – *A. hydrophila* infected fish and treated with medium dose of phage, 2c (Bac+LP) – *A. hydrophila* infected fish and treated with low dose of phage, 3a (HP) – uninfected fish injected fish injected with medium dose of phage.

Treatment	Fis	h 1	Fis	h 2	Fis	h 3	Fis	h 4	Fis	sh 5	Fis	h 6	Fis	h 7
Media	Т	Α	Т	Α	Т	Α	Т	Α	Т	Α	Т	Α	Т	Α
1 (Control)														
1 (Control)			\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark						
1 (Control)		\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark	\checkmark						
2a (Bac+HP)	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			
2a (Bac+HP)		\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
2a (Bac+HP)	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark										
2b (Bac+MP)	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				
2b (Bac+MP)	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark							
2b (Bac+MP)			\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
2c (Bac+LP)		\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark								
2c (Bac+LP)		\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				
2c (Bac+LP)		\checkmark												
3a (HP)		\checkmark		\checkmark										
3a (HP)		\checkmark		\checkmark										
3a (HP)		\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark		\checkmark						
3b (MP)	\checkmark													
3b (MP)		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark
3b (MP)			\checkmark			\checkmark		\checkmark						
3c (LP)		\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark
3c (LP)			\checkmark			\checkmark								
3c (LP)	\checkmark		\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark					\checkmark

Table 7-2. Qualitative detection of *A. hydrophila* in blood culture of each fish from the experimental tanks in TSA and AMB plates

Note: Tick ($\sqrt{}$) is the indication of positive *A. hydrophila* colony development on the plate. T denotes TSB and A denotes AMB; blanks indicate no colony. Each bacterial colony was biochemically tested (Gram staining, O/F test) to confirm *A. hydrophila* growth.

7.3.3. Effect of bacteria and bacteriophages on fish lysozyme activity and total immunoglobulin level

The blood of "non-infected" fish (treatment 3a) which was injected with a high dose of bacteriophage showed the highest lysozyme activity compared to the control or any of the other treatments (Figure 7-2 [a]). The observed increase in lysozyme activity could be due to the fish responding to the antigenic determinants on the phage and not in fact due to the pathogen, which would be consistent with observed results for "infected" fish.

When the "infected" fish were challenged with phage (treatments 2a, 2b and 2c), the lysozyme activity did not increase relative to the control (Figure 7-2 [a]) possibly because the fish had already developed some immunity to *Aeromonas* sp. from the endemic infection. This would also be consistent with the fact that no mortality was recorded after being further challenged with the bacteria.

In addition to that, the concentration of immunoglobulins in blood across all treatments showed no significant differences across the treatments (Figure 7-2 [b]).



Figure 0-2. [a] – lysozyme activity and [b] – total immunoglobulin level measured on the plasma of experimental silver perch fish. The abbreviations on X axes are: 1 (Control) – no bacteria/no phage, 2a (Bac+HP) – A. hydrophila infected fish and treated with high dose of phage, 2b (Bac+MP) – A. hydrophila infected fish and treated with medium dose of phage, 2c (Bac+LP) – A. hydrophila infected fish and treated with low dose of phage, 3a (HP) – uninfected fish injected with high dose of phage, 3b (MP) – uninfected fish injected fish injected with high dose of phage, 3b (MP) – uninfected fish

of phage. Each bar represents the mean value from three determinations with the error bars of standard error of mean.

7.3.4. Fish histopathology

The histological alterations observed in fish organs are detailed in the Appendix table 9-1. A brief description of histological changes observed from each of the fish organs is as follows:

7.3.4.1. Gill

Some significant histological anomalies were observed in the gill samples of the experimental fish from different treatment groups. The common histological findings in the gills were congestion and bridging fusion of the secondary lamellae (in approximately 80% of the samples) which resulted from the hypertrophy and hyperplasia of the epithelial cells. Some generalised epithelial thickening was also observed across approximately 60% of the samples. Changes in the gills observed in approximately 20% of fish samples were found to be consistent with a monogenean infection. Presence of mild to moderate levels of monogeneans (unidentified gill flukes) and "blue bodies" (*Chlamydophila*) are shown in Figures 7-3 [a], 7-3 [b], 7-3 [c], 7-3 [d], 7-3 [e] and 7-3 [f].

In summary the pathological changes were interpreted as incidental. Gill infection due to the *Chlamydophila* and presence of the monogeneans (unidentified gill flukes) are indicative of the fish being infected at their place of origin before they were received at the University experimental system.

From the gill pathology of the observed fish did not show any signs of infection due to *A*. *hydrophila* which mainly manifests as dermal lesions, scale loss, haemorrhaging around the infected area, fin rot or necrosis (DPI, 2007).



Figure 0-3. Histopathological analyses of gill tissue of silver perch; [a] - gill section showing monogenean infestation (bar – 200 µm); [b] - gill tissue showing bridging and laminar fusion with monogenean infestation (bar – 200 µm); <math>[c] - gill section showing Chlamydophila (blue bodies) infection (bar – 50 µm); [d] - gill section showing bridging and spongiosis of the secondary lamellae (bar – 10 µm); <math>[e] - gill section showing epithelial hyperplasia with mild secondary laminar fusion (bar – 20 µm); <math>[f] - presence of flukes in the gill (bar – 20 µm).

7.3.4.2. Digestive organs (liver, stomach, intestine, pancreas)

Twenty percent of the liver tissue samples of all examined fish showed mild to generalized hepatocellular vacuolation and lipidosis (Figure 7-4 [a]). Otherwise, no significant histological findings were observed. Stomach tissue sample did not show any significant histological alterations. Zymogen depletion and acinar cell atrophy were the significant histological changes observed in approximately 10% of the pancreas tissue samples (Figure 7-4 [b]). The histological changes observed in approximately 20% of fish intestine tissue were mild to moderate lymphocytic infiltration in the lamina propria of the pyloric caeca (image is not shown).

The mild changes observed in the digestive tissues were not indicative of infection with *A. hydrophila* and are occasionally observed in fish with generalised luminal antigenic presence. Stress due to the handling of fish and water quality of the experimental tank meant fish were not eating properly, probably leading to the pathological changes observed in the liver and pancreas which are consistent with inappetence and mild cachexia.

There was mild focal granulomatous coelomitis observed in one fish indicating possible focal reaction to injected material (Figure 7-4 [c]). It was anatomically situated around the site of injection. No intralesional bacteria were observed.



Figure 0-4. Histopathological analyses of digestive tissues of silver perch. [a] – liver section showing hepatocellular vacuolation (bar – 50 μm); [b] – pancreas section showing acinar cell atrophy and low zymogen (bar – 50 μm); [c] – section of the coelomic cavity near pancreas showing some areas of granulomatous coelomitis (bar – 10 μm).

7.3.4.3. Eyeball

Hyperplasia of the corneal epithelium or corneal thickening in 40% of the tissue samples (Figures 7-5 [a] and 7-5 [b]), congestion in the choroid plexus in approximately 40% of the tissue samples (Figures 7-5 [c], 7-5 [d] and 7-5 [e]) and mild macrophage infiltration in 20% of the tissue samples (Figure 7-5 [c]) were the most obvious histological changes observed in fish eyeball tissue samples.

These changes were not indicative of *A. hydrophila* infection but rather poor water quality and/or parasitic infestations.



Figure 0-5. Histopathological analyses of eyeball of silver perch. [a] – eyeball section showing hyperplasia of the corneal epithelium (bar – 50 μ m); [b] – eyeball section showing hyperplasia of the corneal epithelium and vacuolation in the corneal stroma (bar – 20 μ m); [c] – eyeball section showing congested choroid plexus and macrophage infiltration (bar – 20 μ m); [d] – eyeball section showing congestion in the choroid plexus (bar – 50 μ m); [e] – eyeball section showing choroid plexus congestion (bar – 50 μ m); [f] – eyeball section showing vacuolation of the corneal stroma (bar – 50 μ m).

7.3.4.4. Brain

The significant histological changes observed in the fish brain tissues (40% of the samples) were moderate to multifocal vacuolation in the grey and white matter (Figures 7-6 [a] and 7-6 [b]), marked vascular congestion (in approximately 10% of the samples). Otherwise no significant findings were observed.

Vacuolation in the brain of most samples of fish is normally indicative of hyperammonemia, as a consequence of ammonia toxicity. This has not been observed in silver perch previously, although it has been reported in zebrafish (Wang et al., 2019). It is also observed as an artefact of fixation and processing of brain tissues from fish.



Figure 0-6. Histopathological analyses of brain tissue of silver perch. [a] – brain section showing vacuolation of the grey matter and optic lobe (bar – $100 \ \mu m$); [b] – brain section showing vacuolation of the white matter (bar – $100 \ \mu m$).

7.3.4.5. Skin

No significant changes were observed in the skin tissue of the experimental fish. No significant findings (NSF) were observed in approximately 60% of the samples. Mild to generalized epithelial thickening (Figures 7-7 [a], 7-7 [b], and 7-7 [c]) with some loss of goblet cells was observed in approximately 30% of the samples. These changes are more consistent with the fish being affected by their environment i.e. poor water quality and/or high stocking density rather than specifically relating to signs of *A. hydrophila* infection.



Figure 0-7. Histopathological analyses of skin and muscle tissue of silver perch. [a] – skin section showing epithelial thickening, hyperplasia and loss of goblet cells (bar – 50 μ m); [b] – skin section showing epithelial thickening and loss of goblet cells (bar – 20 μ m); [c] and [d] – skin section showing epithelial hyperplasia (bar – 50 μ m) and muscle section (bar – 100 μ m) respectively.

7.3.4.6. Heart

Minimal histopathological changes were observed in the heart tissues examined. Approximately 10% of the heart tissue sample showed dense and spongy ventricular walls which can be related to stress (image is not shown).

7.3.4.7. Spleen and kidney

Moderate to multifocal infiltration of brown to black melanomacrophage centres and marked congestion with depletion of lymphoid tissue were observed in the spleen samples (Figure 7-8 [a], 7-8 [b] and 7-8 [c]).

Because of the aims of the present study to investigate the effect of bacteriophage on bacterial counts most of the kidney and spleen samples were used for *A. hydrophila* bacterial re-isolation and colony (cfu) counts for the bacteriophage efficacy analysis. Therefore, only a few spleen samples were collected for histopathology.

Some randomly picked histopathology slides were subject to Gram staining to observe the presence of *Aeromonas* (Gram negative rods) in the tissue. Some Gram negative rods were observed in all the Gram stained slides.



Figure 0-8. Histopathological analyses of spleen tissue of silver perch. [a] – spleen
section showing multifocal, brown to black melanomacrophage centres (bar – 50 μm); [b]
– spleen section showing ellipsoid disruption and presence of melanomacrophage centres (bar – 50 μm); [c] – spleen section showing generalized congestion, lymphoid depletion and ellipsoid disruption (bar – 20 μm).

7.4. Discussion

The present study aimed to examine the efficacy of four bacteriophages (which were described in chapter 4) with a view to developing a therapeutic tool to treat *A. hydrophila* infection in fish. For this purpose, an extensive challenge trial was designed using silver perch (*B. bidyanus*) as a model to evaluate the therapeutic potential of the experimental bacteriophages. The fish trial consisted of two different phases one of which was a preliminary pilot trial (consisting of 15 fish and 5 treatments) to assess the pathogenicity of the bacterial isolate and from there to determine the bacterial dose rate to be used in the second phase of trial (actual infection trial with 144 fish and 7 treatments). For the actual infection trial, the hypothesis was that *A. hydrophila* bacteriophage therapy will be useful

in reducing bacterial counts in the target organs (blood, spleen and kidney) within the fish body. There was also hope that a secondary assessment could be made in that the use of bacteriophage cocktail would reduce the morbidity and mortality in experimentally infected fish.

Initially fish were challenged with a single A. hydrophila strain (Ah10). Given the fact that lytic bacteriophages possess a very specific host range with no known impact on the environment (Gutiérrez et al., 2010, Jun et al., 2014) and to overcome challenges associated with phage resistance to bacteria (Levin and Bull, 2004, Nakai, 2010, Silva-Aciares et al., 2013, Vieira et al., 2012), a cocktail of four lytic bacteriophages was utilized in this study to counteract A. hydrophila infection. In addition, it has been found that a mixture or cocktail several bacteriophages is more effective in controlling bacterial infection and it is recommended that a phage cocktail be used for therapeutic purposes to overcome any bacteriophage resistance within the bacterial strain (Chan et al., 2013, Nieth et al., 2015, Mateus et al., 2014, Rao and Lalitha, 2015, Filippov et al., 2011, Chen et al., 2018). The results obtained from this challenge trial showed a significant treatment effect when averaged across the tanks and there was no difference between the bacterial counts from two different media (TSA or AMB) used for enumerating the reisolated A. hydrophila strain from kidney and spleen of the experimental fish. However, the overall result obtained was not sufficient to determine if the applied bacteriophage cocktail was effective in combatting A. hydrophila infection. It was clear that the fish were already sub-clinically colonised with Aeromonas sp. - although this was not realised at the start of the trial and that, they may have already developed immunity. As a result, after the infection, the number of reisolated Ah10 did not increase significantly because the fish may have already had immunity. For this reason, a comparison between the effectiveness of high, medium and low doses of bacteriophage could not be determined.

In the main study, administration of bacteriophage was via intraperitoneal (IP) injection as this type of administration has been proven to be a successful route of administration for immediate distribution of phages into the blood circulation system (Ryan et al., 2011, Verner–Jeffreys et al., 2007, Huff et al., 2003b). However, using this route of administration, each fish was sedated, injected, resuscitated and returned back to the tank which resulted in a variable degree of stress for the fish. Hence, there may be a need to reconsider the mode of bacteriophage administration. Moreover, from a practical perspective it would not be feasible to inject individual fish in a commercial aquaculture system. Future studies need to be undertaken to determine how stable the bacteriophage would be in the aquarium water as an emersion preparation. This would mean that larger volumes of bacteriophage stock would need to be generated for this delivery of treatment. Another possible route of administration that could be considered would be *per os*. Phage impregnated feed may be viable for therapeutic purposes. Sick fish however, tend not to consume normal amounts of offered feed and thus reducing the chance that phage impregnated feed would be consumed at a high enough level to produce the desired clinical result. Moreover, the acidic pH of the upper gastrointestinal tract may also affect the therapeutic potentiality of orally consumed phages (Nakai and Park, 2002, Silva et al., 2014b, Nakai et al., 1999).

It is also difficult to control or determine an accurate treatment dose of phage per fish when it is delivered through the aquatic environment compared to treatment of land-based farm animals. Additionally, for bath exposure, a very large amount of phage suspension is required to deliver the appropriate treatment dose per fish and so this approach is not feasible in terms of associated labour and cost involved for large scale fish aquaculture system. Nevertheless, studies done by Silva et al. (2014b) found that the administration of bacteriophage to fish larvae in water showed effective results as phage could reach the specific infection sites and destroy *Vibrio* sp. residing within the fish and on the skin of fish larvae. They also suggested that the delivery method and the life stages of experimental fish were the most important factors in designing a successful bacteriophage based therapeutic strategy for aquaculture.

Many studies of bacteriophage therapy have reported promising results in contrast to those from the present study (Li et al., 2016, Martínez-Díaz and Hipólito-Morales, 2013, Karunasagar et al., 2007, Silva et al., 2014b, Vinod et al., 2006). The data presented here indicates that there may be some limitations to bacteriophage treatment for *A. hydrophila* infection in silver perch as the fish were already sub-clinically infected with *Aeromonas* sp. Therefore, future trials should include microbiological assessment of the fish before any trials start and if any pathogens are isolated – they should either be treated with antibiotics to clear the infection or search for phages effective against those colonising bacteria. Alternatively, bacteriophages may be better applied as an adjunctive therapy in conjunction with antibiotics, rather than using it as a total replacement to the antibiotic use. The *A. hydrophila* counts from fish kidney and spleen demonstrated the effect of

different doses (high, medium and low) of bacteriophages on experimental fish (uninfected and infected with *A. hydrophila*). A medium dose was found to be the most effective of the doses used in this study. This is possibly because of the fact that when phages were present in high concentrations the bacterial count was too low to demonstrate phage efficiency or when low dose was used there were insufficient phage to infect the bacteria present. Moreover, it is already reported that phages remain active as long as their specific host organism is present (Oliveira et al., 2012, Efrony et al., 2007). However, sometimes the phage replication rate can be less than the rate of phage loss which may limit bacteriophage infectivity in aquaculture systems (Levin and Bull, 2004, Martínez-Díaz and Hipólito-Morales, 2013).

Fish develop some immunologic responses to the presence of bacteriophages which they recognize as foreign entities (Pirisi, 2000, Sulakvelidze and Morris, 2001, Oliveira et al., 2012). To observe the fish immune response to bacteriophages, lysozyme activity and total immunoglobulin (Ig) levels of fish blood plasma from each treatment group were determined. It was predicted that due to the systemic administration of bacteriophages to the fish body, there would be an acquired immune response development. However, lysozyme activity and total immunoglobulin (Ig) levels did not indicate any significant changes in the immune response resulting from bacteriophage administration (i.e. there was no statistical difference between control and treated fish immune assay). This could be as a result of infection with environmental Aeromonas sp. prior to the commencement of the actual infection trial. This conclusion is reinforced with the finding that there was no significant difference in concentration of immunoglobulins in blood from fish across all treatments and controls (i.e. pilot and actual challenge trial) indicating the immune response had already been primed prior to the trial beginning. Therefore, the primary and possibly the secondary immune response had already occurred prior to the challenge with bacteria and bacteria plus bacteriophage. In contrast to this study, another study on shrimp suggested some changes occurred in immune response due to the IP injection (Alagappan et al., 2016). Some other assays (e.g. respiratory burst, phagocytic activity, ELISA) could have been used for detecting immune response within the fish. However, the size of the fish in this trial study did not allow sufficient blood samples to be taken for conducting additional immunological assays.

Fish tissue histopathology was conducted to observe any potential histological changes resulting from *A. hydrophila* infection and bacteriophage treatment. As a result of the

limited application of the infection model revealing morbidity and mortality differences between control cohorts and treated cohorts within the study, it was proposed that immune active tissues (i.e. kidney and spleen) could be targeted for histopathological analysis. A limiting factor for this approach was however imposed by the fact that these organs were also required for bacterial re-isolation and the fish were not big enough to enable adequate samples to be collected for histopathological analysis. Hence, the present study recorded changes in all of the fish organs accepting that there were only a few histopathological changes that are consistently associated with *A. hydrophila* infection in teleost fish and none recorded for this infection in silver perch.

As reported previously (Dymowska et al., 2012, Zepeda-Velázquez et al., 2015), the changes in fish gill tissue observed in this study, such as epithelial hyperplasia or structural loss are changes induced by poor water quality or potential toxins. The water quality of the present study was maintained within accepted parameters for silver perch. The presence of monogenean fluke infection and many of the gill structural pathologies were chronic and possibly present on arrival of fish from their original source.

The zonal atrophy, vacuolation of the hepatocytes and hepatocellular degeneration observed in some of the fish liver samples (Figure 7-4 [a]) are consistent with changes observed in previous *A. hydrophila* infection studies (Wang et al., 2017, Hongda and Lihua, 1996, Zepeda-Velázquez et al., 2015). The instances of granulomatous coelomitis observed (Figure 7-4 [c]) was interpreted to be associated with the site of injection (IP) and has been previously reported by Coscelli et al. (2014).

A number of histopathological changes observed in the trial fish, such as corneal epithelial hyperplasia, macrophage infiltration and congestion of the choroid plexus (Figure 7-5) and vacuolation in the grey and white matter in the brain (Figure 7-6) are indicative of response to poor water quality and in particular an indication of high levels of ammonia in the culture water. Given that the water quality was maintained throughout the acclimatisation and trial period at optimal levels it was suspected that the fish were subjected to water quality stress prior to admission to the study. It should be noted however that limited histopathology findings resulting from high ammonia level have been published for silver perch (Feldman et al., 2014). The conclusions made from the histopathological tissue organ analyses indicate that in the absence of commonly associated pathologies with *A. hydrophila* infection, the pathologies that were noted were

probably as a result of stress on the fish induced by the route of injection (at trial), handling and the water quality in the premises of the supplier of the fish.

A limitation of the study was the pre-existing colonisation of the fish with *Aeromonas* sp. In hindsight it would have been wise to test a representative sample of the fish before commencing the pilot study. This would have also allowed assessment of any pre-existing pathologies which may have resulted from pre-existing bacterial infection. In addition, the small size of the fish compromised selection of adequate samples for histopathology while still allowing enough material for bacterial counts. Therefore, factors like size of the fish or the use of "pathogen free" fish should be considered prior to designing any experiment for any aquaculture-based setting.

Compared to terrestrial settings, aquatic environments have additional obstacles for therapeutics or feed additives. Therefore, it is always challenging to design a practical, suitable and effective therapeutic approach for the aquaculture environment. Another important factor associated with the selection of suitable bacteriophages as therapeutic agents is to check whether they are carrying any toxin encoding genes which may enhance the pathogenicity of the host bacterium. Therefore, preparation and selection of appropriate methods of purifying phages to remove bacterial toxins should be considered in order to avoid secondary infections in phage therapy.

It has already been reported that phages are not always able to reach the site of infection in the animal host and thus may be effective only as a preventive strategy (i.e. reducing environmental bacterial loads) instead of working as a control measure for bacterial infection (Martínez-Díaz and Hipólito-Morales, 2013). Compared to antibiotic based applications, some clinical approaches for treatment of bacterial infections can be more effective with the use of bacteriophage mediated applications. To identify all the details of the potential of this therapeutic approach, more rigorous research is required for making the bacteriophage application more achievable for the prophylaxis and treatment of bacterial infection and to secure more suitable and practical ways to overcome bacteriophage based therapeutic obstacles.

7.5. Conclusion

For the successful control of infectious disease in fish and shellfish communities, it is of prime importance to emphasize a few attributes in phage therapy: adequate and well-
planned strategies should be developed for accurately identifying causative pathogens. In addition, adequate knowledge of the isolated bacteriophage (such as, lytic activity, lifespan, phage-host interaction, and their infection duration) is a key factor to be considered; proper understanding of the surrounding environment and pathogenic variation in different seasons is also important.

The results obtained from the present study can serve as a reference for future therapeutic approaches for teleost fish indicating the potential of bacteriophage in controlling bacterial infections. However, it is important to validate the potential of bacteriophages and the limitations associated with their use in culture conditions. Moreover, environmental and seasonal based research needs to be conducted in both semi-intensive and real scale environments in order to assess the potential of this bacteriophage control strategy in different time points.

Conclusion and future direction

With the increasing concerns related to antibiotic resistance and issues associated with the presence of antibiotic residues within the aquatic food animals, bacteriophage therapy is now gaining attention as an alternative antibacterial control measure. Bacteriophages represent an excellent eco-friendly, cost effective and host-specific bacterial controlling device which specifically infects the bacterial cell by injecting phage genome into the host cells. Overall, the present study of four bacteriophages demonstrated a promising potential for use in reducing counts of a bacterial pathogen A. hydrophila in vitro. Part of the present study involved in vivo phage challenge trial in Silver Perch (B. bidyanus) as a model fish with a view to develop a phage therapeutic tool to treat A. hydrophila infection. The overall results of the trial warrants further investigation to determine the *in* vivo phage effectivity on experimental fish. The present study identified some issues which if resolved will improve future studies and facilitate successful results. While conducting the challenge trial, it could not be anticipated that the fish might already be sub-clinically colonised with Aeromonas sp. and that, they might have already developed immunity. Therefore, in future studies, the health status of the fish must be checked before the challenge trial and fish must also be investigated for any parasitic infestations. Ensuring the experimental tanks are operating optimally (e.g. controlling ammonia level, oxygenation) and maintaining appropriate stocking density are also pivotal factors to be considered in order to avoid the experimental fish getting stressed. Selection of pathogenic host bacterial strains (in this case Aeromonas sp.) for the challenge trial, screening of phage preparations to check for the presence of virulence genes and selecting only the phages negative for virulence factors also need to be considered prior conducting any challenge trial. Genotyping confirmation of the fact that the bacterial strain (in this case Aeromonas sp.) reisolated from the fish organs (e.g. kidney, liver, spleen) of the infected fish is the same as the one used for treatment also needs to be considered.

In the present study, a whole genomic investigation of four phage samples was conducted in order to know their genomic characteristics and to compare their similarity to known phages. Two novel phages were identified from the analysis. Following this analysis, more research can be done to understand the diversity of phages associated with each candidate bacterial pathogen, evolutionary relationships as well as to identify specific phages lacking an integration tool in their genome. This will aid to secure effective and safe use of phages as bactericidal tool in the aquaculture sector. The phage storage efficacy investigations performed in the present study have added significant information to enable secure phage storage under different temperature conditions as well as in the lyophilised state. The data generated from the present study will be useful for commercial agencies to evaluate and secure phage shelf-life and to build up new protocols for long term storage of phage.

Overall, this study has demonstrated the promising potential of *A. hydrophila* bacteriophages to be used for bacterial therapeutic purpose as a ground for further studies in the field of phage therapy. Nevertheless, detailed evaluation and proper risk assessment prior phage implementation will aid better outcome in future.

Appendix



Figure 0-1. Stability of Ah6_G bacteriophage solution with cryoprotectants; [a] – at 4 °C and [b] – at -80 °C. Error bars represent standard error of mean. Some error bars are too small to be visible.



Figure 0-2. Stability of Ah9_PP bacteriophage solution with cryoprotectants; [a] – at 4 °C and [b] – at -80 °C. Error bars represent standard error of mean. Some error bars are too small to be visible.



Control • 0.1 M Sucrose • 0.5 M Sucrose • 0.1 M Trehalose • 0.5 M Trehalose

Figure 0-3. Stability of Ah10_Se bacteriophage solution at three different temperatures with cryoprotectants; [a] – at 4 °C; [b] – at -20 °C & [c] – At -80 °C. Error bars represent standard error of mean. Some error bars are too small to be visible.



Figure 0-4. Stability of Ah10_S bacteriophage solution at three different temperatures with cryoprotectants; [a] – at 4 °C; [b] – at -20 °C & [c] – At -80 °C. Error bars represent standard error of mean. Some error bars are too small to be visible.

Gill	Muscle (Skin)	E	lyeball	Liver	Stomach	Pancreas	Intestine	Brain	I	Ieart	Spleen	Kidney
						Contro	bl					
 Multifocal thickening of the epithelium with bridging of the secondary lamellae Spongiosis of the secondary lamellae Branchitis (inflammation of the gill) Presence of monogeneans 	NSF	•	Generalize d hyperplasia of the corneal epithelium Congestion of the choroid plexus	NSF	NSF	NSF	NSF	NSF	Ν	NSF	NE	NE
Congestion of the secondary lamellae vessels, otherwise NSF	• Epith thicke of the with loss goble	elial • ening e skin focal of t cells	Thickening & hyperplasia of the corneal epithelium	• Diffused mild hepatocellu lar vacuolation	NSF	NSF	NSF	 Mo vac on gre wh ma the 	oderate • cuolati in the y and ite tter of brain	Dense ventricle wall of the heart, otherwise NSF	NE	NE
 Congestion of the secondary lamellae 	NSF	•	Congestion of the choroid plexus, otherwise NSF	Generalized fatty vacuolation of the hepatocytes	NSF	NSF	NSF	NSF	Ν	NSF	NE	NE
						Bac+ H	P					
 Marked epithelial thickening Vascular congestion Marked bridging and laminar fusion across most of the sample 	 Focal hyper Thick of epide with loss goble 	 plasia ening the rmis focal of t cells 	Focal thickenin g of the corneal epitheliu m and corneal matrix Multifoca	 Focal random areas of hepatocellu lar lipidosis 	NSF	NSF	 Moderat lympho cytic infiltrati on of the lamina propria 	NSF	•	Ventricul ar myocardi um is dense, but normal	 Multifocal, brown to black MMC 	NE

Table 0-1. Histo	pathological cha	anges and characteristic	s of different fish orga	ns from the fish be	elonging to each	n treatment and the control
		0				

•	Moderate to marked population of monogeneans (unidentified) within the gill as well as mild infestations of lymphocystis (chlamydophila like organisms) (blue bodies)		l cysts within the matrix of the cornea				• Villi atrophy in the pyloric caeca				
•	Focal congestion • Generalized moderate to marked epithelial • hyperplasia with mild secondary • laminar fusion Presence of chlamydophila (blue bodies)	Generalize • d epithelial thickening Loss of • goblet cells Focal spongiosis of the epithelium and hyperplasia	Corneal epithelial thickening Mild macrophag e infestation of the choroid plexus (increasing number of macrophag es)	NSF	NSF	NSF	NSF	NSF	NSF	NE	NE
•	Thickening of the • epithelium Bridging fusion of secondary lamellae •	Generalize • d thickness of the epithelium Loss of goblet cells • spongiosis	Marked • congestion of the choroid plexus Hyperplasi a, hypertroph y of corneal epithelium Moderate infiltration of macrophag e in the	Near liver, where we injected, there are multi-focal areas of granulomat ous coelomitis (injection reaction)	NSF	NSF	NSF	NSF	NSF	NE	NE

	choroid								
	plexus			Deel MD					
 Epithelial proliferation Bridging fusion of the epithelium Presence of goblet cells Congestion in the secondary lamellae Mild epithelial thickening thickening goblet cells 	NSF	NSF, Focal granulomatous in the coelom	NSF	NSF •	Epitheli • al sloughin g in the • pyloric caeca Mild infestati on in the lamina propria	Vascular congestio n Spongiosi s of the light and grey matter	NSF	NE	NE
 Generalized NSF spongiosis of the secondary lamellae Areas of congestion in the secondary lamellae 	 Thickening and hyperplasia of the corneal epithelium Corneal laminal separation with haemorrha ge Areas of multi vacuolation Generalize d congestion in the choroid plexus with macrophag e proliferatio n (reactive choroid plexus) 	Diffused mild hepatocellu lar vacuolation	NSF	• Depletio • n of zymoge n granules in the acinar cell of the pancreas (atrophy in the acinar cell)	Mild • lympho cytic infiltrati on in the lamina propria of the • intestine and pyloric caeca	Multifoca l vacuolati on of the white matter in the optic lobe Some vacuolati on in the brain stem as well	NSF	NE	NE

•	Generalized epithelial thickening Congestion and fusion of the secondary lamellae	NSF	NSF	Generalized vacuolation of the hepatocytes	NSF 1	NSF	NSF	 Multifoca areas of vacuolati on in both grey and white matter of the brain 	NSF	NE	NE
						Bac+ LP)				
•	Marked epithelial thickening Marked bridging and laminar fusion across most of the sample Generalized population of monogeneans (unidentified) within the gill as well as moderate infestations of lymphocystis (Chlamydophila like organisms) (Blue bodies)	NSF	NSF	 Zonal atrophy of the hepatocytes . Occasional pale staining MMC 	NSF I	NSF	NSF	NSF	 Spongy myocardi um, otherwise NSF 	NE	NE
•	Congestion of the secondary lamellae vessels	NSF	NSF	NSF	NSF I	NSF	NSF	 Mild focal vacuolati on of grey and white matter of the brain 	NSF	NE	NE
•	Generalized fusion and focal congestion of the secondary lamellae Presence of flukes	• Hyperplasi a of the skin	 Proliferatio Proliferatio n & hyperplasia of the corneal epithelium Vacuolatio n of the 	NSF	NSF •	Depletio n of zymoge n of acinar cell of pancreas	NSF	 Multifoca l areas of vacuolati on in both grey and white matter 	NSF	NE	NE

		corneal							
		stroma			UD				
•	Mild, generalized NSF epithelial hyperplasia Occasional focal congestions	NSF •	Dense, I normal (NSF)	NE NSF	NSF	NSF	NE	 Marked congestion with depletion of lymphoid tissue Mild numbers of pale staining MMC Mild ellipsoid disruption (mor- of a reactive spleen) No bacteria infestation 	 Interstitial lymphoid depletion Occasional MMC d e e 1
•	Congestion and NSF mild proliferation of the epithelium Focal fusion of the epithelium	NSF •	Dense and ¹ compact, otherwise NSF	NSF NSF	NSF	• Some vacuolati on in the grey matter of the optic lobe	NSF	NE	NE
•	Congestion of the • secondary lamellae, • otherwise NSF	 Moderate macrophag e infiltration, vessel degeneratio n (necrosis) in the choroid plexus 	Diffused I mild hepatocellu lar vacuolation	NSF NSF	NSF	NSF	NSF	NE	NE
					MP				
•	Proliferated gill NE Generalized reduction in the goblet cells Thickening of the base (indication of higher turnover	 Thick • corneal epithelium • (hyperplasi a) Hypertroph • y in the 	Moderately M fatty liver Vacuolatio n of the hepatocytes Occasionall y small,	NSF NSF	• Mild to moderat e infiltrati on of lympho cytes in	NSF	NSF	NE	NE

 rate of the epithelium) Spongiosis of the epithelium Focal, random congestion of the secondary lamellae vessels 	corneal membrane (indication of any kind of irritation in the fish) Moderately congested choroid plexus.	lightly staining MMC throughout the parenchym a			the lamina propria of the intestine and pyloric caeca			
 Moderate infection of chlamydophila (blue bodies) Focal bridging of secondary lamellae Spongiosis (significant lesions) Generalized • epithelial thickening Loss of goblet cells Focal • spongiosis of the epithelium and hyperplasia 	Marked congestion of the choroid plexus Moderate infiltration of the macrophag es	Focal fatty infiltration	NSF	NSF	NSF	 Marked NS vascular congestio n of the brain Focal vacuolati on of the grey matter, particularl y in the optic lobe Congestio n of the pituitary gland Focal myocardi al degenerat ion with proliferati on of mural macropha ges in the atrium 	 SF Marked NE generalized congestion Lymphoid depletion Small numbers of brown to black MMC Mild ellipsoid disruption 	
Congestion of the NSF vessel in the secondary	Markedly • congestion in the	Diffused mild hepatocell	NSF	NSF	NSF	Multifoca NS l vacuolati	SF NE NE	

	lamellae	choroid plexus	ular vacuolatio				on of the white matter in			
			11				the brain			
•	Congestion. NSF •	Marked	NSF	NSF	LP NSF	NSF	NSF	• Spongy	NE	NE
	spongiosis of the epithelium	congestion of the						Moderate proliferati		
•	Lymphoid infiltrations in the	choroid plexus						on of mural		
•	Branchitis (inflammation of the gill)							ges in the atrium		
•	Epithelial proliferation and hyperplasia of the secondaryFocal thickening of epithelium with loss ofIamellaewith loss of reshlat calla	NSF	• Diffused mild hepatocellu lar vacuolation	NSF	 Low abdomin al fat levels Atrophy 	NSF	• Multifoca l vacuolati on in the white	NSF	NE	NE
•	of the secondary lamellae				acinar cell		the brain			
•	chlamydophila (blue bodies) and flukes (unidentified)				• Low zymoge n					
•	Generalized NSF • epithelial proliferation in the gill	Congestio n of the choroid plexus	• No vacuolation , NSF	NSF	NSF	NSF	NSF	NSF	Generalized congestion, lymphoid depletion	NE
•	Bridging and generalized secondary lamellae fusion								 throughout the spleen Splenic ellipsoid intact Low number of brown staining MMC 	

*MMC – Melanomacrophage centres; *NSF – No significant findings; *NE – Not examine

References

- ABDELWAHED, W., DEGOBERT, G., STAINMESSE, S. & FESSI, H. 2006. Freezedrying of nanoparticles: formulation, process and storage considerations. *Advanced drug delivery reviews*, 58, 1688-1713.
- ABEDON, S. T. 2009. Kinetics of phage-mediated biocontrol of bacteria. *Foodborne* pathogens and disease, 6, 807-815.
- ABEDON, S. T., KUHL, S. J., BLASDEL, B. G. & KUTTER, E. M. 2011. Phage treatment of human infections. *Bacteriophage*, 1, 66-85.
- ACKERMANN, H.-W. 2004. 4 Bacteriophage Classification. *Bacteriophages: Biology and applications*, 67.
- ACKERMANN, H.-W. 2007. 5500 Phages examined in the electron microscope. Archives of virology, 152, 227-243.
- ACKERMANN, H.-W., DAUGUET, C., PATERSON, W., POPOFF, M., ROUF, M. & VIEU, J.-F. *Aeromonas* bacteriophages: reexamination and classification. Annales de l'Institut Pasteur/Virologie, 1985. Elsevier, 175-199.
- ACKERMANN, H.-W., TREMBLAY, D. & MOINEAU, S. 2004. Long-term bacteriophage preservation. *WFCC Newsletter*, 38, 35-40.
- ACKERMANN, H. W. 2003. Bacteriophage observations and evolution. *Research in Microbiology*, 154, 245-251.
- ACKERMANN, H. W. 2011. Bacteriophage taxonomy. *Microbiology Australia*, 32, 90-94.
- ADAMS, A. 2019. Progress, challenges and opportunities in fish vaccine development. *Fish & shellfish immunology*, 90, 210-214.
- ADAMS, M. H. 1959. Bacteriophages. Bacteriophages.
- ADESANYA, O., ODUSELU, T., AKIN-AJANI, O., ADEWUMI, O. M. & ADEMOWO, O. G. 2020. An exegesis of bacteriophage therapy: An emerging player in the fight against anti-microbial resistance. *AIMS Microbiology*, 6, 204.

- ADRIAENSSENS, E. & BRISTER, J. R. 2017. How to name and classify your phage: an informal guide. *Viruses*, 9, 70.
- ADRIAENSSENS, E. M., SULLIVAN, M. B., KNEZEVIC, P., VAN ZYL, L. J., SARKAR, B., DUTILH, B. E., ALFENAS-ZERBINI, P., ŁOBOCKA, M., TONG, Y. & BRISTER, J. R. 2020. Taxonomy of prokaryotic viruses: 2018-2019 update from the ICTV Bacterial and Archaeal Viruses Subcommittee. *Archives of virology*, 165, 1253-1260.
- AHIWALE, S., TAGUNDE, S., KHOPKAR, S., KARNI, M., GAJBHIYE, M. & KAPADNIS, B. 2013. Liquid based formulations of bacteriophages for the management of waterborne bacterial pathogens in water microcosms. *Indian journal of experimental biology*, 51(11), 1038-1045.
- AKHTAR, M., VIAZIS, S. & DIEZ-GONZALEZ, F. 2014. Isolation, identification and characterization of lytic, wide host range bacteriophages from waste effluents against *Salmonella enterica* serovars. *Food Control*, 38, 67-74.
- AKINBOWALE, O. L., PENG, H. & BARTON, M. D. 2006. Antimicrobial resistance in bacteria isolated from aquaculture sources in Australia. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 100, 1103-1113.
- AKMAL, M., RAHIMI-MIDANI, A., HAFEEZ-UR-REHMAN, M., HUSSAIN, A. & CHOI, T.-J. 2020. Isolation, Characterization, and Application of a Bacteriophage Infecting the Fish Pathogen *Aeromonas hydrophila*. *Pathogens*, 9, 215.
- ALAGAPPAN, K., KARUPPIAH, V. & DEIVASIGAMANI, B. 2016. Protective effect of phages on experimental *V. parahaemolyticus* infection and immune response in shrimp (Fabricius, 1798). *Aquaculture*, 453, 86-92.
- ALAVANDI, S., SUBASHINI, M. & ANANTHAN, S. 1998. Occurrence of haemolytic and cytotoxic *Aeromonas* species in domestic water supplies in Chennai.
- ALDERMAN, D. & HASTINGS, T. 1998. Antibiotic use in aquaculture: development of antibiotic resistance–potential for consumer health risks. *International journal of food science & technology*, 33, 139-155.

- ALFADHEL, M., PUAPERMPOONSIRI, U., FORD, S. J., MCINNES, F. J. & VAN DER WALLE, C. F. 2011. Lyophilized inserts for nasal administration harboring bacteriophage selective for *Staphylococcus aureus: in vitro* evaluation. *International journal of pharmaceutics*, 416, 280-287.
- ALMEIDA, A., CUNHA, Â., GOMES, N., ALVES, E., COSTA, L. & FAUSTINO, M.
 A. 2009. Phage therapy and photodynamic therapy: low environmental impact approaches to inactivate microorganisms in fish farming plants. *Marine drugs*, 7, 268-313.
- ALTAMIRANO, F. L. G. & BARR, J. J. 2019. Phage therapy in the postantibiotic era. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 32.
- AMORIJ, J., HUCKRIEDE, A., WILSCHUT, J., FRIJLINK, H. & HINRICHS, W. 2008. Development of stable influenza vaccine powder formulations: challenges and possibilities. *Pharmaceutical research*, 25, 1256-1273.
- ANAND, T., BERA, B. C., VIRMANI, N., VAID, R. K., VASHISTH, M. & TRIPATHI,
 B. N. 2018. Isolation and characterization of a novel, T7-like phage against Aeromonas veronii. Virus genes, 54, 160-164.
- ANAND, T., VAID, R. K., BERA, B. C., SINGH, J., BARUA, S., VIRMANI, N., YADAV, N. K., NAGAR, D., SINGH, R. K. & TRIPATHI, B. 2016. Isolation of a lytic bacteriophage against virulent *Aeromonas hydrophila* from an organized equine farm. *Journal of basic microbiology*, 56, 432-437.
- ANDERSON, D. P. 1992. Immunostimulants, adjuvants, and vaccine carriers in fish: applications to aquaculture. *Annual Review of Fish Diseases*, 2, 281-307.
- ANDYA, J. D., HSU, C. C. & SHIRE, S. J. 2003. Mechanisms of aggregate formation and carbohydrate excipient stabilization of lyophilized humanized monoclonal antibody formulations. *Aaps Pharmsci*, 5, 21.
- ARAKAWA, T., PRESTRELSKI, S. J., KENNEY, W. C. & CARPENTER, J. F. 2001. Factors affecting short-term and long-term stabilities of proteins. *Advanced drug delivery reviews*, 46, 307-326.

- ATTERBURY, R. J., VAN BERGEN, M., ORTIZ, F., LOVELL, M., HARRIS, J., DE BOER, A., WAGENAAR, J., ALLEN, V. & BARROW, P. 2007. Bacteriophage therapy to reduce *Salmonella* colonization of broiler chickens. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 73, 4543-4549.
- AUSTIN, B. & AUSTIN, D. A. 2007. *Bacterial fish pathogens: disease of farmed and wild fish*, Springer Science & Business Media.
- BAI, M., CHENG, Y.-H., SUN, X.-Q., WANG, Z.-Y., WANG, Y.-X., CUI, X.-L. & XIAO, W. 2019. Nine Novel Phages from a Plateau Lake in Southwest China: Insights into *Aeromonas* Phage Diversity. *Viruses*, 11, 615.
- BANKEVICH, A., NURK, S., ANTIPOV, D., GUREVICH, A. A., DVORKIN, M., KULIKOV, A. S., LESIN, V. M., NIKOLENKO, S. I., PHAM, S. & PRJIBELSKI, A. D. 2012. SPAdes: a new genome assembly algorithm and its applications to single-cell sequencing. *Journal of computational biology*, 19, 455-477.
- BARROW, P. A. & SOOTHILL, J. S. 1997. Bacteriophage therapy and prophylaxis: rediscovery and renewed assessment of potential. *Trends in microbiology*, 5, 268-271.
- BEAZ-HIDALGO, R. & FIGUERAS, M. 2013. *Aeromonas* spp. whole genomes and virulence factors implicated in fish disease. *Journal of fish diseases*, 36, 371-388.
- BERTHE, F. Diseases in mollusc hatcheries and their paraedox in health management. Diseases in Asian Aquaculture, 2005.
- BLATTNER, F. R., PLUNKETT, G., BLOCH, C. A., PERNA, N. T., BURLAND, V., RILEY, M., COLLADO-VIDES, J., GLASNER, J. D., RODE, C. K. & MAYHEW, G. F. 1997. The complete genome sequence of *Escherichia coli* K-12. *science*, 277, 1453-1462.
- BOSTOCK, J., MCANDREW, B., RICHARDS, R., JAUNCEY, K., TELFER, T., LORENZEN, K., LITTLE, D., ROSS, L., HANDISYDE, N., GATWARD, I. & CORNER, R. 2010. Aquaculture: global status and trends. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, 365, 2897-912.

- BRADLEY, D. 1965. The isolation and morphology of some new bacteriophages specific for *Bacillus* and *Acetobacter* species. *Microbiology*, 41, 233-241.
- BREITBART, M. 2012. Marine viruses: truth or dare. Marine Science, 4.
- BROVKO, L. Y., ANANY, H. & GRIFFITHS, M. W. 2012. Bacteriophages for detection and control of bacterial pathogens in food and food-processing environment, Elsevier.
- BURROWES, B., HARPER, D. R., ANDERSON, J., MCCONVILLE, M. & ENRIGHT, M. C. 2011. Bacteriophage therapy: potential uses in the control of antibioticresistant pathogens. *Expert review of anti-infective therapy*, 9, 775-785.
- CABELLO, F. C. 2006. Heavy use of prophylactic antibiotics in aquaculture: a growing problem for human and animal health and for the environment. *Environmental microbiology*, 8, 1137-1144.
- CAFLISCH, K. M., SUH, G. A. & PATEL, R. 2019. Biological challenges of phage therapy and proposed solutions: a literature review. *Expert review of anti-infective therapy*, 17, 1011-1041.
- CAO, Y., HE, S., ZHOU, Z., ZHANG, M., MAO, W., ZHANG, H. & YAO, B. 2012. Orally administered thermostable N-acyl homoserine lactonase from *Bacillus* sp. strain AI96 attenuates *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection in zebrafish. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 78, 1899-1908.
- CAO, Y., LI, S., WANG, D., ZHAO, J., XU, L., LIU, H., LU, T. & MOU, Z. 2019. Genomic characterization of a novel virulent phage infecting the Aeromonas hydrophila isolated from rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Virus research, 273, 197764.
- CARLTON, R. M. 1999. Phage therapy: past history and future prospects. Archivum Immunologiae Et Therapiae Experimentalis-English Edition-, 47, 267-274.
- CARNE, H. & GREAVES, R. 1974. Preservation of corynebacteriophages by freezedrying. *Epidemiology & Infection*, 72, 467-470.

- CARRIAS, A., WELCH, T. J., WALDBIESER, G. C., MEAD, D. A., TERHUNE, J. S.
 & LILES, M. R. 2011. Comparative genomic analysis of bacteriophages specific to the channel catfish pathogen *Edwardsiella ictaluri*. *Virology journal*, 8, 6.
- CASABIANCA, A., ORLANDI, C., BARBIERI, F., SABATINI, L., DI CESARE, A., SISTI, D., PASQUAROLI, S., MAGNANI, M. & CITTERIO, B. 2015. Effect of starvation on survival and virulence expression of *Aeromonas hydrophila* from different sources. *Archives of microbiology*, 197, 431-438.
- CASTRO-MEJÍA, J. L., MUHAMMED, M. K., KOT, W., NEVE, H., FRANZ, C. M., HANSEN, L. H., VOGENSEN, F. K. & NIELSEN, D. S. 2015. Optimizing protocols for extraction of bacteriophages prior to metagenomic analyses of phage communities in the human gut. *Microbiome*, 3, 64.
- CHAN, B. K., ABEDON, S. T. & LOC-CARRILLO, C. 2013. Phage cocktails and the future of phage therapy. *Future microbiology*, 8, 769-783.
- CHANDRARATHNA, H., NIKAPITIYA, C., DANANJAYA, S., DE SILVA, B., HEO, G.-J., DE ZOYSA, M. & LEE, J. 2020. Isolation and characterization of phage AHP-1 and its combined effect with chloramphenicol to control *Aeromonas hydrophila*. *Brazilian Journal of Microbiology*, 51, 409-416.
- CHANG, Q., WANG, W., REGEV-YOCHAY, G., LIPSITCH, M. & HANAGE, W. P. 2015. Antibiotics in agriculture and the risk to human health: how worried should we be? *Evolutionary applications*, 8, 240-247.
- CHEE-SANFORD, J. C., MACKIE, R. I., KOIKE, S., KRAPAC, I. G., LIN, Y.-F., YANNARELL, A. C., MAXWELL, S. & AMINOV, R. I. 2009. Fate and transport of antibiotic residues and antibiotic resistance genes following land application of manure waste. *Journal of environmental quality*, 38, 1086-1108.
- CHEN, J., SUN, R., PAN, C., SUN, Y., MAI, B. & LI, Q. X. 2020. Antibiotics and food safety in aquaculture. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 68, 11908-11919.

- CHEN, L., YUAN, S., LIU, Q., MAI, G., YANG, J., DENG, D., ZHANG, B., LIU, C. & MA, Y. 2018. *In vitro* design and evaluation of phage cocktails against *Aeromonas salmonicida. Frontiers in microbiology*, 9, 1476.
- CHEN, Z., ERICKSON, D. L. & MENG, J. 2021. Polishing the Oxford Nanopore longread assemblies of bacterial pathogens with Illumina short reads to improve genomic analyses. *Genomics*, 113, 1366-1377.
- CHENG, Y., GAO, D., XIA, Y., WANG, Z., BAI, M., LUO, K., CUI, X., WANG, Y., ZHANG, S. & XIAO, W. 2021. Characterization of Novel Bacteriophage AhyVDH1 and Its Lytic Activity Against Aeromonas hydrophila. Current Microbiology, 78, 329-337.
- CHENIA, H. & DUMA, S. 2017. Characterization of virulence, cell surface characteristics and biofilm-forming ability of *Aeromonas* spp. isolates from fish and sea water. *Journal of fish diseases*, 40, 339-350.
- CHOW, M. S. & ROUF, M. 1983. Isolation and partial characterization of two Aeromonas hydrophila bacteriophages. Applied and environmental microbiology, 45, 1670-1676.
- CIPRIANO, R. C. & AUSTIN, B. 2006. 12 Furunculosis and Other Aeromonad Diseases. *Fish diseases and disorders*, 3, 424.
- CITTERIO, B. & BIAVASCO, F. 2015. Aeromonas hydrophila virulence. Virulence, 6, 417-418.
- CLARK, J. R. & MARCH, J. B. 2004. Bacterial viruses as human vaccines? *Expert Review of Vaccines*, 3, 463-476.
- CLARK, J. R. & MARCH, J. B. 2006. Bacteriophages and biotechnology: vaccines, gene therapy and antibacterials. *Trends in biotechnology*, 24, 212-218.
- CLARK, W. A. 1962. Comparison of several methods for preserving bacteriophages. *Applied microbiology*, 10, 466-471.
- CLOKIE, M. R., MILLARD, A. D., LETAROV, A. V. & HEAPHY, S. 2011. Phages in nature. *Bacteriophage*, 1, 31-45.

- COCHRAN, P. K., KELLOGG, C. A. & PAUL, J. H. 1998. Prophage induction of indigenous marine lysogenic bacteria by environmental pollutants. *Marine Ecology-Progress Series*, 164, 125.
- COLAVECCHIO, A. & GOODRIDGE, L. D. 2018. Phage therapy approaches to reducing pathogen persistence and transmission in animal production environments: Opportunities and challenges. *Preharvest Food Safety*, 289-308.
- COLOM, J., CANO-SARABIA, M., OTERO, J., CORTÉS, P., MASPOCH, D. & LLAGOSTERA, M. 2015. Liposome-encapsulated bacteriophages for enhanced oral phage therapy against *Salmonella*. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, AEM. 00812-15.
- COSCELLI, G. A., BERMÚDEZ, R., LOSADA, A. P., FAÍLDE, L. D., SANTOS, Y. & QUIROGA, M. I. 2014. Acute Aeromonas salmonicida infection in turbot (Scophthalmus maximus L.). Histopathological and immunohistochemical studies. Aquaculture, 430, 79-85.
- COX, C., HARRIS, W. & LEE, J. 1974. Viability and electron microscope studies of phages T3 and T7 subjected to freeze-drying, freeze-thawing and aerosolization. *Microbiology*, 81, 207-215.
- CROTHERS-STOMPS, C., HOJ, L., BOURNE, D. G., HALL, M. R. & OWENS, L. 2010. Isolation of lytic bacteriophage against *Vibrio harveyi*. J Appl Microbiol, 108, 1744-50.
- D'HERELLE, F. 1929. Studies upon Asiatic cholera. *The Yale journal of biology and medicine*, 1, 195.
- DAHANAYAKE, P., HOSSAIN, S., WICKRAMANAYAKE, M. & HEO, G. J. 2019. Antibiotic and heavy metal resistance genes in *Aeromonas* spp. isolated from marketed Manila Clam (*Ruditapes philippinarum*) in Korea. *Journal of applied microbiology*, 127, 941-952.
- DAVIES, J. & KELLY, M. 1969. The preservation of bacteriophage H1 of Corynebacterium ulcerans U 103 by freeze-drying. Epidemiology & Infection, 67, 573-583.

- DEFOIRDT, T., SORGELOOS, P. & BOSSIER, P. 2011. Alternatives to antibiotics for the control of bacterial disease in aquaculture. *Current opinion in microbiology*, 14, 251-258.
- DHANAPALA, P. M., KALUPAHANA, R. S., KALUPAHANA, A. W., WIJESEKERA, D., KOTTAWATTA, S. A., JAYASEKERA, N. K., SILVA-FLETCHER, A. & JAGODA, S. D. S. 2021. Characterization and Antimicrobial Resistance of Environmental and Clinical *Aeromonas* Species Isolated from Fresh Water Ornamental Fish and Associated Farming Environment in Sri Lanka. *Microorganisms*, 9, 2106.
- DONG, D., SUTARIA, S., HWANGBO, J. Y. & CHEN, P. 2013. A simple and rapid method to isolate purer M13 phage by isoelectric precipitation. *Applied microbiology and biotechnology*, 97, 8023-8029.
- DONG, J., LIU, Y., XU, N., YANG, Q. & AI, X. 2018. Morin protects channel catfish from Aeromonas hydrophila infection by blocking aerolysin activity. Frontiers in microbiology, 9, 2828.
- DOSS, J., CULBERTSON, K., HAHN, D., CAMACHO, J. & BAREKZI, N. 2017. A review of phage therapy against bacterial pathogens of aquatic and terrestrial organisms. *Viruses*, 9, 50.
- DPI, N. 2007. Diagnosis, treatment and prevention of the diseases of the australian freshwater fish silver perch (*Bidyanus bidyanus*). NSW: Australian Government, Fisheries research and development corporation.
- DRULIS-KAWA, Z., MAJKOWSKA-SKROBEK, G., MACIEJEWSKA, B., DELATTRE, A.-S. & LAVIGNE, R. 2012. Learning from bacteriophagesadvantages and limitations of phage and phage-encoded protein applications. *Current protein & peptide science*, 13, 699.
- DYMOWSKA, A. K., HWANG, P.-P. & GOSS, G. G. 2012. Structure and function of ionocytes in the freshwater fish gill. *Respiratory physiology & neurobiology*, 184, 282-292.

- DZIDIC, S. & BEDEKOVIĆ, V. 2003. Horizontal gene transfer-emerging multidrug resistance in hospital bacteria. *Acta Pharmacologica Sinica*, 24, 519-526.
- EASWARAN, M., DANANJAYA, S., PARK, S., LEE, J., SHIN, H. & DE ZOYSA, M.
 2016. Characterization of bacteriophage pAh-1 and its protective effects on experimental infection of *Aeromonas hydrophila* in Zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). J Fish Dis, 40, 841-846.
- EDWARDS, R. A. & ROHWER, F. 2005. Viral metagenomics. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 3, 504.
- EFRONY, R., LOYA, Y., BACHARACH, E. & ROSENBERG, E. 2007. Phage therapy of coral disease. *Coral Reefs*, 26, 7-13.
- EL-ARABY, D., EL-DIDAMONY, G. & MEGAHED, M. 2016. New approach to use phage therapy against *Aeromonas hydrophila* induced Motile *Aeromonas Septicemia* in nile tilapia. *J. Mar. Sci. Res. Dev*, 6.
- FANG, H.-M., GE, R. & SIN, Y. M. 2004. Cloning, characterisation and expression of *Aeromonas hydrophila* major adhesin. *Fish & shellfish immunology*, 16, 645-658.
- FAO. 2015. Fish health management in aquaculture [Online]. Available: http://www.fao.org/fishery/topic/13545/en [Accessed].
- FAO. 2018. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture [Online]. Available: https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=11&cad= rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjAlYSfipvnAhVDU30KHecYA-0QFjAKegQIAxAB&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.fao.org%2F3%2Fi9540en%2Fi 9540en.pdf&usg=AOvVaw20-i08dUuhkQFt4F71GyJh [Accessed].
- FAUQUET, C., MAYO, M., MANILOFF, J., DESSELBERGER, U. & BALL, L. 2005. Virus taxonomy. Eight Report of the International committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. Academic, New York, 1162.
- FELDMAN, B., TUCHMAN, M. & CALDOVIC, L. 2014. A zebrafish model of hyperammonemia. *Molecular genetics and metabolism*, 113, 142-147.

- FERNÁNDEZ-BRAVO, A. & FIGUERAS, M. 2020. An update on the genus *Aeromonas*: taxonomy, epidemiology, and pathogenicity. Microorganisms 8: 129.
- FERNÁNDEZ, L., GUTIÉRREZ, D., GARCÍA, P. & RODRÍGUEZ, A. 2019. The perfect bacteriophage for therapeutic applications—a quick guide. *Antibiotics*, 8, 126.
- FERNÁNDEZ, L., GUTIÉRREZ, D., RODRÍGUEZ, A. & GARCÍA, P. 2018. Application of bacteriophages in the agro-food sector: a long way toward approval. *Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology*, 8, 296.
- FILIPPOV, A. A., SERGUEEV, K. V., HE, Y., HUANG, X.-Z., GNADE, B. T., MUELLER, A. J., FERNANDEZ-PRADA, C. M. & NIKOLICH, M. P. 2011. Bacteriophage-resistant mutants in *Yersinia pestis:* identification of phage receptors and attenuation for mice. *PloS one*, 6, e25486.
- FLINT, K. 1996. A method for the enumeration of *Aeromonas* bacteriophage in aquatic environments. *Letters in applied microbiology*, 22, 244-248.
- FURFARO, L. L., PAYNE, M. S. & CHANG, B. J. 2018. Bacteriophage therapy: clinical trials and regulatory hurdles. *Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology*, 8, 376.
- GARCIA, P., MARTINEZ, B., OBESO, J. M. & RODRIGUEZ, A. 2008. Bacteriophages and their application in food safety. *Lett Appl Microbiol*, 47, 479-85.
- GATESOUPE, F. 1999. The use of probiotics in aquaculture. Aquaculture, 180, 147-165.
- GOLEC, P., DĄBROWSKI, K., HEJNOWICZ, M. S., GOZDEK, A., ŁOŚ, J. M., WĘGRZYN, G., ŁOBOCKA, M. B. & ŁOŚ, M. 2011. A reliable method for storage of tailed phages. *Journal of microbiological methods*, 84, 486-489.
- GOLSHAHI, L., SEED, K. D., DENNIS, J. J. & FINLAY, W. H. 2008. Toward modern inhalational bacteriophage therapy: nebulization of bacteriophages of *Burkholderia cepacia* complex. *Journal of aerosol medicine and pulmonary drug delivery*, 21, 351-360.

- GONZALEZ-MENENDEZ, E., FERNANDEZ, L., GUTIERREZ, D., RODRIGUEZ, A., MARTINEZ, B. & GARCIA, P. 2018. Comparative analysis of different preservation techniques for the storage of *Staphylococcus* phages aimed for the industrial development of phage-based antimicrobial products. *PLoS One*, 13, e0205728.
- GOODRIDGE, L., GALLACCIO, A. & GRIFFITHS, M. W. 2003. Morphological, host range, and genetic characterization of two coliphages. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 69, 5364-5371.
- GOULD, E. A. 1999. Methods for long-term virus preservation. *Molecular biotechnology*, 13, 57-66.
- GUTIÉRREZ, D., MARTÍNEZ, B., RODRÍGUEZ, A. & GARCÍA, P. 2010. Isolation and characterization of bacteriophages infecting *Staphylococcus epidermidis*. *Current microbiology*, 61, 601-608.
- HAI, N. 2015. The use of probiotics in aquaculture. *Journal of applied microbiology*, 119, 917-935.
- HANDFIELD, M., SIMARD, P., COUILLARD, M. & LETARTE, R. 1996. Aeromonas hydrophila isolated from food and drinking water: hemagglutination, hemolysis, and cytotoxicity for a human intestinal cell line (HT-29). Applied and environmental microbiology, 62, 3459-3461.
- HANLON, G. W. 2007. Bacteriophages: an appraisal of their role in the treatment of bacterial infections. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*, 30, 118-28.
- HAQ, I. U., CHAUDHRY, W. N., AKHTAR, M. N., ANDLEEB, S. & QADRI, I. 2012a.
 Bacteriophages and their implications on future biotechnology: a review. *Virol J*, 9.
- HAQ, I. U., CHAUDHRY, W. N., ANDLEEB, S. & QADRI, I. 2012b. Isolation and Partial Characterization of a Virulent Bacteriophage IHQ1 Specific for *Aeromonas punctata* from Stream Water. *Microbial ecology*, 63, 954-963.

- HARIKRISHNAN, R. & BALASUNDARAM, C. 2005. Modern trends in Aeromonas hydrophila disease management with fish. Reviews in Fisheries Science, 13, 281-320.
- HARIKRISHNAN, R., BALASUNDARAM, C. & HEO, M.-S. 2010. Herbal supplementation diets on hematology and innate immunity in goldfish against *Aeromonas hydrophila*. *Fish & shellfish immunology*, 28, 354-361.
- HARIKRISHNAN, R., RANI, M. N. & BALASUNDARAM, C. 2003. Hematological and biochemical parameters in common carp, *Cyprinus carpio*, following herbal treatment for *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection. *Aquaculture*, 221, 41-50.
- HASSAN, A. Y., LIN, J. T., RICKER, N. & ANANY, H. 2021. The Age of Phage: Friend or Foe in the New Dawn of Therapeutic and Biocontrol Applications? *Pharmaceuticals*, 14, 199.
- HÅSTEIN, T., GUDDING, R. & EVENSEN, O. 2005. Bacterial vaccines for fish--an update of the current situation worldwide. *Developments in biologicals*, 55-74.
- HATFULL, G. F. 2008. Bacteriophage genomics. *Current opinion in microbiology*, 11, 447-453.
- HAWKINS, C., HARPER, D., BURCH, D., ÄNGGÅRD, E. & SOOTHILL, J. 2010. Topical treatment of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* otitis of dogs with a bacteriophage mixture: a before/after clinical trial. *Veterinary microbiology*, 146, 309-313.
- HAYAKIJKOSOL, O., OWENS, L. & PICARD, J. 2017. Case report of bacterial infections in a redclaw crayfish (*Cherax quadricarinatus*) hatchery. *Aquaculture*, 475, 1-7.
- HERMOSO, J. A., GARCÍA, J. L. & GARCÍA, P. 2007. Taking aim on bacterial pathogens: from phage therapy to enzybiotics. *Current opinion in microbiology*, 10, 461-472.
- HIGUERA, G., BASTÍAS, R., TSERTSVADZE, G., ROMERO, J. & ESPEJO, R. T. 2013. Recently discovered *Vibrio anguillarum* phages can protect against

experimentally induced vibriosis in Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar. *Aquaculture*, 392, 128-133.

- HOANG, H. A., XUAN, T. T., NGA, L. P. & OANH, D. T. 2019. Selection of phages to control Aeromonas hydrophila – An infectious agent in striped catfish. Biocontrol science, 24, 23-28.
- HØLVOLD, L. B., MYHR, A. I. & DALMO, R. A. 2014. Strategies and hurdles using DNA vaccines to fish. *Veterinary research*, 45, 21.
- HONGDA, L. & LIHUA, J. 1996. Studies on the Aeromonas hydrophila septicemia of soft shelled *Trionyx sinensis*. Journal of Fisheries of china 3.
- HOWARD-VARONA, C., HARGREAVES, K. R., ABEDON, S. T. & SULLIVAN, M.B. 2017. Lysogeny in nature: mechanisms, impact and ecology of temperate phages. *The ISME journal*, 11, 1511-1520.
- HSU, C.-H., LO, C.-Y., LIU, J.-K. & LIN, C.-S. 2000. Control of the eel (Anguilla *japonica*) pathogens, Aeromonas hydrophila and Edwardsiella tarda, by bacteriophages. Journal of the Fisheries Society of Taiwan, 27, 21-31.
- HUFF, W., HUFF, G., RATH, N., BALOG, J. & DONOGHUE, A. 2002. Prevention of *Escherichia coli* infection in broiler chickens with a bacteriophage aerosol spray. *Poultry science*, 81, 1486-1491.
- HUFF, W., HUFF, G., RATH, N., BALOG, J. & DONOGHUE, A. 2003a. Bacteriophage treatment of a severe *Escherichia coli* respiratory infection in broiler chickens. *Avian diseases*, 47, 1399-1405.
- HUFF, W., HUFF, G., RATH, N., BALOG, J. & DONOGHUE, A. 2003b. Evaluation of aerosol spray and intramuscular injection of bacteriophage to treat an *Escherichia coli* respiratory infection. *Poultry science*, 82, 1108-1112.
- HUFF, W., HUFF, G., RATH, N. & DONOGHUE, A. 2010. Immune interference of bacteriophage efficacy when treating colibacillosis in poultry. *Poultry science*, 89, 895-900.

- HYMAN, P. & ABEDON, S. T. 2010. Bacteriophage host range and bacterial resistance. *Advances in applied microbiology*, 70, 217-248.
- IGBINOSA, I. H., CHIGOR, V. N., IGBINOSA, E. O., OBI, L. C. & OKOH, A. I. 2013. Antibiogram, adhesive characteristics, and incidence of class 1 integron in *Aeromonas* species isolated from two South African rivers. *BioMed Research International*, 2013.
- IMBEAULT, S., PARENT, S., LAGACÉ, M., UHLAND, C. F. & BLAIS, J.-F. 2006. Using bacteriophages to prevent furunculosis caused by *Aeromonas salmonicida* in farmed brook trout. *Journal of aquatic animal health*, 18, 203-214.
- INAL, J. M. 2003. Phage therapy: a reappraisal of bacteriophages as antibiotics.
- ISHIDA, Y., AHMED, A. M., MAHFOUZ, N. B., KIMURA, T., EL-KHODERY, S. A., MOAWAD, A. A. & SHIMAMOTO, T. 2010. Molecular analysis of antimicrobial resistance in gram-negative bacteria isolated from fish farms in Egypt. *The Journal of veterinary medical science/the Japanese Society of Veterinary Science*, 72, 727-734.
- JAHANGIRI, L. & ESTEBAN, M. 2018. Administration of Probiotics in the Water in Finfish Aquaculture Systems: A Review. *Fishes*, 3, 33.
- JANDA, J. M. & ABBOTT, S. L. 2010. The genus *Aeromonas*: taxonomy, pathogenicity, and infection. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 23, 35-73.
- JASSIM, S. A. & LIMOGES, R. G. 2014. Natural solution to antibiotic resistance: bacteriophages 'The Living Drugs'. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 30, 2153-2170.
- JEPSON, C. D. & MARCH, J. B. 2004. Bacteriophage lambda is a highly stable DNA vaccine delivery vehicle. *Vaccine*, 22, 2413-2419.
- JIN, L., CHEN, Y., YANG, W., QIAO, Z. & ZHANG, X. 2020. Complete genome sequence of fish-pathogenic *Aeromonas hydrophila* HX-3 and a comparative analysis: insights into virulence factors and quorum sensing. *Scientific reports*, 10, 1-15.

- JOŃCZYK, E., KŁAK, M., MIĘDZYBRODZKI, R. & GÓRSKI, A. 2011. The influence of external factors on bacteriophages. *Folia microbiologica*, 56, 191-200.
- JUN, J. W., KIM, H. J., YUN, S. K., CHAI, J. Y. & PARK, S. C. 2015. Genomic structure of the *Aeromonas* bacteriophage pAh6-C and its comparative genomic analysis. *Archives of virology*, 160, 561-564.
- JUN, J. W., KIM, J. H., GOMEZ, D. K., CHORESCA JR, C. H., HAN, J. E., SHIN, S. P. & PARK, S. C. 2010. Occurrence of tetracycline-resistant Aeromonas hydrophila infection in Korean cyprinid loach (*Misgurnus anguillicaudatus*). African Journal of Microbiology Research, 4, 849-855.
- JUN, J. W., KIM, J. H., SHIN, S. P., HAN, J. E., CHAI, J. Y. & PARK, S. C. 2013. Protective effects of the *Aeromonas* phages pAh1-C and pAh6-C against mass mortality of the cyprinid loach (*Misgurnus anguillicaudatus*) caused by *Aeromonas hydrophila*. Aquaculture, 416, 289-295.
- JUN, J. W., SHIN, T. H., KIM, J. H., SHIN, S. P., HAN, J. E., HEO, G. J., DE ZOYSA, M., SHIN, G. W., CHAI, J. Y. & PARK, S. C. 2014. Bacteriophage therapy of a *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* infection caused by a multiple-antibiotic-resistant O3:K6 pandemic clinical strain. *J Infect Dis*, 210, 72-8.
- KAKASIS, A. & PANITSA, G. 2019. Bacteriophage therapy as an alternative treatment for human infections. A comprehensive review. *International journal of antimicrobial agents*, 53, 16-21.
- KARUNASAGAR, I., SHIVU, M. M., GIRISHA, S. K., KROHNE, G. & KARUNASAGAR, I. 2007. Biocontrol of pathogens in shrimp hatcheries using bacteriophages. *Aquaculture*, 268, 288-292.
- KARUNASAGAR, I., VINOD, M., KENNEDY, B., VIJAY, A., DEEPANJALI, K., UMESHA, K. & KARUNASAGAR, I. 2005. *Biocontrol of bacterial pathogens in aquaculture with emphasis on phage therapy.*
- KAZIMIERCZAK, J., WÓJCIK, E. A., WITASZEWSKA, J., GUZIŃSKI, A., GÓRECKA, E., STAŃCZYK, M., KACZOREK, E., SIWICKI, A. K. & DASTYCH, J. 2019. Complete genome sequences of *Aeromonas* and

Pseudomonas phages as a supportive tool for development of antibacterial treatment in aquaculture. *Virology journal*, 16, 4.

- KHAIRNAR, K., RAUT, M. P., CHANDEKAR, R. H., SANMUKH, S. G. & PAUNIKAR, W. N. 2013. Novel bacteriophage therapy for controlling metallobeta-lactamase producing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection in Catfish. *BMC veterinary research*, 9, 264.
- KIM, J. H., CHORESCA, C. H., SHIN, S. P., HAN, J. E., JUN, J. W. & PARK, S. 2015. Biological Control of Aeromonas salmonicida subsp. salmonicida Infection in Rainbow Trout (O ncorhynchus mykiss) Using A eromonas Phage PAS-1. Transboundary and emerging diseases, 62, 81-86.
- KIM, J. H., GOMEZ, D. K., NAKAI, T. & PARK, S. C. 2010. Isolation and identification of bacteriophages infecting ayu *Plecoglossus altivelis altivelis* specific *Flavobacterium psychrophilum*. *Veterinary microbiology*, 140, 109-115.
- KING, R. K. 2001. The Presence of Bacterial Pathogens in Recirculating Aquaculture System Biofilms and their Response to Various Sanitizers. Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University.
- KIRON, V. 2012. Fish immune system and its nutritional modulation for preventive health care. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 173, 111-133.
- KITTLER, S., FISCHER, S., ABDULMAWJOOD, A., GLÜNDER, G. & KLEIN, G. 2013. Effect of bacteriophage application on *Campylobacter jejuni* loads in commercial broiler flocks. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 79, 7525-7533.
- KLUMPP, J., FOUTS, D. E. & SOZHAMANNAN, S. 2012. Next generation sequencing technologies and the changing landscape of phage genomics. *Bacteriophage*, 2, 190-199.
- KORTRIGHT, K. E., CHAN, B. K., KOFF, J. L. & TURNER, P. E. 2019. Phage therapy: a renewed approach to combat antibiotic-resistant bacteria. *Cell host & microbe*, 25, 219-232.

- KOWALSKA, J. D., KAZIMIERCZAK, J., SOWIŃSKA, P. M., WÓJCIK, E. A., SIWICKI, A. K. & DASTYCH, J. 2020. Growing trend of fighting infections in aquaculture environment—opportunities and challenges of phage therapy. *Antibiotics*, 9, 301.
- KREUTZ, L., PAVAN, T., ALVES, A., CORREIA, A., BARRIQUEL, B., DOS SANTOS, E. & BARCELLOS, L. 2014. Increased immunoglobulin production in silver catfish (*Rhamdia quelen*) exposed to agrichemicals. *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*, 47, 499-504.
- KREUTZ, L. C., BARCELLOS, L. J. G., DE FARIA VALLE, S., DE OLIVEIRA SILVA, T., ANZILIERO, D., DOS SANTOS, E. D., PIVATO, M. & ZANATTA, R. 2011. Altered hematological and immunological parameters in silver catfish (*Rhamdia quelen*) following short term exposure to sublethal concentration of glyphosate. *Fish & shellfish immunology*, 30, 51-57.
- KROPINSKI, A. M. 2006. Phage therapy–everything old is new again. *The Canadian Journal of Infectious Diseases & Medical Microbiology*, 17, 297.
- KUTATELADZE, M. & ADAMIA, R. 2010. Bacteriophages as potential new therapeutics to replace or supplement antibiotics. *Trends in biotechnology*, 28, 591-595.
- KUTTER, E., & SULAKVELIDZE, A. 2005. *Bacteriophages Biology and Applications,* USA, CRC Press.
- KUTTER, E., DE VOS, D., GVASALIA, G., ALAVIDZE, Z., GOGOKHIA, L., KUHL, S. & ABEDON, S. T. 2010. Phage therapy in clinical practice: treatment of human infections. *Current pharmaceutical biotechnology*, 11, 69-86.
- KUTTER, E., KUHL, S., ALAVIDZE, Z. & BLASDEL, B. 2005. Phage therapy: bacteriophages as natural, self-limiting antibiotics. *Textbook of Natural Medicine*.
- LAFFERTY, K. D., HARVELL, C. D., CONRAD, J. M., FRIEDMAN, C. S., KENT, M. L., KURIS, A. M., POWELL, E. N., RONDEAU, D. & SAKSIDA, S. M. 2015. Infectious diseases affect marine fisheries and aquaculture economics. *Annual review of marine science*, 7, 471-496.

- LE, T. S., NGUYEN, T. H., VO, H. P., DOAN, V. C., NGUYEN, H. L., TRAN, M. T., TRAN, T. T., SOUTHGATE, P. C. & KURTBÖKE, D. İ. 2018. Protective Effects of Bacteriophages against *Aeromonas hydrophila* Causing Motile *Aeromonas* Septicemia (MAS) in Striped Catfish. *Antibiotics*, 7, 16.
- LEE, S. & WENDY, W. 2017. Antibiotic and heavy metal resistance of *Aeromonas hydrophila* and *Edwardsiella tarda* isolated from red hybrid tilapia (*Oreochromis* spp.) coinfected with motile aeromonas septicemia and edwardsiellosis. *Veterinary world*, 10, 803.
- LEHANE, L. & RAWLIN, G. T. 2000. Topically acquired bacterial zoonoses from fish: a review. *The Medical journal of Australia*, 173, 256-259.
- LEUNG, S. S., PARUMASIVAM, T., GAO, F. G., CARTER, E. A., CARRIGY, N. B., VEHRING, R., FINLAY, W. H., MORALES, S., BRITTON, W. J. & KUTTER, E. 2017. Effects of storage conditions on the stability of spray dried, inhalable bacteriophage powders. *International journal of pharmaceutics*, 521, 141-149.
- LEVIN, B. R. & BULL, J. J. 2004. Population and evolutionary dynamics of phage therapy. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 2, 166.
- LI, P., CHEN, B., SONG, Z., SONG, Y., YANG, Y., MA, P., WANG, H., YING, J., REN, P. & YANG, L. 2012. Bioinformatic analysis of the *Acinetobacter baumannii* phage AB1 genome. *Gene*, 507, 125-134.
- LI, Z., ZHANG, J., LI, X., WANG, X., CAO, Z., WANG, L. & XU, Y. 2016. Efficiency of a bacteriophage in controlling vibrio infection in the juvenile sea cucumber *Apostichopus japonicus*. *Aquaculture*, 451, 345-352.
- LIN, L., HONG, W., JI, X., HAN, J., HUANG, L. & WEI, Y. 2010. Isolation and characterization of an extremely long tail *Thermus* bacteriophage from Tengchong hot springs in China. *Journal of basic microbiology*, 50, 452-456.
- ŁOŚ, M. & WĘGRZYN, G. 2012. Pseudolysogeny.
- LU, T. K. & KOERIS, M. S. 2011. The next generation of bacteriophage therapy. *Current* opinion in microbiology, 14, 524-531.
- LY, A., CARRIGY, N. B., WANG, H., HARRISON, M., SAUVAGEAU, D., MARTIN, A. R., VEHRING, R. & FINLAY, W. H. 2019. Atmospheric spray freeze drying of sugar solution with phage D29. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 10, 488.
- MA, Y., PACAN, J. C., WANG, Q., XU, Y., HUANG, X., KORENEVSKY, A. & SABOUR, P. M. 2008. Microencapsulation of bacteriophage Felix O1 into chitosan-alginate microspheres for oral delivery. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 74, 4799-4805.
- MALFERRARI, M., NALEPA, A., VENTUROLI, G., FRANCIA, F., LUBITZ, W., MÖBIUS, K. & SAVITSKY, A. 2014. Structural and dynamical characteristics of trehalose and sucrose matrices at different hydration levels as probed by FTIR and high-field EPR. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 16, 9831-9848.
- MALIK, D. J., SOKOLOV, I. J., VINNER, G. K., MANCUSO, F., CINQUERRUI, S., VLADISAVLJEVIC, G. T., CLOKIE, M. R., GARTON, N. J., STAPLEY, A. G. & KIRPICHNIKOVA, A. 2017. Formulation, stabilisation and encapsulation of bacteriophage for phage therapy. *Advances in colloid and interface science*, 249, 100-133.
- MANN, N. H. 2005. The third age of phage. *PLoS biology*, 3, e182.
- MANOHAR, P. & RAMESH, N. 2019. Improved lyophilization conditions for long-term storage of bacteriophages. *Scientific reports*, 9, 1-10.
- MÄNTYNEN, S., LAANTO, E., SUNDBERG, L.-R., PORANEN, M. M., OKSANEN,
 H. M. & CONSORTIUM, I. R. 2020. ICTV virus taxonomy profile: Finnlakeviridae. *The Journal of General Virology*, 101, 894.
- MARKEY, B., LEONARD, F., ARCHAMBAULT, M., CULLINANE, A., & MAGUIRE, D. 2013. *Clinical Veterinary Microbiology*, UK, Mosby Elsevier.
- MARTÍNEZ-DÍAZ, S. & HIPÓLITO-MORALES, A. 2013. Efficacy of phage therapy to prevent mortality during the vibriosis of brine shrimp. *Aquaculture*, 400, 120-124.

- MARTÍNEZ CRUZ, P., IBÁÑEZ, A. L., MONROY HERMOSILLO, O. A. & RAMÍREZ SAAD, H. C. 2012. Use of probiotics in aquaculture. *ISRN microbiology*, 2012.
- MARTON, H. L., STYLES, K. M., KILBRIDE, P., SAGONA, A. P. & GIBSON, M. I.
 2021. Polymer-Mediated Cryopreservation of Bacteriophages. *Biomacromolecules*, 22, 5281-5289.
- MATEUS, L., COSTA, L., SILVA, Y., PEREIRA, C., CUNHA, A. & ALMEIDA, A. 2014. Efficiency of phage cocktails in the inactivation of *Vibrio* in aquaculture. *Aquaculture*, 424, 167-173.
- MATHEW, A. G., CISSELL, R. & LIAMTHONG, S. 2007. Antibiotic resistance in bacteria associated with food animals: a United States perspective of livestock production. *Foodborne pathogens and disease*, 4, 115-133.
- MATSUURA, Y., TERASHIMA, S., TAKANO, T. & MATSUYAMA, T. 2019. Current status of fish vaccines in Japan. *Fish & shellfish immunology*, 95, 236-247.
- MATSUZAKI, S., RASHEL, M., UCHIYAMA, J., SAKURAI, S., UJIHARA, T., KURODA, M., IKEUCHI, M., TANI, T., FUJIEDA, M. & WAKIGUCHI, H. 2005. Bacteriophage therapy: a revitalized therapy against bacterial infectious diseases. *Journal of infection and chemotherapy*, 11, 211-219.
- MERABISHVILI, M., PIRNAY, J.-P., VERBEKEN, G., CHANISHVILI, N., TEDIASHVILI, M., LASHKHI, N., GLONTI, T., KRYLOV, V., MAST, J. & VAN PARYS, L. 2009. Quality-controlled small-scale production of a welldefined bacteriophage cocktail for use in human clinical trials. *PloS one*, 4, e4944.
- MERABISHVILI, M., VERVAET, C., PIRNAY, J.-P., DE VOS, D., VERBEKEN, G., MAST, J., CHANISHVILI, N. & VANEECHOUTTE, M. 2013. Stability of *Staphylococcus aureus* phage ISP after freeze-drying (lyophilization). *PloS one*, 8, e68797.
- MERINO, S., CAMPRUBI, S. & TOMAS, J. M. 1990a. Isolation and characterization of bacteriophage PM2 from Aeromonas hydrophila. FEMS microbiology letters, 68, 239-244.

- MERINO, S., CAMPRUBI, S. & TOMÁS, J. M. 1990b. Isolation and characterization of bacteriophage PM3 from *Aeromonas hydrophila* the bacterial receptor for which is the monopolar flagellum. *FEMS microbiology letters*, 69, 277-282.
- MERRIL, C. R., BISWAS, B., CARLTON, R., JENSEN, N. C., CREED, G. J., ZULLO, S. & ADHYA, S. 1996. Long-circulating bacteriophage as antibacterial agents. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 93, 3188-3192.
- MEYER, F. P. 1991. Aquaculture disease and health management. *Journal of animal science*, 69, 4201-4208.
- MILLA, S., MATHIEU, C., WANG, N., LAMBERT, S., NADZIALEK, S., MASSART, S., HENROTTE, E., DOUXFILS, J., MÉLARD, C. & MANDIKI, S. 2010. Spleen immune status is affected after acute handling stress but not regulated by cortisol in Eurasian perch, *Perca fluviatilis*. *Fish & shellfish immunology*, 28, 931-941.
- MIRZAEI, M. K. & NILSSON, A. S. 2015. Isolation of phages for phage therapy: a comparison of spot tests and efficiency of plating analyses for determination of host range and efficacy. *PloS one*, 10, e0118557.
- MODI, S. R., LEE, H. H., SPINA, C. S. & COLLINS, J. J. 2013. Antibiotic treatment expands the resistance reservoir and ecological network of the phage metagenome. *Nature*, 499, 219-222.
- MOGHADAM, M. T., KHOSHBAYAN, A., CHEGINI, Z., FARAHANI, I. & SHARIATI, A. 2020. Bacteriophages, a new therapeutic solution for inhibiting multidrug-resistant bacteria causing wound infection: lesson from animal models and clinical trials. *Drug Design, Development and Therapy*, 14, 1867.
- MOHD-ARIS, A., MUHAMAD-SOFIE, M. H. N., ZAMRI-SAAD, M., DAUD, H. M. & INA-SALWANY, M. Y. 2019. Live vaccines against bacterial fish diseases: A review. *Veterinary world*, 12, 1806.
- MONK, A., REES, C., BARROW, P., HAGENS, S. & HARPER, D. 2010. Bacteriophage applications: where are we now? *Letters in applied microbiology*, 51, 363-369.

- MORAES DE SOUZA, C., TANIR, T., ORELLANA, M., ESCALANTE, A. & KOERIS, M. S. 2021. Manufacturing Bacteriophages (Part 2 of 2): Formulation, Analytics and Quality Control Considerations. *Pharmaceuticals*, 14, 895.
- MUNRO, J., OAKEY, J., BROMAGE, E. & OWENS, L. 2003. Experimental bacteriophage-mediated virulence in strains of *Vibrio harveyi*. *Diseases of aquatic organisms*, 54, 187-194.
- MURPHY, F. A., FAUQUET, C. M., BISHOP, D. H. L., GHABRIAL, S. A., JARVIS, A. W., MARTELLI, G. P., MAYO, M. A., & SUMMERS, M. D. 1995. Virus Taxonomy. Classification adn Nomenclature of Viruses, Austria, Springer-Verlag Wien.
- MZULA, A., WAMBURA, P. N., MDEGELA, R. H. & SHIRIMA, G. M. 2019. Current state of modern biotechnological-based *Aeromonas hydrophila* vaccines for aquaculture: a systematic review. *BioMed research international*, 2019.
- NAKAI, T. 2010. Application of bacteriophages for control of infectious diseases in aquaculture. *Bacteriophages in the control of food-and waterborne pathogens*. American Society of Microbiology.
- NAKAI, T. & PARK, S. C. 2002. Bacteriophage therapy of infectious diseases in aquaculture. *Research in microbiology*, 153, 13-18.
- NAKAI, T., SUGIMOTO, R., PARK, K., MATSUOKA, S., MORI, K.-I., NISHIOKA, T.
 & MARUYAMA, K. 1999. Protective effects of bacteriophage on experimental Lactococcus garvieae infection in yellowtail. Diseases of aquatic organisms, 37, 33-41.
- NIETH, A., VERSEUX, C., BARNERT, S., SÜSS, R. & RÖMER, W. 2015. A first step toward liposome-mediated intracellular bacteriophage therapy. *Expert opinion on drug delivery*, 12, 1411-1424.
- NIKOLICH, M. P. & FILIPPOV, A. A. 2020. Bacteriophage therapy: Developments and directions. *Antibiotics*, 9, 135.

- NILSSON, A. S. 2014. Phage therapy—constraints and possibilities. Upsala journal of medical sciences, 119, 192-198.
- NOGA, E. J. 2011. Fish disease: diagnosis and treatment, USA, John Wiley & Sons.
- O'FLYNN, G., ROSS, R. P., FITZGERALD, G. F. & COFFEY, A. 2004. Evaluation of a cocktail of three bacteriophages for biocontrol of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 70, 3417-24.
- OLIVEIRA, J., CASTILHO, F., CUNHA, A. & PEREIRA, M. 2012. Bacteriophage therapy as a bacterial control strategy in aquaculture. *Aquaculture International*, 20, 879-910.
- OLSON, M. R., AXLER, R. P. & HICKS, R. E. 2004. Effects of freezing and storage temperature on MS2 viability. *Journal of virological methods*, 122, 147-152.
- OPIYO, M. A., MARIJANI, E., MUENDO, P., ODEDE, R., LESCHEN, W. & CHARO-KARISA, H. 2018. A review of aquaculture production and health management practices of farmed fish in Kenya. *International journal of veterinary science and medicine*, 6, 141-148.
- ORLOVA, E. V. 2012. Bacteriophages and their structural organisation, InTech.
- ORMALA, A. M. & JALASVUORI, M. 2013. Phage therapy: Should bacterial resistance to phages be a concern, even in the long run? *Bacteriophage*, 3, e24219.
- OZBAY, G., BLANK, G. & THUNJAI, T. 2014. Impacts of Aquaculture on Habitats and Best Management Practices (BMPs).
- PABLOS, M., REMACHA, M.-A., RODRÍGUEZ-CALLEJA, J.-M., SANTOS, J., OTERO, A. & GARCÍA-LÓPEZ, M.-L. 2010. Identity, virulence genes, and clonal relatedness of *Aeromonas* isolates from patients with diarrhea and drinking water. *European journal of clinical microbiology & infectious diseases*, 29, 1163-1172.
- PARK, S. C. & NAKAI, T. 2003. Bacteriophage control of *Pseudomonas plecoglossicida* infection in ayu *Plecoglossus altivelis*. *Diseases of aquatic organisms*, 53, 33-39.

- PARK, S. C., SHIMAMURA, I., FUKUNAGA, M., MORI, K.-I. & NAKAI, T. 2000. Isolation of bacteriophages specific to a fish pathogen, *Pseudomonas plecoglossicida*, as a candidate for disease control. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 66, 1416-1422.
- PARKER, R. 1974. Probiotics, the other half of the antibiotic story. *Anim Nutr Health*, 29, 4-8.
- PASS, D., DYBDAHL, R. & MANNION, M. 1987. Investigations into the causes of mortality of the pearl oyster, *Pinctada maxima* (Jamson), in western Australia. *Aquaculture*, 65, 149-169.
- PAUL, J. H. 2008. Prophages in marine bacteria: dangerous molecular time bombs or the key to survival in the seas? *The ISME journal*, 2, 579-589.
- PENADÉS, J. R., CHEN, J., QUILES-PUCHALT, N., CARPENA, N. & NOVICK, R. P. 2015. Bacteriophage-mediated spread of bacterial virulence genes. *Current* opinion in microbiology, 23, 171-178.
- PEPI, M. & FOCARDI, S. 2021. Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria in Aquaculture and Climate Change: A Challenge for Health in the Mediterranean Area. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18, 5723.
- PEREIRA, C., MOREIRINHA, C., LEWICKA, M., ALMEIDA, P., CLEMENTE, C., CUNHA, Â., DELGADILLO, I., ROMALDE, J. L., NUNES, M. L. & ALMEIDA, A. 2016. Bacteriophages with potential to inactivate Salmonella Typhimurium: Use of single phage suspensions and phage cocktails. Virus research, 220, 179-192.
- PEREIRA, C., SILVA, Y. J., SANTOS, A. L., CUNHA, Â., GOMES, N. & ALMEIDA, A. 2011. Bacteriophages with potential for inactivation of fish pathogenic bacteria: survival, host specificity and effect on bacterial community structure. *Marine drugs*, 9, 2236-2255.
- PÉREZ-SÁNCHEZ, T., RUIZ-ZARZUELA, I., DE BLAS, I. & BALCÁZAR, J. L. 2014. Probiotics in aquaculture: a current assessment. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, 6, 133-146.

- PETROV, V. M., NOLAN, J. M., BERTRAND, C., LEVY, D., DESPLATS, C., KRISCH, H. & KARAM, J. D. 2006. Plasticity of the gene functions for DNA replication in the T4-like phages. *Journal of molecular biology*, 361, 46-68.
- PETROVSKI, S., TILLETT, D. & SEVIOUR, R. J. 2012. Isolation and complete genome sequence of a bacteriophage lysing *Tetrasphaera jenkinsii*, a filamentous bacteria responsible for bulking in activated sludge. *Virus genes*, 45, 380-388.
- PHUMKHACHORN, P. & RATTANACHAIKUNSOPON, P. 2010. Isolation and partial characterization of a bacteriophage infecting the shrimp pathogen *Vibrio harveyi*. *Afr. J. Microbiol. Res,* 4, 1794-1800.
- PIERCE, C. L., REES, J. C., FERNÁNDEZ, F. M. & BARR, J. R. 2011. Detection of *Staphylococcus aureus* using 15N-labeled bacteriophage amplification coupled with matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization-time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *Analytical chemistry*, 83, 2286-2293.
- PIRACHA, Z. Z., SAEED, U., KHURSHID, A. & CHAUDHARY, W. N. 2014. Isolation and partial characterization of virulent phage specific against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Global Journal of Medical Research.*
- PIRISI, A. 2000. Phage therapy—advantages over antibiotics? *The Lancet*, 356, 1418.
- PODLACHA, M., GRABOWSKI, Ł., KOSZNIK-KAWŚNICKA, K., ZDROJEWSKA, K., STASIŁOJĆ, M., WĘGRZYN, G. & WĘGRZYN, A. 2021. Interactions of Bacteriophages with Animal and Human Organisms—Safety Issues in the Light of Phage Therapy. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22, 8937.
- POOBALANE, S., THOMPSON, K. D., ARDÓ, L., VERJAN, N., HAN, H.-J., JENEY, G., HIRONO, I., AOKI, T. & ADAMS, A. 2010. Production and efficacy of an *Aeromonas hydrophila* recombinant S-layer protein vaccine for fish. *Vaccine*, 28, 3540-3547.
- PRATT, R., BARTON, M. & HART, W. S. 2003. Antibiotic resistance in animals. Communicable diseases intelligence quarterly report, 27, S121.

- PUAPERMPOONSIRI, U., FORD, S. & VAN DER WALLE, C. 2010. Stabilization of bacteriophage during freeze drying. *International journal of pharmaceutics*, 389, 168-175.
- PUAPERMPOONSIRI, U., SPENCER, J. & VAN DER WALLE, C. F. 2009. A freezedried formulation of bacteriophage encapsulated in biodegradable microspheres. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 72, 26-33.
- RAI, S., TYAGI, A., KALIA, A., KUMAR, B. N., GARG, P. & SINGH, N. K. 2020. Characterization and genome sequencing of three *Aeromonas hydrophila*-specific phages, CF8, PS1, and PS2. *Archives of virology*, 165, 1675-1678.
- RAMOS-VIVAS, J., SUPERIO, J., GALINDO-VILLEGAS, J. & ACOSTA, F. 2021. Phage therapy as a focused management strategy in aquaculture. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22, 10436.
- RAO, B. M. & LALITHA, K. 2015. Bacteriophages for aquaculture: Are they beneficial or inimical. *Aquaculture*, 437, 146-154.
- RICHARDS, G. P. 2014. Bacteriophage remediation of bacterial pathogens in aquaculture: a review of the technology. *Bacteriophage*, 4, e975540.
- RICHARDS, K. & MALIK, D. J. 2021. Microencapsulation of Bacteriophages Using Membrane Emulsification in Different pH-Triggered Controlled Release Formulations for Oral Administration. *Pharmaceuticals*, 14, 424.
- ROGES, E. M., GONÇALVES, V. D., CARDOSO, M. D., FESTIVO, M. L., SICILIANO, S., BERTO, L. H., PEREIRA, V. L. D. A., RODRIGUES, D. D. P. & AQUINO, M. H. C. D. 2020. Virulence-Associated Genes and Antimicrobial Resistance of *Aeromonas hydrophila* Isolates from Animal, Food, and Human Sources in Brazil. *BioMed Research International*, 2020.
- ROSNER, D. & CLARK, J. 2021. Formulations for bacteriophage therapy and the potential uses of immobilization. *Pharmaceuticals*, 14, 359.
- RYAN, E. M., GORMAN, S. P., DONNELLY, R. F. & GILMORE, B. F. 2011. Recent advances in bacteriophage therapy: how delivery routes, formulation,

concentration and timing influence the success of phage therapy. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, 63, 1253-1264.

- SAAVEDRA, M. J., GUEDES-NOVAIS, S., ALVES, A., REMA, P., TACÃO, M., CORREIA, A. & MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA, A. 2004. Resistance to β-lactam antibiotics in *Aeromonas hydrophila* isolated from rainbow trout (*Onchorhynchus mykiss*). *International Microbiology*, 7, 207-211.
- SAMSYGINA, G. & BONI, E. 1984. Bacteriophages and phage therapy in pediatric practice. *Pediatriia*, 67-70.
- SCARANO, C., PIRAS, F., VIRDIS, S., ZIINO, G., NUVOLONI, R., DALMASSO, A., DE SANTIS, E. & SPANU, C. 2018. Antibiotic resistance of *Aeromonas* ssp. strains isolated from *Sparus aurata* reared in Italian mariculture farms. *International journal of food microbiology*, 284, 91-97.
- SCHWEGMAN, J. J., HARDWICK, L. M. & AKERS, M. J. 2005. Practical formulation and process development of freeze-dried products. *Pharmaceutical development* and technology, 10, 151-173.
- SECOR, P. R. & DANDEKAR, A. A. 2020. More than simple parasites: the sociobiology of bacteriophages and their bacterial hosts. *MBio*, 11, e00041-20.
- SEED, K. D. 2015. Battling phages: How bacteria defend against viral attack. *PLoS pathogens*, 11, e1004847.
- SHAO, Z. J. 2001. Aquaculture pharmaceuticals and biologicals: current perspectives and future possibilities. *Advanced drug delivery reviews*, 50, 229-243.
- SHEN, C.-J., LIU, Y.-J. & LU, C.-P. 2012. Complete genome sequence of *Aeromonas hydrophila* phage CC2. Am Soc Microbiol.
- SHIVU, M. M., RAJEEVA, B. C., GIRISHA, S. K., KARUNASAGAR, I., KROHNE, G. & KARUNASAGAR, I. 2007. Molecular characterization of *Vibrio harveyi* bacteriophages isolated from aquaculture environments along the coast of India. *Environmental microbiology*, 9, 322-331.

- SIEIRO, C., AREAL-HERMIDA, L., PICHARDO-GALLARDO, Á., ALMUIÑA-GONZÁLEZ, R., DE MIGUEL, T., SÁNCHEZ, S., SÁNCHEZ-PÉREZ, Á. & VILLA, T. G. 2020. A hundred years of bacteriophages: Can phages replace antibiotics in agriculture and aquaculture? *Antibiotics*, 9, 493.
- SILVA-ACIARES, F., MORAGA, D., AUFFRET, M., TANGUY, A. & RIQUELME, C. 2013. Transcriptomic and cellular response to bacterial challenge (pathogenic *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*) in farmed juvenile Haliotis rufescens fed with or without probiotic diet. *Journal of invertebrate pathology*, 113, 163-176.
- SILVA, Y. J., COSTA, L., PEREIRA, C., CUNHA, A., CALADO, R., GOMES, N. & ALMEIDA, A. 2014a. Influence of environmental variables in the efficiency of phage therapy in aquaculture. *Microb. Biotechnol*, 7, 401-413.
- SILVA, Y. J., COSTA, L., PEREIRA, C., MATEUS, C., CUNHA, Â., CALADO, R., GOMES, N. C., PARDO, M. A., HERNANDEZ, I. & ALMEIDA, A. 2014b. Phage Therapy as an Approach to Prevent *Vibrio anguillarum* Infections in Fish Larvae Production. *PloS one*, 9, e114197.
- SILVA, Y. J., MOREIRINHA, C., PEREIRA, C., COSTA, L., ROCHA, R. J., CUNHA, Â., GOMES, N. C., CALADO, R. & ALMEIDA, A. 2016. Biological control of *Aeromonas salmonicida* infection in juvenile Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*) with Phage AS-A. *Aquaculture*, 450, 225-233.
- SIME-NGANDO, T. 2014. Environmental bacteriophages: viruses of microbes in aquatic ecosystems. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 5, 355.
- SKURNIK, M. & STRAUCH, E. 2006. Phage therapy: facts and fiction. Int J Med Microbiol, 296, 5-14.
- SMITH, H. W. & HUGGINS, M. 1982. Successful treatment of experimental *Escherichia* coli infections in mice using phage: its general superiority over antibiotics. *Microbiology*, 128, 307-318.
- SMITH, H. W. & HUGGINS, M. 1983. Effectiveness of phages in treating experimental Escherichia coli diarrhoea in calves, piglets and lambs. Journal of general microbiology, 129, 2659-2675.

- SMITH, H. W., HUGGINS, M. B. & SHAW, K. M. 1987. Factors influencing the survival and multiplication of bacteriophages in calves and in their environment. *Microbiology*, 133, 1127-1135.
- SNIESZKO, S. 1974. The effects of environmental stress on outbreaks of infectious diseases of fishes. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 6, 197-208.
- SOLIMAN, W. S., SHAAPAN, R. M., MOHAMED, L. A. & GAYED, S. S. 2019. Recent biocontrol measures for fish bacterial diseases, in particular to probiotics, bio-encapsulated vaccines, and phage therapy. *Open veterinary journal*, 9, 190– 195-190–195.
- SOMMERSET, I., KROSSØY, B., BIERING, E. & FROST, P. 2005. Vaccines for fish in aquaculture. *Expert review of vaccines*, 4, 89-101.
- STENHOLM, A. R., DALSGAARD, I. & MIDDELBOE, M. 2008. Isolation and characterization of bacteriophages infecting the fish pathogen *Flavobacterium psychrophilum*. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 74, 4070-4078.
- STEVENSON, R. & AIRDRIE, D. 1984. Isolation of *Yersinia ruckeri* bacteriophages. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 47, 1201-1205.
- STORMS, Z. J., SMITH, L., SAUVAGEAU, D. & COOPER, D. G. 2012. Modeling bacteriophage attachment using adsorption efficiency. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 64, 22-29.
- SUGUMAR, G., NAKAI, T., HIRATA, Y., MATSUBARA, D. & MUROGA, K. 1998. Vibrio splendidus biovar II as the causative agent of bacillary necrosis of Japanese oyster Crassostrea gigas larvae. Diseases of aquatic organisms, 33, 111-118.
- SULAKVELIDZE, A., ALAVIDZE, Z. & MORRIS, J. G., JR. 2001. Bacteriophage therapy. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 45, 649-59.
- SULAKVELIDZE, A. & MORRIS, J. G. 2001. Bacteriophages as therapeutic agents. Taylor & Francis.
- SUMMERS, W. C. 2001. Bacteriophage therapy. Annual Reviews in Microbiology, 55, 437-451.

- SUTTLE, C. A. 2007. Marine viruses—major players in the global ecosystem. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 5, 801-812.
- SWIFT, S., LYNCH, M. J., FISH, L., KIRKE, D. F., TOMÁS, J. M., STEWART, G. S. & WILLIAMS, P. 1999. Quorum sensing-dependent regulation and blockade of exoprotease production in *Aeromonas hydrophila*. *Infection and immunity*, 67, 5192-5199.
- TABARE, E., GLONTI, T., COCHEZ, C., NGASSAM, C., PIRNAY, J.-P., AMIGHI, K. & GOOLE, J. 2021. A Design of Experiment Approach to Optimize Spray-Dried Powders Containing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa Podoviridae* and *Myoviridae* Bacteriophages. *Viruses*, 13, 1926.
- TALLEDO, M., RIVERA, I. N., LIPP, E. K., NEALE, A., KARAOLIS, D., HUQ, A. & R. COLWELL, R. 2003. Characterization of a *Vibrio cholerae* phage isolated from the coastal water of Peru. *Environmental microbiology*, 5, 350-354.
- TAN, L. T.-H., CHAN, K.-G., LEE, L.-H. & GOH, B.-H. 2016. *Streptomyces* bacteria as potential probiotics in aquaculture. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 7, 79.
- TENOVER, F. C. 2001. Development and spread of bacterial resistance to antimicrobial agents: an overview. *Clinical infectious diseases*, 33, S108-S115.
- THANH, N. C., NAGAYOSHI, Y., FUJINO, Y., IIYAMA, K., FURUYA, N., HIROMASA, Y. & IWAMOTO, T. 2020. Characterization and Genome Structure of Virulent Phage EspM4VN to Control *Enterobacter* sp. M4 Isolated From Plant Soft Rot. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 11, 885.
- TORANZO, A. E., MAGARIÑOS, B. & ROMALDE, J. L. 2005. A review of the main bacterial fish diseases in mariculture systems. *Aquaculture*, 246, 37-61.
- TOVKACH, F., ZHUMINSKA, G. & KUSHKINA, A. 2012. Long-term preservation of unstable bacteriophages of enterobacteria.
- TREVES-BROWN, K. M. 2013. Applied fish pharmacology, Springer Science & Business Media.

- VANDENHEUVEL, D., LAVIGNE, R. & BRÜSSOW, H. 2015. Bacteriophage therapy: advances in formulation strategies and human clinical trials. *Annual review of virology*, 2, 599-618.
- VANDENHEUVEL, D., MEEUS, J., LAVIGNE, R. & VAN DEN MOOTER, G. 2014. Instability of bacteriophages in spray-dried trehalose powders is caused by crystallization of the matrix. *International journal of pharmaceutics*, 472, 202-205.
- VENTURA, M. & GRIZZLE, J. 1988. Lesions associated with natural and experimental infections of Aeromonas hydrophila in channel catfish, Ictalurus punctatus (Rafinesque). Journal of Fish Diseases, 11, 397-407.
- VERNER–JEFFREYS, D. W., ALGOET, M., POND, M. J., VIRDEE, H. K., BAGWELL, N. J. & ROBERTS, E. G. 2007. Furunculosis in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) is not readily controllable by bacteriophage therapy. *Aquaculture*, 270, 475-484.
- VERSCHUERE, L., ROMBAUT, G., SORGELOOS, P. & VERSTRAETE, W. 2000. Probiotic bacteria as biological control agents in aquaculture. *Microbiology and molecular biology reviews*, 64, 655-671.
- VIEIRA, A., SILVA, Y., CUNHA, A., GOMES, N., ACKERMANN, H.-W. & ALMEIDA, A. 2012. Phage therapy to control multidrug-resistant *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa skin infections: in vitro and ex vivo experiments. European journal of clinical microbiology & infectious diseases, 31, 3241-3249.
- VINCENT, A. T., PAQUET, V. E., BERNATCHEZ, A., TREMBLAY, D. M., MOINEAU, S. & CHARETTE, S. J. 2017. Characterization and diversity of phages infecting *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida*. *Scientific reports*, 7, 1-10.
- VINNER, G. K., VLADISAVLJEVIĆ, G. T., CLOKIE, M. R. & MALIK, D. J. 2017. Microencapsulation of *Clostridium difficile* specific bacteriophages using microfluidic glass capillary devices for colon delivery using pH triggered release. *PLoS One*, 12, e0186239.

- VINOD, M. G., SHIVU, M. M., UMESHA, K. R., RAJEEVA, B. C., KROHNE, G., KARUNASAGAR, I. & KARUNASAGAR, I. 2006. Isolation of *Vibrio harveyi* bacteriophage with a potential for biocontrol of luminous vibriosis in hatchery environments. *Aquaculture*, 255, 117-124.
- WANG, G., SHAO, J., WU, M., MENG, Y., GUL, Y., YANG, H. & XIONG, D. 2019. Effect of acute exposure of triazophos on histological structure and apoptosis of the brain and liver of zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 180, 646-655.
- WANG, J.-B., LIN, N.-T., TSENG, Y.-H. & WENG, S.-F. 2016. Genomic characterization of the novel *Aeromonas hydrophila* phage Ahp1 suggests the derivation of a new subgroup from phiKMV-like family. *PloS one*, 11, e0162060.
- WANG, J.-B., YU, M.-S., TSENG, T.-T. & LIN, L.-C. 2021. Molecular Characterization of Ahp2, a Lytic Bacteriophage of *Aeromonas hydrophila*. *Viruses*, 13, 477.
- WANG, P. W., CHU, L. & GUTTMAN, D. S. 2004. Complete sequence and evolutionary genomic analysis of the *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* transposable bacteriophage D3112. *Journal of bacteriology*, 186, 400-410.
- WANG, S.-T., MENG, X.-Z., LI, L.-S., DANG, Y.-F., FANG, Y., SHEN, Y., XU, X.-Y., WANG, R.-Q. & LI, J.-L. 2017. Biological parameters, immune enzymes, and histological alterations in the livers of grass carp infected with *Aeromonas hydrophila*. *Fish & shellfish immunology*, 70, 121-128.
- WANG, W. 2000. Lyophilization and development of solid protein pharmaceuticals. International journal of pharmaceutics, 203, 1-60.
- WANG, Y.-B., LI, J.-R. & LIN, J. 2008. Probiotics in aquaculture: challenges and outlook. *Aquaculture*, 281, 1-4.
- WATTAM, A. R., ABRAHAM, D., DALAY, O., DISZ, T. L., DRISCOLL, T., GABBARD, J. L., GILLESPIE, J. J., GOUGH, R., HIX, D. & KENYON, R. 2014. PATRIC, the bacterial bioinformatics database and analysis resource. *Nucleic acids research*, 42, D581-D591.

- WEINBAUER, M. G. 2004. Ecology of prokaryotic viruses. *FEMS Microbiol Rev*, 28, 127-81.
- WEINBAUER, M. G. & RASSOULZADEGAN, F. 2004. Are viruses driving microbial diversification and diversity? *Environmental microbiology*, 6, 1-11.
- WEINBAUER, M. G. & SUTTLE, C. A. 1999. Lysogeny and prophage induction in coastal and offshore bacterial communities. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 18, 217-225.
- WICK, R. R., JUDD, L. M., GORRIE, C. L. & HOLT, K. E. 2017. Unicycler: resolving bacterial genome assemblies from short and long sequencing reads. *PLoS computational biology*, 13, e1005595.
- WICK, R. R., SCHULTZ, M. B., ZOBEL, J. & HOLT, K. E. 2015. Bandage: interactive visualization of de novo genome assemblies. *Bioinformatics*, 31, 3350-3352.
- WITTEBOLE, X., DE ROOCK, S. & OPAL, S. M. 2014. A historical overview of bacteriophage therapy as an alternative to antibiotics for the treatment of bacterial pathogens. *Virulence*, *5*, 226-235.
- WOMMACK, K. E. & COLWELL, R. R. 2000. Virioplankton: viruses in aquatic ecosystems. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 64, 69-114.
- WU, C.-J., KO, W.-C., LEE, N.-Y., SU, S.-L., LI, C.-W., LI, M.-C., CHEN, Y.-W., SU, Y.-C., SHU, C.-Y. & LIN, Y.-T. 2019. *Aeromonas* isolates from fish and patients in Tainan City, Taiwan: Genotypic and phenotypic characteristics. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 85, e01360-19.
- WU, J.-L., LIN, H.-M., JAN, L., HSU, Y.-L. & CHANG, L.-H. 1981. Biological control of fish bacterial pathogen, *Aeromonas hydrophila*, by bacteriophage AH 1. *Fish Pathology*, 15, 271-276.
- YAN, W., HE, R., TANG, X., TIAN, B., LIU, Y., TONG, Y., TO, K. K. & LEUNG, S.
 S. 2021. The influence of formulation components and environmental humidity on spray-dried phage powders for treatment of respiratory infections caused by *Acinetobacter baumannii*. *Pharmaceutics*, 13, 1162.

- YU, H., ZHANG, Y., LAU, Y., YAO, F., VILCHES, S., MERINO, S., TOMAS, J., HOWARD, S. & LEUNG, K. 2005. Identification and characterization of putative virulence genes and gene clusters in *Aeromonas hydrophila* PPD134/91. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71, 4469-4477.
- YUAN, S., CHEN, L., LIU, Q., ZHOU, Y., YANG, J., DENG, D., LI, H. & MA, Y. 2018. Characterization and genomic analyses of *Aeromonas hydrophila* phages AhSzq-1 and AhSzw-1, isolates representing new species within the T5virus genus. *Archives of virology*, 163, 1985-1988.
- ŻACZEK, M., WEBER-DĄBROWSKA, B. & GÓRSKI, A. 2020. Phages as a cohesive prophylactic and therapeutic approach in aquaculture systems. *Antibiotics*, 9, 564.
- ZDANOWICZ, M., MUDRYK, Z. J. & PERLIŃSKI, P. 2020. Abundance and antibiotic resistance of *Aeromonas* isolated from the water of three carp ponds. *Veterinary research communications*, 44, 9-18.
- ZEPEDA-VELÁZQUEZ, A. P., VEGA-SÁNCHEZ, V., SALGADO-MIRANDA, C. & SORIANO-VARGAS, E. 2015. Histopathological findings in farmed rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) naturally infected with 3 different *Aeromonas* species. *Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research*, 79, 250-254.
- ZHANG, D., XU, D.-H. & SHOEMAKER, C. 2016. Experimental induction of motile *Aeromonas* septicemia in channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*) by waterborne challenge with virulent *Aeromonas hydrophila*. *Aquaculture Reports*, **3**, 18-23.
- ZHANG, Q.-Q., YING, G.-G., PAN, C.-G., LIU, Y.-S. & ZHAO, J.-L. 2015. Comprehensive evaluation of antibiotics emission and fate in the river basins of China: source analysis, multimedia modeling, and linkage to bacterial resistance. *Environmental science & technology*, 49, 6772-6782.
- ZHU, J., RAO, X., TAN, Y., XIONG, K., HU, Z., CHEN, Z., JIN, X., LI, S., CHEN, Y.
 & HU, F. 2010. Identification of lytic bacteriophage MmP1, assigned to a new member of T7-like phages infecting *Morganella morganii*. *Genomics*, 96, 167-172.